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We are part of everyday life for
millions of customers across Europe.
We entertain and connect them
by offering the best content,
technology to put them in control
and best-in-class service delivery.
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Strategic report

Chairman’s statement

2015 has been a transformational year for
Sky With the acquisttion of the businesses
in Germany and Italy, the Company has
moved beyond the boundaries of the

UK and Ireland to create a world-class

pay TV operation

Nick Ferguson, CBE

1 - New office campus Osterley Sky UK 2 - Opening of Sky Academy Skills Studios Livingston Sky UK
3 - Offices Milan Sky ltaha
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Against the backdrop of a fast-moving industry we have brought
together the three leaders in their respective markets positioning
the enlarged group to take advantage of new oppertunities at scale

We see the potential to launch new products and services that
will reach customers in more ways than ever before and create
enhanced value for shareholders

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to take this
opportunity to welcome our colleagues from Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia to the group We lock forward to ait that you can
achieve together as part of a bigger team

To recognise the expanded international scope of the Company, we
have changed our name from British Sky Broadcasting simply to Sky

Throughout, the Company has continued to deliver strong growth
achieving excellent results both operationally and financially

The performance for the year shows good momentum across

the group as more customers choose to join Sky and take more
of our products, for use at home or on the move

The fact that these results have been achweved at a time of such
change for the Company demonstrates the strength and focus

of the management team Itis also proof that the actions taken
in recent years to invest in the quality of the customer expenence
are delivening returns

Reflecting the Company’s excellent performance the Board has
proposed a 3% increase i the dividend to 32 8 pence This is the
11th consecutive year of growth

As a successful and growing business, the enlarged Sky makes
an important economic contribution to the countries in which
It operates it acts as a powerhouse for the creative industries

Strategic report

in Europe supporting 128 000 jobs across its five ternitories and
investing £4 9 bithon in quality news, sports and entertainment
content In addition, it contributes £76 billion to GOP across the
five countries and generates £3 4 billion in tax revenues, of which

a total of £2 3 billion goes to the UK Exchequer (Oxford Economics)

Sky Is also committed to using its position as Europe sleading
entertamment company to make a positive Impact on society
Across the enlarged group, the focus 1s on using the Company’s
strengths in TV, creativity and sport to support young people
and help them to realise their full potential

1 have been privileged in the course of the year to be present at
the launch of two new initiatives for Sky Academy in the UK and
Ireland the Careers Lab in West London and the new Skills Studios
In Scotland Nearly twe years after launching Sky Academy

we're delighted with the progress we're making Our colleagues

In Germany and Italy also have a focus on young people and

we see areal opportunity to share learning across our territories
and to strengthen our engagement with young people in the

next fewyears

Moving onto the business of the Board as announced last year,
Andy Higginson retired from the Board in November after 10 years
the last two of which he held the role of Senior Independent
Director He was succeeded in this role by Martin Gitbert

Furthermore at the conclusion of this year's AGM in Navember
David DeVoe, Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind will step down from
the Board Immediately following the AGM it 1S intended that John
Nallen CFO of 21st Century Fox, will be apponted by the Boardas a
Non-Executive Director As a result of these proposed changes the
number of Board members would reduce from 14 1o 12 On behalf of
the Board | would like to offer my warmest thanks to David DeVoe
Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind for their major contnbution to the
Company over many years All three have been excellent colleagues
Arthur joined the Board in 1991 David In 1994 and Danny in 2008
and each has been a source of sound adwvice throughout We will
miss thern all

On behalf of the Board | would ke to thank all of our shareholders
for their continued support, in particular threugh the completion
of such a significant transaction | would also like to take this
opportunity to thank every one of my colleagues across the
business for their hard work and contribution to what has been
an excellent year for Sky

Nick Ferguson, CBE
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Strategicreport

Our strategy

We create sustainable value by pursuing broad

growth opportunrties across our markets,
achieving competitive advantage through

our core strengths and the way we do business

Our business model

Our strengths:

Growth opportunities

Great content

We invest to deliver the best and broadest range
of content nght across the portfalio of channels
and services we provide to customers, ensuring
we offer something for everyone in the household

Market-leading innovation

We harness new technology in ordes to give
customers the very best viewing experience,
wherever and whenever they want it

A customer focus

We are led by customers and what they want
We have an unnivalled ability to address their
needs thanks to the strength of our brand
the scale of our go-to-market operation,
and our expertise in service delivery

Growing pay TV penetration

We exploit the headroom far pay TV growth across
our markets using the combination of satellite
cable and over-the-top (OTT) services to meet
customers’ needs

Selling more to customers

we focus on broadening out our range of products
and services In order to sell mere to existing customers
and address more of their needs

Scaling adjacent business

We target opportunities in adjacent sectors hke
advertising and international pragramme sales
to grow new revenues

How we create value

Investing for the long term

We invest over the long term because we want to build a business
that is durable This means ensuring that we create the conditions
for sustainable success whilst also delivering results n the

short term

Seeing the bigger picture

We are committed to acting responsibly in all that we do Thats
because we know that to build a business that's successful over
the Yong term, how we go about doing business is as important as
what we do We also focus an making a positive impact on society
We call this seeing the bigger picture

Driving efficiency

We underpin everything that we do with a ngorous focus on
operating efficency By ensuring that we have an efficent and
agile operating model we consistently drive down costs to allow
us to Invest more where customers see greatest value

Investing in people

We Invest in our people because we recognise that therr talent and
commitment are critical to our success We aim to foster a culture
which encourages our people to fulfil therr potential and to strive
for continual iImprovement in all that they do enabling them to
achieve great things together

04 Skyplc
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Group Chief Executive's statement

Sky has had an outstanding year, ending
2015 a very different business compared
to the same time a year ago We have
transformed the scale of opportunity
ahead while at the same time delivering
strong growth as more customers across
our markets join Sky and take more of
our products

Jeremy Darroch

with the successful acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala
Sky today serves 21 million customers across five countries - ltaly,
Germany Austria Ireland and the UK - and 1s Europe's leading
Investor in content

As well as bnnging greater scale the transaction was also about
bullding a great organisation and positioning the business for
the future The three Sky businesses are highly complementary
They share a powerful brand and have a common ethos of
embracing change to provide customers with more choice
better content and a superior TV experience

Sky is already at the forefront of delivering services over broadcast
on demand and mobile TV platforms However, by joining the three
businesses together we are able to share our strengths and
expertise across the group This wilt enable us to serve customers
better and to build a bigger and stronger business cver the longer
term to the benefit of alt shareholders

Expanded opportunity for growth

When we consider the long-term potential for Sky as an
international business, we see six broad areas of opportunity

First we will exploit the substantial headroom for pay TV growth
across our markets With more than 65 milhon households yet

to take pay TV, we will tap into new pockets of demand by
segmenting the market, using the combination of our Sky-branded
satellite and cable TV offering and our OTT streaming services

Second we will use our strengths in cross-selling to bring more
products to our customers across the group Everything we
see tells us that our customers are increasingly loyal to Sky
and have an appetite to take more from us

Third we will continue to grow our adjacent businesses In channel
distnbution, we have more potential partners for our content as
the market opens up Well aiso have an expanded opportunity

Lo grow our programme sales as we scale our content business

Fourth we will raise our ambitions in content even further

By bringing the three Sky s together we have the potential te
operate at greater scale This s about extending our tradiuonal
strengths in areas like sports and movies commissioning more
of our own entertainment programming and being the best
partner for content owners around the world

Fifth we will accelerate innovation to deliver an even detter
experience for customers By combining our product development
activity across the group, we il be able to bnng products to market
faster at greater scale and at reduced cost

Sixth we will build on the strength of our go-to-market operation
and expertise In service delivery to create an orgarnisation that
15 best placed to meet the needs of customers

Nine months after closing the transaction the teams ineach of
the three businesses are working together well and the integration
process is on track Havingdentrfied multiple ways in which the
businesses can best share expertise we have started work on

a clear set of priority workstreams that will ensure we make

the most of the opportunities ahead

Skyplc 05
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Group Chief Executive’s statement

(continued)

Excellent performance across the group

At the same time as implementing the transaction we delivered an
excellent operational and financial perfermance as robust demand
from customers drove strong trading across all of our markets

We closed the financiat year with revenues up 5% to £11 3 billon?
and operating prafit up 18% to £14 billien This was an outstanding
result in a year of such change for the business

The strength of our performance was fuelled by the addition of
almost one milllon new customers over the year This was 45%
more than the prior year and took our customer base past the
21-million mark At the same time we added 4 6 milton new pad-for
products reflecting strong levels of demand across our broad
product offering

2015 also saw us achieve significantly increased customer loyalty
across the group We reduced churn to below 10% in all our markets
as customers responded pasitively to the investments we have
made tn the viewing experience, In areas such as the connected
box platform and our own oniginal drama

Standout performance in UK and Ireland

At the heart of the group results was an outstanding performance
in the UK and Ireland, demonstrating the success of the approach

we have taken to segmenting the market with the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands

Strong customer demand resulted in the highest organic customer
growth for 11 years of 506 000 to take us past the 12-milion
milestone At the same time, we grew pa:d-for products by 3 3 rmllion
thanks to acceterated growth across TV and broadband

We achieved churn of 9 B% on a 12-month rolling basis, an 11-year
low, as growing penetration and usage of connected TV services
increased customer loyalty and overall satisfaction with Sky

We closed the year with more than seven million TV customers
connected an increase of more than one million over the year

1 - England vs New Zealand Investec Test Match at Lord s Sky Sports Sky UK
2 - Fortitude Sky Atfantic All territones 3 - Portrait Artist of the Year Sky Arts Sky UK
4 = MOW TV remote and box 5 - Ita%ian Grand Prix Mugello Sky Sport MoteGP HD Sky Italia

Strong growth 1n Germany and Austna

Sky in Germany and Austria also achieved an excellent year of
growth We added 467000 net new customers over the 12 months
the highest-ever annual customer growth, to take the base

past four milion Pasd-for product growth of almost one million
represented an improvement of more than 50% on the prior

year thanks to strong growth in HD

Churn of 8 6% on a 12-month roling basis was a record low
for a full year as we continued to benefit from the take-up
of two-year contracts

Italy stabilised

In Italy, we held the customer base stable for the first time in three
years, ending the 12-month penod broadly flat year on year with
47 million customers Paid-for product growth was 387000 while
churn hit a low of & 6% on 12-month rolling basis as customers
showed growng loyalty to the business This was a good result

in what remamns a challenging market

1 We have presented the results on an adjusted iike for bke basis for the full 12-month
pernod to 30 June 2015 down to operating profit Comparative figures are translated
ataconstant currency of €131£1

06 Skyple
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Building on our strengths

Sky s success rests on the unique combination of strengths that
we have developed in three core areas the best and broadest range
of content, market-leading mnovation that enhances the viewing
experience, and our focus on the customer through our unnvalled
go-to-market capabihty expertise in service delivery and the
strength of our brand

We made significant progress in each of these areas in 2015

Content

We strengthened the range and quality of our offering on screen
across all our territories in the past 12 months, advancing our ambition
to create a powerhouse for content in Europe

In entertainment, we took another big step forward as we grew our
capability in onginal production While each of our businesses s at a
different stage of development in this area, what s become dear as
we've started to work together i1s our shared vision and our commen
sense of ambition

Crime drama Fortitude and ltalan political drama 1992 became the
first of our home-grown dramas to launch simultaneously across
all five terntories, in January and March respectively

Reaching an audience of 37 millon Fortitude was Sky Atlantic's most
successful original drama to date in the UK It also became the most
successful show for Sky Vision our distribution business with salesto
more than 100 terntores nternationally Meanwhile 1992 premiered
with the biggest-ever audience for an onginal scripted seres in italy

Their success underhnes the potential that we have to operateat a
greater scale with a number of exating drama projects in the pipeline
as part of more than 130 hours of onginal drama now in production
across the group

In sport we completed a senes of important nghts deals to put
Sky In a strong position For the coming year In the UK and Ireland
we achieved a successful outcome to the Premier League's tender
process reinfarang Sky Sports’ pesition as the number one choice
for sports fans with the nghts to 126 live Premier League matches
avery seazon from 2016/17 to 2018/19 As a result, Sky Sports will
bring customers three times as many live matches as any other
broadcaster including the best match picks and the most-watched
slots in the schedule Meanwhile In italy we secured the live

and exclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Senie B for the next
three seasons

Innovation

Sky s strength In nnovation enables us to get the greatest value
from our investment In content, meeting customers growing desire
for the ftexibility to consume content on their own terms bothin
and out of the home It also allows us to distribute our content
more widely, tapping Into new pockets of demand using CTT
technology and creating new revenue aopportunities in areas

like transactional services

Skyplc Q7
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Strategic report

Group Chief Executive’s statement

(continued)

Across our markets, we have continued toinvestin the quality

of the customer experience to make 1t easier for customers to
access and consume our content Sky now has almost nine milion
customers across our markets who have chosen to connect therr
boxes to the internet to open up a whole range of on demand
and catch-up services

Additionally, Sky has also extended its lead as Europe’s biggest
mobile TV provider Close to 10 miion homes across the group

are enabled to watch their favourite programmes on the move

with Sky Go We built on our leadership in mpbile TV in the year
with the agreement of a significant new partnership with Telefénica
in the UK This will enable us to add a range of mobile voice and
data services to our customer offering in 2016 to exploit the
opportunities for growth that we see in the fast-changing

mobile sector

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s opering up brand
new sources of revenue One area where we made real strides in
2015 1s Sky Store In the UK and Ireland where revenues increased
77% with a growing contribution from our Buy & Keep service
taunched a year ago The service regularly ranks number one

or two among digital retailers for new releases, for example
delivering record digital sales for Universal on its best-seling

title, Fifty Shades of Grey We are extited about the opporiunity

to expand in this sector

2015 also saw us make significant progress in the expansion of our
OTT streaming services We see a big opportunity to use OTT wideo
to drive pay TV penetration in a way that s comptementary to our
core satellite and cable businesses In the UK, our popular NOW TV
service continued to butld momentum as our rebranding helped
drive a near trebling in sports pass sales in the year

1 = Paddington Buy & Keep Sky Store Sky UK 2 = Journalist, Sky Sport Sky Italia
3 - Quillan Isadore Sky Academy Sperts Schaotar Sky UK

Building on this success, we ve also launched Sky Online services in
both Germany and Italy in the past 18 months, giving us streaming
products in all our markets Targeted at people who like our content
but want to consume it ina different way these services are just
getting going We see alot of potential to use them as a means

to unlock new headroom for customer growth across Europe

Customers

We know that our strength in content and innovation only matters
because we know how to bring them together in a way that works
best for customers We have built Sky as the leading brand In

our sector with a proven ability to stretch into new parts of the
market to deliver the products and services that best address
customers' needs

In the UK, more than one-third of households believe Sky is the
brand best placed to bnng together ther entertainment and
commurnications needs - far ahead of any cther company And in ltaly
Sky 1s rated as the second-strongest brand sn media and technology
second only to Apple

The strength of our brand combined with the scale and sophistication
of our go-to-market operation enables Sky to provtde the products
that best address customers’ needs It also ensures we support them
with best-in-class customer service

We have continued to raise the bar in the quality of our service in the
past 12 maonths

In the UK and Irefand we have been rolling out our Digital First
programme with the aim of putting our digital channels at the
front line of customer service delivery Our ambition 1s very clear
- for the mayority of customer interactions to be conductedvia
our digital channels We believe the potential is sigrificant we will
grow customer satisfaction to even higher levels while further
reducing operating costs as a percentage of sales Ourintention
15 Lo roll out the programme across Germany and Italy intime

How we do business

Of course the success of Sky 1s based not simply on the results we
deliver over one year but on our sustained performance over time
We know that to build a business that 15 durable for the long term
it 1s not Just what we achieve as a business but how we go about

it that matters This 1s at the heart of our Believe in better ethos,
our commitment to constant improvement in ail that we do

08 Skyplc
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A responsible business

Our ability to provide the best products and services for customers
1s underpinned by a commitment to act responsibly The milions
of customers across Europe that choose Sky for therr home
entertainment and communications have high expectations

of us and it 15 our job to maintan their trust in the decisions

we take day to day This means, for example ensuring we work
hard to keep the information customers share with us safe and
secure, developing easy to use energy-efficient products for
our customers and strengthening our work with suppliers on
our ervironmental and social standards including human nights

[0 For mare about our commitments pages 71-73

Creating a wider impact

As a successful company, we also have the opportunity to use

our position as Europe’s leading entertamment company to make

a positiveimpact on society It's something we know our customers
value and an important part of ensuring our business Is successful
far the long term

Across Sky, we've chosen to focus on supporting young people
We believe passionately that businesses need to step up and
work alongside schools and colleges to help prepare young
people for a successful future Given the power of our brand

1t s an area in which we believe we can make a real difference

Strategic report

Sky Academy in the UK and Ireland uses the power of TV, sport
and creatmty to help young people build skills and experience
with the aim of reaching one milllon young people by 2020

In the autumn, we opened the newest Sky Academy initiative

Sky Academy Careers Lab based on the Sky campus in west
London This gives 16-19 year okis the chance to take part in
practical workplace challenges in order to learn about careers in
media business and technology Since launch in November 2013
231000 young people have partiapated in Sky Academy initiatives

In Italy, our Sky TG24 for Schools initiatve allows secondary scheol
students to see behind the scenes and develop a critical analysis
of the news by making their own TV news programme In the past
12 months, we expanded it from 20 classes in Rome to more than
310 classes nationwide

Meanwhile In Germany we helped over 5,000 young people during
the year through our Sky Foundatien This partners charity projects
to encourage young people particularly those who are disabled or
are from disadvantaged backgrounds, to pursue more active and
healthy hfestyles

People
Of course central to ary high-performing orgarwsation are hard
working people who share a common set of values and a clear sense
of purpose As we bring together three businesses to create a
new Sky, capable of succeeding across five ternitories, we start
from a position of strength Right across the group we are fortunate
to have a talented and dwerse workforce, committed te pulling
together to create a better business for all Our success comes
from their willingness to embrace change and to work together
to achieve continual improvement Iwould like to thank each and
every one of them for the contribution they have made to our
success In the past 12 months

For more about diversity and cur pecple pages 71-72

Outlook

Nine months after completing the transaction, we feel good about
the prospects for the new Sky We are delivering strong levels

of growth across the group as customers respond positively to
our preducts and services Our finanaal performance 1s strong
and overall we are well positioned for the substantial growth
opportunity ahead to the benefit of cur customers our people
and our shareholders

Jeremy Darroch

Skyplc 09
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1-Chelsea FC 2015 Premier League Champians Sky Sports HD Sky UK
Fox Sports HD Sky ltala 2 - itaha s Got Talent, Sky Uno HD Sky Italia

3 - Game of Thrones Sky Atlantic All terntones 4 = 50 Ways to Kili Your
Mammy SkyTHD Sky UK 5 - Morkey Life, Prck TV Sky UX 6 - Newsroom
Sky TG24 HD Sky Itaha 7 - Stella Skyl HD Sky UK 8 = Sky Sport News HD
anchor Birgit Ndssing far Sky Foundation Sky Deutschland
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Our marketplace

Expanded opportunity for growth

Sky has an addressable market
of 98 milhon households across

5 countries

Germany, Austna, ltaly UK
and Ireland

There 1s a significant opportunity
for upsell of additional products with

21 million

customers each taking an average of

2.6 products

per household

UK

Ireland

We have a significant headroom
for growth with

65 million

households in our markets yet
to take pay TV

We are exploiting adjacent market
opportunities that are opening up as
we extend our leadership in content
and innovation For example, the UK
transactional home video market 1s worth

£1.5 billion

(BVA)

Germany

Austria

ltaly
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Our performance

Strategic report

Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue

0s £11,283m

aos £1 0,776m
2013 £10,253m

Description

Adjusted revenue includes revenue
from Subseription Transactional
Wholesale and Syndication
Adverusing and Other revenue

Analysis

Adjusted revenue S a key measure
of how the Group 1s delivering on
its strategy to grow the business
In 2015 revenue grew by 5% with
good growthan poth retal and
commercial operations

Adjusted EBITDA

«s £2,030m

2004 £1,848 m
2o £1 ,883m

Description

Adjusted EBITDA 15 a measure of the
profit generated by the business
excluding Depreciation and Amortisation
costs For the purposes of understanding
the undertying performance of the Group
the measure also excludes temsthat
may distort comparabihty

Analysis

Adjusted EBITDA 15 a key measure of
profitabiity In 2015 adjusted EBITDA
ncreased by 10% on the previous year
as Group revenue increased by 5%
whilst EBIT increased by 18%

- £1400m

2014 £.|,‘| 85m
2013 £1,279 m

Adjusted operating profit

Description

Adjusted operating prafit 1s a measure
af the profit generated by the business
from its revenues and excludes items
that may distort comparability from
year to year

Analysis

Adjusted operatng profit 1s a key measure
of the underlying business performance

In 2015 Adjusted operating profit increased
by 18% on the previous year as the Group
delwered strong revenue growth whilst
controlling costs in the business

Adjusted EPS

w 0.0P

20w 57 1P
200 58 Op

Description

Adjusted basic EPS is the profit after
tax for the year excluding agjustng
items and related tax effects dwiced
by the weighted average number of
eordinary shares

Analysis

Adjusted basic EPS prowvides ameasure
of sharehelder retumn that s comparable
over time Adjusted EPS was lower year
on year due to the dilutive impact

of the share placing last July to fund

the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland

and Sky ltala

T-year CAGR

Total shareholder return

" 5-year CAGR

Description

Total shareholder return (TSR represents.
the change invalue of ashare held fora

12 manth periad to 30 June assuming
that dividends are reinvested to purchase
additional shares at the close price
applicable on the ex dwvidend date

The value of the share 15 based on the
average share price over the thige months
priorto 30 June

Analysis

TSR represants a comparable measure of
shareholder return aver time Sky shares
sutperfarmed the FTSE 100 ndex Sky s TSR
was 19% whilst the FTSE 100 was 0% in the
yearto June 2015

We have presented the results on an adjusted like for like basis for the full 12-menth periad 10 30 June 2015 down to operaung profit. Comparative figures are translated at a constant

currency of €131 £1

Far a reconciliation of statutory to adjusted measures page 144

Sky pic
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Our performance

(continued)

Operational key performance indicators

Retail customers

Description

Acustomer s defined as a subscriber to
one of our TV packages or standalane
home commurcations services

Analysis

A key element of our strategy s to
continue adding new customers

(n 2015 we added a total of 10 million
new customers 45% mare thanthe
prioryear with record growth in
Germany and the highest organic
growthn the UK for Tyears

2 21.0m

201 20 0m
03 19 4m

Total products

- D3.8m

woe 492m
o 44 5m

Description

Total products is defined as the totalof
all paid-for subscription products taken
by our customers across the Sky group
In the UK and Ireland this includes TV
HD Multiscreen SkyGo Extra Broadband
Telephony and Line Rental in ltaly this
includes TV Multrvision Sky Onling and
paying HD In Germany anc Austna this
indudes TV Second Smartcard Premium
HD and Sky Online

Analysis

A key element of our strategy 1s to
encourage new custormers to take multiple
productswhen joining and to sell more
products to existing customers In 2015
we added 4 6 million products taking our
total subscription products to almost

54 milhon

Churn

UK & Ireland Germany & Austria

italy

Descnption

Churn represents the number of

total customers during the year who
terminated their subscriptions net

of former customers who reinstated
their subscnption (within 12 months of
terminating therr onginal subseription)
expressed as a percentage of total
average customers

Analysts

Churnis a geod measure of custamer
loyalty which 1s a key driver of value
for our business $n each market
churn was under 10% which was
significantly lower year on year
tlustrating high customer lavalty

Seeing the bigger picture

Soctal reach

s 140,100

Our full set of Independentty assured key performance
indicators used to measure our sustamnabrlity
performance can be found at sky com/biggerpicture

Description

Qur social reach number represents
the number of young people whao have
participated in our soGal initiatives
acrass the Group

Analysis

In the UK and Ireland we have a target
to reach one million young people by
2020 through Sky Academy In 2015 our
cumulative totalis 2310Q0" For the First
tme in 201415 we have collected data
from our young people Initiatives in
Germany and Italy for an overall sociat
reach This s mace up of 127000 for
Sky Academy in the UK and Irefand

£ 200 for Sky Foundation? in Germany
and 7900 for our 1itiatives in ltaly
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Strategic report

Content

Programming investment

»s £4,886mM

o £4,662mM
2o £ 4,339 m

Descrption

Content Investment ts the amaunt spent
every year bringing the very best content to
our customers. This includes investment in
Sky channels, such as Sy 1in the UK and
Ireland and Sky Una in italy ft alseincludes
investment in partner channels such as the
Discovery Channel or Nationat Geographic.
The amount spent oncantent will ncude the
cost of acquinng the nghts to programmes
rnade by others, or commissicning onginal
programmes oursetves.

Analysis

We grow our content investment every year to
differentiate our proposition and to give our
arstomers mare of the TV they want towatch
Recently weve increased our investment in
secunng nghts tonon-TV products suwchas
Sky Go Sky Go Extra or Sky Online

Programming spend
as % of revenue

ws 43%

200 43%
203 42%

Descnption

Investment in content broadly grows
inline with the rate of revenue growth
over the medium term

Analysis

Holding growth in other operating costs
below the rate of revenue growth frees
up Capaly Lo INvest an INCreasing
propartion of revenues in the content
that matters most {o customers

Innovation

Sky Go customers

= 10.0m

04 8 0mM
21 7 OM

Descnptien
Sy Go customers are those that have
registered to use our mobile TV service

Analysis

Innovation across multiple technologies
enables the Group to expand INto new
argas develop new revenue streams and
benefit from adjacent sectors In 2015
two milkion more customers registered
far Sky Go across all of our markets

Connected customers

' 9.0m

o4 6 8mM
01 33M

Description

Aconnected customer is one that
has connected therr Sky box to the
internet and therefore has access
o Sky 5 on demand senaces such
as CatchUp TV andbox sets

Analysis

In 2015 we connected a further two
milon custemers across the Group
Connected customers have access
te awider range of content and
generally they will watch more pay
TV content, churn less and use more
of our transactional senaces

Carbon intensity

1142 tCO e/Em!

1 Independently assured by Deloitte LLP

2 SkyFoundationis a separate legal entity sts Board is answerable
tothe respective regulatory authorities in Germany

Description

Carbon intensity defined as tonnes of
CO, equivalent (tCO,&) emissions relatve
to revenue, 1s one of the key performance
indicators we use to measure our
enwvircnmental performance Cur total
gross CO,e emissions include all direct
Greenhouse Gas emissions across all

of our terntorias and are 128 §19'tCO,e
for 2G1415

Analysis
In 2014/15 our carbon intensity 1s in ktne
with that reported in previous years
noung that in 2014715 we have reported
across all our terntones We are working
on a set of Group environment targets
for 201516
For CO,efEm temtary breakdown and
progress against our emission targats
pages 71-72
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1 - The Blacklist, Sky Living HD Sky UK 2 - The Affair Sky Atlantic HD Sky UX

3 - The Avengers Sky Movies HD All territories 4 - Jessica Ennis-Hill, Sky Academy
Ambassador Sky UK 5 - England vs Austraha 2014 Autumn Internationals

Rugby Unisa Sky Sports HD Sky UK & - Gemorrah Sky Atlantuc HD All terntones
7 - Qur people 8 - Mayweather vs Pacquiao Boxing, Sky Sports Box Office Sky UK
Sky Select Sky Deutschland '

Sky plc

7

Jioda 8neg

SIUBLIDIRIS [BI3UBUY

UOBULIOJUL IDPIOYIBYS



Annual Report 2015

Strategic report

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth
120m  +506k
Products Net product growth

38.0m +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
Investments In content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Our strategy of segmenting the market using the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer growth in 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost 50% more than the prior

year and took our customer base past the 12-million milestone

At the same time we added 3 3 million new paid-for subscription
products taking us past 38 mithon products This reflects strong
demand across the board with accelerated growth in both TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 110 basis-point reduction in
12-month rolling churn to 9 8% our best performance in 11 years

1 - Alex Crawford Sky News HD Sky UK 2 - Enfield Haunting. Sky Living RD Sky UK

3 - Lewns Hamitton winning at Abu Dhabi to become 2074 Formula One World Champion,

Sky Sports Fi Sky UK, Sky Sport F HD Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaha 4 - Parkinson Masterclass
Sky Arts HD Sky UK § - England vs Canada Women s Rugly Workd Cup Final 2014 Sky Sports, Sky UK
6 - 2014 Ryder Cup Sky Sports Rydar Cup Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia
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Content

Much of our success 1n 2015 can be attributed to an outstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our portfolio making particular progress in our strategy
toincrease the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment, we launched Fortitude \n January our first original
drama to premier simultaneously across all of our territories
Reaching a tetal audience of 3 7 millon in the UK across the series

1t was Sky Atlantic s most successful original drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to air on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolic we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
service as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1,000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commissioned and acquired exclusively for on demand the

new service underlines Sky s long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts will also benefit from new programming produced

in a new Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Qur partnerships with some of the world's leading content
producers continue to pay dividends The fifth senes of HBO
hit Game of Throneswas available to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same tme as the US, with the finale achieving

—_— —arecord audience of 31 milion This makes it the most-watched_— - -

Sky entertainment programme ever in Sky homes

In movies, the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continue to improve the offering for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as custemers chose
from a library of more than 1,000 movies

Stratagic report

In sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across a range of different sports For the second
season running, Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premier
lLeague matches An excrting end to the Fl season delivered live ——
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Flon

Sky Sports Meanwhite the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 17 million for the final In January the biggest-ever
audrence for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key rights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one choice for sports
fans This included a significant win in the Premier League's tender
process In February giving us the nights to 126 live Prermier League
matches a season from 201617 to 2018/19 This s three times as
many live matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks, and the most-watched slots in the schedule

Skyplc 19
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Strategic report

UK & Ireland

(continued)

Innovation

One of our priorties for 2015 was to use our leadership tn innovation
to step change the viewing experience for customers and make it
even easler for them to access our content however and whenever
they want it

In the home we extended our iead as the UK's biggest connected
box platform connecting more than one milion customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven million

With over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater

-choice and flexibility it offers Total on demand downloads- -—— -——
surpassed 15 billion in the year up 60% year on year

Our investment in Sky Box Sets proved particularty popular with

the service, delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We've also expanded our on demand hbrary
elsewhere Including an increase in our dedicated kids' programming
from 700 to 4 000 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
exploit new revenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep, our entry
into the movie purchase sector, helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable custoemers to access theair movie collection from thewr
mobile device This means that customers can buy a movie from
Sky and watch it at home 1n therr sitting rcom or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was Just one development that helped us cement our position
as Europe’s biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed stx million in
the year Meanwhile, Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobile service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and download content
to watch offling, became Sky s fastest-growing product ever

1 = Sky Box Sets Sky UK 2 - Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 - Sky AdSmart, Sky UK
4 = Sky Service app Sky UX'5 - Sky Hub wireless broadband router Sky UK
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2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW TV, helping us to extend our reachinto F

reeview homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to close to 15
millton during the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a
new sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
more than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours perweek Inaddition the growth
in NOW TV 15 not cannibalising the Sky customer base with more
than S0% of all customers having never considered Sky before

signing up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we believe that our capability In service delivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have continued to raise the bar inthis
areain 2015

Our main focus has been on simplifying the customer experience
Central to this s our Digital First programme which we have been
rolling out across the UK and ireland During the course of 2015 we
reduced the number of Inbound calls to our service centres by 1%

as record numbers of customers interacted with us via our service
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at al-time highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satisfaction, with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capability we have developed in service delivery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale in January
we announced plans to add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering In 2016 following the conclusion of a new
partnership with Telefonica UK Building on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership i innovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exating new services that will enable us to exploit
new opportunitres for growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
seriously For example, this year, we took an important next step
to protect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning online filtenng tool Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the defauit setting 1s on' unless customers choose otherwise
We ve contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to highlight their options
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Strateg(c report

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467/k
Products Net product growth

JAIn +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austna, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to rising demand for our products
and services

Qver the 12-month period we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four million

At the same time, patd-for product growth totatled almost one

million, more than 50% higher than the previous year thanksto - _ _

strong growth m HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the pnor year

1 - Star Wars Episade IV Sky Movies Star Wars HD Sky UK Sky Star Wars HD Sky
Deutschland Sky Cinema Star Wars HD Skyltalia 2 - Game of Thrones Tatk Sky Atlantie HD
Sky Deutschland 3 - Sky90 Sky Bundesliga HD 1 Sky Deutschland 4 - Sky Cnhne box and
remote Sky Deutschland § - Buntkicktgut Sky Foundation Sky Deutschland

Content

In entertainment we made iImportant progress towards extending
the range and quality of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move Into onginal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow premiered in March attracting a total of 18 milion views
across the series Flming also started on a police crime thrller
senes, Babylorn Berhin, to air in the coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
customers enjoying more season premieres than ever before from
some of the world's best content producers This included the
fifth series of The Walking Dead and the final series of True Blood

Qur partnership with HBO delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
senes of Game of Thrones on Sky Thrones HD Europe s first channel
dedicated to asingle senes This set a new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austna with 5 4 millton views across the series
Reflecting the growing demand for flexibility of viewing, Game of
Thrones series 5 was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans

of Star Wars when Sky Hits was re-branded Sky Star Wars HD

In December, showing all six Star Wars films around the clock
Thus more than doubled the viewership versus the prioryear,
with more than three million people turing in over the two weeks
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In sport, our Bundesliga coverage delivered a new ratings recard in
2015 with more than sex mihion views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achieved a new record In
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afterncon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusve hve
broadcasting rights for all matches involving German and Austrian
teams in the UEFA Europa League starting from the 2015/16 season
We also broadened our offerning with the nghts to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively live

to Sky subscribers including all German and Austrian national

tearn matches

Innovation

Burlding on the success of our connected TV strategy in the UK,
we started to connect the first German and Austrian satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet in December It's early days but
almost 250 D00 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first s1x months to the end of June opening up access to a much
richer entertainment experience for customers

Strategic report

Qut of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by taunching Sky Go on Android devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content avallable
including the addition of a brand-new lifestyle section with 100
new programmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay light segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Online service Using a
streaming box based on the same technology that has been

so popularin the UK, Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Ticket for those with
either one of these packages This provides customers witha
fiexible, user-friendly and affordable way of accessing Skys
premum content

Customer

We have made progress in building our customer service capability
over the year This has been recognised with a number of awards,
including leader in the entertainment sector in the TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015 competition

The importance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect their family from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

—protection we provide a dedicated KidsZone on Sky Gowhich 1s — -
safe and secure
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italy

Customers Net customer growth
4.7/m _
Products Net product growth

8.6m +387k

Sky in ltaly held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 47 million customers while paid-for products
increased by 387000 to 8 6 mulion thanks to good growth in HD

In common with our other markets, we delivered a significant
reduction in churnin the year The 12-month rolling churn figure was
9 6%, a dechne of more than four percentage points intwo years Asin

~ the UK, much of this improvement can be attributed to'the7isé in the”

connected base and the resultant ncrease in customer satisfaction

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentrate ourselvas from
the competition in (taly by investing on screen to give customers
an increasing range of high quality and distinctive programming

Much of the focus In 2015 went towards building the momentum
we've established in ornginal production Cnime drama Gomorrah

was sold to more than 100 countries and we commissioned a second
series to airin 2016 Meanwhile political senes 1992 became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premiere simultaneously across
all five ternitories 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for

an originai scripted series 1n ltaly at launch in the spring

There's more to jook forward to in the coming year with the
announcement of The Young Pope, a major new co-production
between Sky, HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paclo Sorrenting, the eight-part drama features Jude Law in the
starring role and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence, producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

customers across all Sky terntores i addition to locally
commissioned cantent It will also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere, our general entertammment channel, Sky Uno, built on
its reputation as the exclusive home of mainstream franchises
The latest senies of X Factor Itaha and MasterChef italka delivered

a significant increase In ratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year on year, while the successful launch of ltelia s Got
Talent made it the top-rated entertainment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising our Investment i content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offering on Digital Terrestnal
Television (DTT) In 2015, we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-air joining Cielo, our general entertamnment channel
which grew wiewing 10% year onyear

In sport, we further strengthened our domestic football offering by
securing the exclusive rights to all 472 matches in Serie B football
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualifiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualfiers Addead
to our nights for all Sene A matches, with one-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches, this confirms Sky ltalia as the number one
choice for football fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
offering with the exclusive rights to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby World Cup i 2015

Qn screen, motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Formula 1 grew their ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
on year In a season in which ltalan teams and drivers regained therr
competitiveness

1 -MasterChef Italia Sky Une HD Sky ttala 2 - TG24 for schools Sky ltalia 3 = Juventus vs Roma Serie A
Sky Spart HD Sky Italia 4 - Sky Calcio Shaw Sky Sport HD Sky Itahia 5 - My Sky HD box Sky Itaha
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Innovation

We underlined our position of leadershipininnovation in ltaly with
a series of important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

In the home, we drove a 51% increase i connected boxes to end
the year with more than one-third of all customers connected to
the internet This growing penetration of connected devices fuelled
an explosion in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the prevtous year

Out of the home registered househclds to Sky Go Increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go s particularly valued
by sports fans, attracting an average of more than halfa milion
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom for growth in April wath the launch
of a new IPTV service in partnership with Telecom italia The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our full content ine-up over broadband for
the first time This broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many ltalian households who are unable to install a satellite dish

The partnership with Telecom Italia 1s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Sky Online box In May-The new box 1s based on the same technology
as the NOW TV box in the UK, and Sky Onfine box in Germany, and
enables us to tap into a new segment of the market

Customer

As n our other terntories we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change in order
to provide customers with the best-possible expenence from Sky

We sought to strengthen our retationship with Itahan customers
by increasing the rewards for loyalty From April we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have been with Sky for more than a year
We also sought toincrease customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward programme with a series of new initiatives
and benefits

In order to give parents more control over the type of content their
children watch, we intreduced Parental Control Activated through
aremote device it1s available to all Sky customers in italy

Alongside this, we have continued our focus to improve the quahty
and flexibility of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interactions online We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile
app surpassing 1 5 milhen by year-end
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1= The Blacklist, Sky Living HD Sky UK 2 = The Affair Sky Atlantic HD Sky UK

3 - The Avengers Sky Movies HD All ternizanes & - Jessica Enmis-Hill, Sky Academy
Ambassador Sky UK 5 - Englandvs Austraka, 2014 Autumn internationals,

Rugby Union Sky Sports HD Sky UK 6 = Gomorrah Sky Atlantic HD All territonies
7 = Qur people 8 - Mayweather vs Pacquiao Boxing Sky Sports Box Office Sky UK
Sky Select, Sky Deutschland
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UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth
12.0m 4506k
Products Net product growth

38.0m +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments In content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Our strategy of segmenting the market using the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer growth m 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost 50% more than the pnor
" year and took our customer base past the 12-million milestone

At the same time, we added 2 3 million new paid-for subscription
products, taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board, with accelerated growth inboth TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 110 basis-point reduction in
12-menth roling churn to @ 8%, our best performance in 11 years

1 = Alex Crawford Sky News HD Sky UX 2 - Enfield Haunting, Sky Living HD Sky UK .
3 - Lewts Hamilton winmung at Abu Dhabs to become 2014 Formuta One Werld Champion

Sky Sports F1 Sky UK Sky Sport F1 HD Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha 4 - Parkinson Masterclass

Sky Arts HD Sky UK 5 = England vs Canada Women s Rughy World Cup Final 2014 Sky Sports Sky UK

6 - 2014 Ryder Cup Sky Sports Ryder Cup, Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha
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Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attributed to an outstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our portfolio, making particular progress in our strategy

to increase the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment we launched Fortitude in January, our first original
drama to prerier simultaneously across all of cur territories

Reaching a total audience of 3 7 million in the UK across the senes,
1t was Sky Atlantic’s most successful onginal drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to arr on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
service as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commissioned and acquired exclusively for on demand, the

new service underlines Sky's long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts will also benefit from new programming produced

in a new Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Qur partnerships with some of the world s leading content
producers continue to pay dwvidends The fifth series of HBO
hit Game of Thrones was avaltable to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same time as the US, with the finale achieving

arecord audienceof 31 milion This makes it the most-watched _

Sky entertainment programme ever in Sky homes

In movies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continue to improve the offering for
customers QOverall consumpticn of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downfoads surpassed 500 million as customers chose
from a library of more than 1000 movies

Strategic report

In sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across a range of different sports For the second
season running Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premuer
League matches An exciting end tothe Fl seasondeliverediive_
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Flon

Sky Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audrence of 17 million for the final in January, the biggest-ever
audience for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key rights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one choice for sports
fans This included a significant win in the Premier League’s tender
process in February, giving us the rights to 126 live Premier League
matches a season from 2016/17 to 201819 Thisis three times as
many live matches as any other broadcaster, iIncluding the best
match picks, and the most-watched slots in the schedule
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UK & freland

{contmued)

Inhovation

One of our priorities For 2015 was to use our leadership in innovation
to step change the viewing experience for customers and make it
even easier for them to access our content however and whenever
theywant it

In the home, we extended our lead as the UK s biggest connected
box platform connecting more than one million customers over the
year to take cur connected base past seven miliion

With over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater
_ ..—choice and flexityhity 1t offers Total on demand downloads

surpassed 15 billion in the year, up 60% year on year

Qur investment in Sky Box Sets proved particularly popular with

the service, delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth mest popular
Sky channel in 2015 We ve also expanded our on demand hbrary
elsewhere, Including an increase In our dedicated kids’ programming
from 700 to 4 000 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
exploit new revenue opportunities Sky Stare Buy & Keep our entry
into the movie purchase secter helped drive a 77% increase :n Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable customers to access their movie collection from their
mobile device This means that customers can buy a movie from
Sky and watch 1t at home in their sitting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was Just one development that helped us cement our position
as Europe s biggest motile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed six mill:on in
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobile service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and download content
towatch offline became Sky's fastest-growing product ever

1-5ky Box Sets Sky UK2 - Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 - Sky AdSmart Sky UK
4 - Sky Service app Sky UK § - Sky Hub wireless broadband router Sky UK
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2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW TV helping us to extend our reach into Freeview
homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to close to15 million
duning the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a new
sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
meore than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than cne
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customear watches over five hours per week [n addition, the growth
in NOW TV 1s not cannibahsing the Sky customer base with more
than 90% of all customers having never considered Sky before
sIgning up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we belleve that our capability in service delivery gives us
a compebitive advantage We have continued to raise the bar in this
areain 2015

Our main focus has been on simplifying the customer experience
Central to this 15 our Digital First programme which we have been
rolling out across the UK and Ireland During the course of 2015, we
reduced the number of Inhound calls to our service centres by 11%

as record numbers of customers interacted WIthUs viaour service™

app, through our automated voice service orvia the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-t\me highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satisfaction with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capability we have developed in service delivery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale InJanuary
we announced plans to add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 following the conclusion of a new
partnership with Telefonica UK Buillding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership in iInnovation and customer service, we will
launch a range of exciting new senvices that will enable us to exploit
new opportunities for growth

Our customer-fed approach means we take our responsibilities
senously Farexample this year, we took an important next step
to pretect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning online filtering tool, Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setting 1s on unless customers choose otherwise
We've contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to highlight therr options

Skyplc 21

1odas nfsens

BIUBUIDADD)

SILDWSIRIS [RiDUEUI

UOIRULLIOJUI IPIOYIRYS




Annual Report 2015

Strategw report

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467K
Products Net product growth

/7dm +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austria, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to nsing demand for our preducts
and services

Over the 12-month period we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four milion

At the same time, paid-for product growth totalled almost one
_mitien, more than 50% higher than the previous yearthanks to

Content

In entertamment, we made important progress towards extending
the range and qualty of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move into onginal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow premiered In March, attracting a total of 18 million views
across the series Filming also started on a police crime thriller
series, Babylon Berlin to air in the coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
cusiomers enjoying more season premieres than ever before from
some of the world's best content producers This ncluded the
fifth seres of The Walking Dead and the final series of True Blood

Qur partnership with HBO delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
series of Game of Thrones on Sky Thrones HD Europe s first channel
dedicated to a single senes This set a new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austria with 5 4 million views across the series
Reflecting the growing demand for flexibility of viewing. Game of
Thrones sertes 5 was also the most successful seres to date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans
of Star Warswhen Sky Hits was re-branded Sky Star Wars HD
in December, showing all six Star Wars films around the clock

strong growth in HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the prior year

1 - Star Wars Episode IV Sky Movies StarWars HD Sky UK Sky Star Wars HD Sky
Deutschland SkyCingma Star Wars HD Sky Italia 2 - Game of Thrones Tatk Sky Atlantic HD
Sky Deutschland 3 - SkyS0 Sky Bundeshga HD1 Sky Deutschiand 4 - Sky Online box and
remote Sky Deutschiand § = Buntkicktgut Sky Foundatign Sky Deutschland

This more than doubled the viewershup versus the prior year
with more than three millon people tuning in over the two weeks
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In sport our Bundesliga coverage delivered a new ratings record in
2075 with more than six million views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achieved a new record in
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternoon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile, we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusive live
broadcasting rights for all matches involving German and Austrian
teamns in the UEFA Europa League, starting from the 2015/16 season
We also broadened our offering with the rights to the IHF Handball
World Champienship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively ive

to Sky subscribers incuding all German and Austran nationa!

team matches

Innovation

Building on the success of our connected TV skrategy in the UK,
we started to connect the first German and Austrian satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet i December [t's early days but
almost 250,000 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first six months to the end of June opening up access to a much
richer entertainment expenence for customers

Strategic report

Out of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobrle TV by launching Sky Go on Android devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available,
including the addition of a brand-new Iifestyle sectien with 100
new programmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay light segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Online service Using a
streaming box based on the same technotogy that has been

so popular in the UK Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Ticket far those with
either one of these packages This provides customerswith a
flexible, user-friendly and affordable way of accessing Sky s
premum content

Customer

We have made progress in building our customer service capability
over the year This has been recognised with a number of awards,
including leader in the entertainment sector in the 'TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015 competition

The Importance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect thetr famuily from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

protection, we provide a dedicated KidsZone on Sky Gowhich 1s——
safe and secure
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italy

Customers Net customer growth
Products Net product growth

8.6m +387k

Sky in Italy held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 million customers, while paid-for products
increased by 387000 to 8 6 millon thanks to good growth in HD

In common with our other markets, we delivered a significant
reduction in churn in the year The 12-month rolling churn figure was
9 6% adecine of mare than four percentage ponts intwo years Asin

u
customers across all Sky terntories in addition to locally
commissioned content It will also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere, our general entertatnment channel, Sky Uno, bullt on
Its reputation as the exclusive home of mainstream franchises
The latest senes of X Factor ftalia and MasterChef italia delivered

a significant increase in ratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year on year, while the successful launch of ltala s Got
Talent made It the top-rated entertamnment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising cur investment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offering on Digital Terrestrial
Television (DTT) In 2015, we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-air, joining Ciele our general entertainment channel
which grew viewing 10% year on year

connected base and the resultant increase Iin customer satisfaction

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from
the competitton in Italy by investing on screen to give customers
an increasing range of high quality and distinctive programming

Much of the focus i 2015 went towards buillding the momentum
we've established in onginal production Crime drama Goemorrah

was sold to more than 100 countries and we commissioned a second
seres to ar in 2016 Meanwhile, political senes 1992 became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premiere simultaneously across
all five territories 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for

an onginal scripted senes in Italy at launch in the spnng

There's more to look forward to In the coming year with the
announcement of The Young Pope a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winring
Paolo Sorrenting, the eight-part drama features Jude Law in the
starnng role and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be based in Milan Part of & major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

In sport we further strengthened our domestic football offering oy —

securing the exclusive nights to all 472 matches in Serie 8 football
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualfiers and the 2078 World Cup Qualfiers Added
to cur nghts for all Serte A matches, with one-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches this confirms Sky Italia as the number one
chotce for football fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
offering with the exclusive nghts to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby Woerld Cup in 2015

On screen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Farmuia 1 grew thewr ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
onyear In a season In which [talian teams and drivers regained their
competitiveness

1-MasterChef ltalia Sky Uno HD Sky italia 2 - TG24 for schools Sky itahia 3 - Juventus vs Roma Serig A
Sky Sport HD Sky Itala 4 - Sky Calcio Show Sky Sport HD Sky ttaiia 5 - My Sky HD box Sky Itaha
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Stratagic report

Innovation

We underiined our position of leadership in Infovation n 1taly with
a sertes of Important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

Inthe home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes to end
the year with more than one-third of all customers connected to
the internet This growing penetration of connected devices fuelted
an explosion in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previcus year

Out of the home, registered households to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go 1s particularly valued
by sports fans attracting an average of more than half a milion
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom for growth in April with the launch
of anew IPTV service in partnershp with Telecom Italia The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our full content line-up over broadband for
the first time This broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many ltalian households who are unable to Install a satelite dish

The partnership with Telecom Itala 1s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Sky Online bax in May The new box 1S basad on the same techinology
as the NOW TV box in the UK and Sky Online box in Germany and
enables us to tap into a new segment of the market

Customer

As In our other terntories, we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change tn order
to provide customers with the best-possible expernience from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with Italian customers

by increasing the rewards for loyalty From April we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have been with Sky for more than a year
We also sought to increase customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward programme with a sertes of new initiatives
and benefits

In order to gwe parents more control over the type of content their
children watch, we introduced Parental Control Activated through
aremote device, 1t 1s availlable to all Sky customers in ltaly

Alongside this we have continued our focus to improve the quality
and flexihity of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interactions online We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile
app surpassing 15 million by year-end
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1= New England Patnots 2015 NFL champions
Super Bowl Sky Sports HD Sky UK 2 = True Detective
Sky Atlanuc HD All terntones 3 - Sky Frauenlauf
Sky Foundation Sky Deutschland 4 - Sky Go

All terntones 5 = Stand Up Be Counted,

Election 2015 Sky Mewsiniuative Sky UK

& ~Serena Willams US Open 2014 champion
Sky Sports HD Sky UK 7 = Sky Sports Living for
Sport Awards Sky Academy Sky LK 8 - Sky Ride
Sky UK 9 = Sky Academy Skills Studios Sky UK
10 = A League of Their Own Sky 1 HD Sky UK
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Strategic report

Financial review

We achieved an excellent year of growth
across the group Our Investments in

the viewing experience attracted record
numbers of customers to join Sky and drove
loyalty among existing customers to new
highs with churn under 10% in each market
This operational performance translated
Into strong revenue growth and, alongside
our good cost control, this resulted inan
18% increase In operating profit and over

£1 billion of operating free cash flow We also
propose afurther 3%increase inthe dividend

Andrew Gniffith, Group Chief Financial Officer

Adjusted operating profit

£1.4bn

Dividend

32.8p

Adjusted basic EPS

56.0p

Group financial performance

To provide a more representative analysis of ongoing performance
of the Group all commentary down to the operating profit

leve! for the Group 1s on an adjusted basis as if we had owned
Germany and Italy for the full year from 1 July The financial results
of Germany and Italy are translated into sterling at a constant
currency rate of €131 £)

Unless otherwise stated adjusted figures below are from
continuing operations and on a recurring basis excluding 1)

the mpact of Sky Bet as this i1s presented as a discontinued
operation, it) set-top-box sales to italy which are now an intragroup
transaction, and m) ESPN carriage revenue in the UK and Ireland
from FYi4 comparatives as we no longer retall the channel

Numbaers below the operating profit line for the Group consolidate
Germany and ltaly only for the actual period of ownership from
12 November and are on an adjusted basis

Qur statutory financial reporting consolidates Germany and ttaly
for the period from 12 November 2014 te 30 June 2015 During this
penod Italy contnbuted revenue of £1 297 milhon and operating
profit of £25 million while Germany contributed revenue of

£866 million and an operating loss of £21 million
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Strategic repert
Revenue We delivered good growth in advertising revenues of 4% to
We achieved excellent growth in Group revenues which were up £716 million (2014 £690 million) with Germany delivering excellent
5% to £11,283 million (2034 E£10 776 million) Revenue in Germany growth of 26% through higher sellout rates and increased inventory
was up 9% to £1,377 million (2014 £1262 million) whilst revenue in around Bundesliga Advertising revenues in the UK grew strongly, up
the UK was up 6% to £7820 million (2014 £7368 millon) Revenues 5% due to the benefit of incremental AdSmart revenues combined
In Italy remained resilient at £2,086 milion (2014 £2140 million) with Sky Media increasing their share of net advertising revenue by
despite the tough economic backdrop almost 170 basis points, while advertising revenue was down in ltaly

as we lapped the €27 million benefit of the FIFA Worid Cup revenues

We have delivered strong rates of growth across all of our main
n Q4 last year

revenue streams with good consumer demand for our products
and services helping drive subscription revenue up 5% whilst
transactional revenue was our fastest growing area with revenue
up 22% We also achieved good growth in both advertising

(+4%) and wholesale (+5%) revenues highlighting the strength

of our ability to monetise content

Costs

Total Group costs grew by just 3% well below the rate of revenue
growth, to £9 883 million (2014 £9,591 millicn) as we maintained
tight discipline over our operating cost base while continuing to
invest where our customers see the greatest value

Subscription revenue growth of 5% was underpinned by excellent
customer growth across the group of almost one millien customers
and strong product growth of 4 6 million, with the largest proportion
of revenue growth continuing to be delivered through the UK where
revenues were up over £300 million Alongside this, our best year of
customer growth tn Germany drave a 10% increase in supscription
revenues, whilst in ltaly we held total customers and revenue flat

Programming costs ncreased 5%, in line with revenue growth as we
increased the depth and breadth of our offening We launched the
exclusive [TV Encore channel in the UK 1n June 2014 and expanded
our channel ine-up 1n Germany, as well as having a full-year impact
of the new Sky Atlantic channel 1n Italy We continue to investin

a diverse content portfolio with an enhanced box set offering in
the UK and increased mvestment on Sky onginated content, with

_Transactional revenues increased by 22% to £173 million (2014 successes including Fortitude and 1992 The strong growth in
£142 million) as we benefited from the success of our Buy and Sky Store revenues has driven an increase in our transactional
Keep service which surpassed weekly revenue of £1 million in Q4 programming costs
and NOW TV transactions which totalled almost 15 mithon over

Our network costs tn the UK were up only 3% well below the rate
the past 12 months of home communications revenue growth
Our content-related revenues also performed well Wholesale and
syndication revenues were up 5% to £550 million (2014 £524 million)
largely driven by continued growth in the UK where revenues were
up 19% as success on screen led to more favourable terms for our
channels with wholesale partners Alongside this, revenues were
strong through the distribution of our programming internationally
and the first tune consolidation of Znak&Jones and Love
Productions In ltaly underlying wholesale revenues were broadly
flat year on year {excluding the benefit in the prior year from
Champions League resale revenues), whilst revenues in Germany
were slightly down following the successful migration of former
Deutsche Telekom wholesale customers to a retal relationship

in the prior year

Sales General and Administration costs grew by just 1% as the
higher up-front cost of strong subscriber growth in Germany was
offsat by efficiencies made across the UK and Italy as part of ther
respective operating efficiency programmes
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Financial review

(continued)

Profits and earnings

Operating profit grew strongly up 18% to £1400 rmullion (2014
£1185 millior) as we combined excellent revenue growth with
careful choices within our cost base whilst continuing to invest
In programmuing This has driven a 140 basis point expansion In
our operating margin

The share of joint ventures and associates’ profits was £28 million
(2014 E35 milhion) and net finance costs increased by £91 million
to £200 milion (2014 £109 milllon) due to the interest charge
assocated with an additional £5 4 billion of gross debt that we
issued during the year

The tax charge of £251 million (2014 £237 million} was at an
effective tax rate of 21%

Profit after tax for the year grew by 6% to £945 millien (2014

£892 milion) resulting in adjusted earnings per share of 56 0 pence
(2014 571 pence) after accounting for the higher number of shares
following our issuance in July 2014 Over the year the weighted
average number of shares excluding those held by the Employee
Share Ownership Plan { ESOP") for the settlerment of employee share
awards was 1,680 mulion (2014 1,562 milion) The closing number of
shares excluding the ESOP shares at 30 June 2015 was 1704 million
(2074 1,546 milhiory)

Group cash flow and financial position

Group free cash flow mcreased year on year by 20% to £1,060 milkon
(2074 £885 millon) while net debt increased to £56 056 million (2014 +
E1 212 millton) as a result of the acquisition of Sky Deutschland and

Sky Italia in November 2014 Gross debt as at 30 June 2015 was

£7534 million with cash of £2,478 million The ratio of net debt

to EBITDA at 30 June 2015 was approximately 2 5 times Sky has
aninvestment grade credit rating, being rated BBB by Standard

& Poors and Baa2 by Moody s both with stable outlook

Non-
Cash cash
move- move-  Asat30
As at 1July ments ments June 2015
2014 £m £m £Em £m
Current borrowings n - 483 494
Non-current borrowings 2658 5082 (322y 7418
Barrowings-related dervative
finanoial instruments (80) - (298) (378)
Gross debt 2580 5082 {137) 7534
Cash and cash equivalents (1082) (296) - (1378)
Shart-term deposits (295) (B05) - (1100}
Net debt 1212 393 (137) 5056

Balance Sheet
During the year total assets increased by £8 909 million to

Adjusting items

Statutory profit for the year includes a gain of over £1 bilhon
relating to a £492 million gain on the disposal of avallable-for-sale
Investments, a £299 millon gain on the disposal of our stake in
the National Geographic Channel, and a profit of £600 mullion on
the sale of a controlling stake in Sky Bet This was partially offset
by eperating expenses of £396 million principally comprising the
costs of a corporate effictency and restructuring programme
the costs of a programme to replace agad customer equipment,
advisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala costs of integrating those
businesses in the enlarged Group and the ongoing amortisation
of acquired intangible assets

Statutory profit after tax was £1332 million (2014 £820 million)

Following the sale of a controling stake in Sky Bet on 18 March 2015
the results of Sky Bet are now presented as a discontinued operation
The sale resulted in a profit on disposal of £600 million which 1s
included within profit for the year from discontinued operations

For a reconcilration of statutory to adjusted numbers page 144

£15,358 milhion at 30 June 2015 Non-current assets increased
by £6 923 milhon to £10,799 million, primartly due to an increase
of £3,141 million in goodwill and an increase of £3,274 mithon in
intangible assets largely as a result of the recognition of goodwll
and customer contracts and relationships recognised on the
acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia Current assets
increased by £1,986 milion to £4 559 milhon at 30 June 2015
principally due to a £805 millon increase in short-term deposits
a £461 million increase in current trade and other recevables
and a £301 million increase In inventories Current inventories
and trade and other receivables have increased mainly due to
the impact of the consolidaticn of the inventories and trade
and other recewvables of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala

Total habtlities increased by £6 757 million to £12134 mullion at

30 June 2015 Current liabilities increased by £1,685 milion to
£4,204 million, primarily due to a £1,144 millon increase in trade
and other payables due to the impact of the consolidation of the
trade and other payables of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia and a
£483 milion increase in current borrowings Non-current abihit:es
increased by £5 072 million te £7930 million, principally due to

a £4 760 milion increase in the Group s non-current borrowings
Current and non-current borrowings have increased as a result

of the 1ssue of euro dollar and sterling bonds in the year
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Distnibutions to Shareholders

The Directors’ proposed final dividend of 20 5 pence per share
takes the total dwvidend payable in respect of the financial year
to 32 8 pence per share, an Increase of 3% on last year

The proposed dwvidend continues the track record of shareholders
benefiting from our strong financial performance and represents
the 11th consecutive year-an-year increase in the dividend

The ex-dividend date will be 22 Cctober 2015 and, subject

to shareholder approval at the 2015 Annual General Meeting,
the final dvidend of 20 5 pence will be pard on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the close
of business on 23 October 2015

Post balance sheet events

Purchase of minonty interests in Sky Deutschland

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary
steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% minority
shareholdings in Sky Deutschland The requisite shareholder
resolution was subsequently approved by 99 4% of shareholders
at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Sky Deutschland on

22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minority
shareholdings to be effective in the second quarter of the 2015/16

Strategic report

financial year

For more detad seenote 33 page 130
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group risk register 1s reported formally to the Audit Committee twice

a year and focused risk reporung on selected themes occurs on a quarterly
basis Additional information on the Group s internal control and risk
management processes IS set out in the Corporate Governance Report
and the Audit Commutree Report

Far Corporate Governance report pages 40-50

Detailed contrals and any relevant actton plans are prepared for the Audit
Committee as part of the formal half-yearly reporting process Additionally
we have established a procedure to meniter nisks and any changes thereto
across the Group Any relevant information arising from such monitoring 1s
also reported to the Audit Committee

This section describes the current principal risks and uncertainties facng
the Greup In addition to summansing the material nsks and uncertainties
the table below gives examples of how we mitigate those risks

The Group has a formal nisk management framework embedded within the
business ta support the identification and effective management of risk
across the Group

The dwistons within the Group are each responsible for managing and
reporting risk In accordance with the Group s rnisk management policy and
standards that have been approved by the Audit Comrmuttee The nsks are
then consolidated nto a Group nisk register which provides an overview of
the Group nisk profile taking into account the broader gecgraphical spread
and larger scale of the Group foliowing the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia

Description of nsk

Miugation

Market and competition

The Group operates in a highly competitive environment and faces
competition from a broad range of ergarusations Technological
developments also have the ability to create new forms of quickly
evolving competition

A failure to develop the Group s product proposition in line with
changing market dynamics and expectations could erode the
Group s competitive position

Great Content 15 centfal to SKy's prod UCt proposition and idcréased
competition could impact the Group s ability to acquire content that
our customers want on commergially attractive terms

Economic conditions have been chatlenging in recent years across
the territones in which the Group operates and the future remains
uncertamn A significant economic decline in any of those territories
could impact the Group s ability to continue to attract and retain
customers in that ternitory

The Group continues to make significant Investments in innovation

The Groups product development strategic aim 1s to be at the farefront
af progressve technology

Please see the Innovation section on page 7 of the Group Chief
Executive s Statement for further details of these products

The Group regularly reviews 1ts pnang and packaging structures toensure
that its preduct propesition is appropriately placed withinthe market

The Group works closely with its marketing partners to ensure that the
value of its offering I1s understood and communicated effectively toits
custemers

The Group makes significant investment in the origination of content
as well as in acquisition from across the world

The Group also works to develop and maintain the brand value assocated
with its indnidual channels
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Description of nsk

Mitigation

Regulatory breach and change

The Group 1s subject to regulation primarily under Austrian German
lrish Italan UK and European Urion legislation

The regimes which apply to the Group s business include butare not
iimited to

Broadcasting - as a prowider of audiovisual media services the Group
1s subject to Austnan German Italian and UK licensing regimes under
the apphcable broadcasting and commurnications legeslation These
oblgations include requirements to comply with relevant codes and
directions 1ssued by the relevant regulatory authenties including

for example in the UK Ofcoms Broadcasting Code Code on the
Scheduling of Television Advertising and Cross Promotions Code

Technical services - as a provider of certain technical services
in the UK and Germany Sky UK and Sky Deutschiand are subyect
to regulation in their respective countries, and

.

Telecommunications - Sky UK s subject to the General Conditions
of Entitlement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 (UK)
and the Conditions for the provision of Electronic Communications
Networks and Services under the Commurnications Regulation Act
2002 (Ireland) whichimpose detailed requirements on praviders
of communications networks and services

The Group 1s also subject to generally appheable legislation mcluding

The Group's ability to operate or compete effectively could be adversely
affected by the outcome of Investigations or by the intreduction of new
laws pohces ar regulations changes in the interpretation or application
of exisuing laws policies and regulations, or failure to obtan required
regulatory approvals or icences Please see page 36 of the Regulatory
Matters secuon for further details

The Group manages these risks through active engagementin the
regulatory processes that affect the Group s business

The Group actively seeks to tdentify and meet its regufatory cbligations
and to respond to emerging requirements This indludes for example

-

Broadcasting - complance cantrols and processes are in place in the
Group s content services Interaction with the relevant regulatory
authorities is co-ordinated between the relevant local Comphance
Regulatory and Legal departments

Techrical services - with respect te the provision of certain technical
services in the UK and Germany processes are in place to monitor
third-party broadcaster access to the relevant broadcast platforms
and to ensure that this 1s provided on fair reascnable and
non-disciminatory terms

Telecomrmunications - comphance controls and processes are in
place In the UK and Ireland overseen by the Customer Compliance

but not ignted to, competition (antitrust) anti-bribery consumer Committee, to momtor compliance and performance against the

protection data protection and taxation

The Group 1s currently and may be in the future subyect to proceedings
and/orinvestigation and enquines from regulatory and antitrust
authorities

Please see page 36 of the Regulatory Matters section for further detarls

General Conditions of Entitlement and the Conditions for the provision
aof Electronic Communications Networks and Services

The Group maintains appropriate aversight and reporting, supported
by training to provide assurance that it 1s comphiant with regulatory
requirements

Customer service

A significant part of the Group s business s based on a subscription
model and its future success relies on building long-term relationships
withits customers A failure to meet its customers expectations with
regards to service could negatively impact the Group s brand and
competitive position

The Group strives consistently to exceed its customers expectations
to put 1ts customers first to understand what they want and to be
responsive to what they say

The Group makes significant investments in arder to delver continuous
developrent and improvement to Its customer service capabilities
including investment 10 1ts contact centres across the UK and Ireland
nsourcing of service centres in Germany and implementing ongomg
training and development plans

The Group tracks its customer service performance benchmarks
ITS cUstomer service expenence and strives to be best in class

Technology and business interruption

The products and services that the Group provides to its customers
are rellant on complex technical infrastructure

A failure in the operation of the Group s key systems orinfrastructure
such as the broadcast platform customer management systems

OTT platforms or the telecommunications networks an which the Group
relies could cause a failure of service to our customers and negatively
impact eur brand

The Group makes significant mvestment tn technology infrastructure
to ensure that 1t continues to support the growth of the business and
has a robust selection and monitoning process of third-party providers

The Group 1s commutted to achieve best-in-dlass business contnury
standards and makes sigrificant investments in the resihence and
robustness of i1ts business infrastructure

The Group also organises regular scenano based group-wide business
continuity exercises to ensure ongoing readiness of key staff systems
and sites

Sky plc
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Principal risks and uncertainties

(continued)

Descnptionof nsk

Mitigation

Supply chamn

The Grougp relies on a number of third parties and outsourced supplers
operating across the globe to supportits supply chain

A significant failure within the supply chain could adversely affect
the Groups ability to deliver products and service to its customers

The Group continues to nvest in Its supply chain infrastructure to
support Its business plan commitments

A robust suppher selection pracess s in place with appropriate
ongoing management and monitoring of key partners and suppliers

The Group perfarms regular audits of key suppliers and of their
installations and wherever possible has dual supply capability

Financial

The effective management cf its financial exposures 1s eentral to
preserving the Groups profitability

The Group 15 exposed to financial market nsks and may be impacted
negatwvely by fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates which
create volatility n the Group s results to the extent that they are not
effectively hedged

Any increase in the financial leverage of the Group may imit the
Group s financial flexibihty

The Group may also be affected adversely by hquidity and
counterparty nsks

The Groups finance teams are embedded within the business to provide
support to management and to ensure accurate financial reporting and
tracking of our business performance Reporting on financal performance
15 provided en a monthly basis to senior management and the Board

The Group continually invests i the improvement of its systems and
processes In order to ensure sound financial management and reporting

The Group manages treasury nsk by minimusing risk to capital and
providing approprate protection aganst foreign exchange and interest
rate movements

Cashinvestment is made in inewith the Group s strict treasury policy
which is approved by the Audit Committee and sets imits on deposits
based on counterparty credst ratings No more than 10% of cash deposits
are held with a single bank counterparty with the exception of overmight
depasits which are invested in a spread of AAAf rated hquidity funds

All non-sterling debt 1s swapped at inception to ensure appropriate
currency and interest rate protection 1s in place and trading currency
risk 1s hedged up to five years in advance

The Group manages its tax nsk by ensuning that risks are identified and
understood at an early stage and that effective compliance and reperting
processes are in place

The Group continues to mamntain an open and proactive relatonship
with the regulating tax authonties primardy HM Revenue & Customs
The Group aims to deal with taxation issues wherever possible as they
arise inorder to avoid unnecessary disputes

Security

The Group must protect Its customer and corporate data and the
safety of its people and infrastructure as well as needing to have
in place fraud prevention and detection measures

The Group Is responsible to third-party intellectual property owners
for the secunty of the content that it distributes en vanous platforms
{Sky s own and third-party platforms)

A significant breach of security could impact the Groups ability
to operate and deliver against its business objectives

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and iogical access
controls to encryption or equivalent technologies raising employee
awareness and monitoring of key partners to manage its security rsks

The Group continues to invest In new technological controls and

in improving broader bustness process and works closely with law
enforcement agencies and policy makers in order to protect its
assets and to comply with its contractual obiigations to third parties
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Description of nsk

Mitigation

Projects

The Group invests In and delivers significant capital expenditure
projects i order to continually drive the business forward The level
of the Group's capital expenditure has increased as aresult of the
increased size of the Groups business following completion of the
acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia

The fanlure to deliver key projects effectively and efficiently could
result in significantly increased project costs and impede our ability
to execute our strategic plans

A common project management methodology 1s used to enable the Group
to manage monitor and control its major capiial expenditure projects
and strategic programmes This includes detailed reporting and regular
reviews by semior management as well as cross-functional executive
steering groups for major projects

Thurd-party partrners will where appropriate be engaged to provide
support and expertise Inour large strategic programmes, complex
nitiatrves and for emerging technologies

intellectual property protection

The Group In commen with other service prowiders, relies on intellectual
property and other proprietary nghts including i respect of
programming content, which may not be adequately protected

under current laws or which may be subject to unauthorised use

We mamntam an ongoing programme to support appropriate protections
of our intellectual property and other rights This includes for example
the use of automated cnline monitoring tools the mplementation of
on-screen Imprinting of content together with an active programme

to protect our intellectuat property nghts

People

People at Sky are catical to the Groups abiity to meet the needs
of its customers and achieve its goals as a business

falure to atiract or retain suitable employees across the business
could hmit the Group s abiiity to deliver its business plan commitments

Making Sky a great place towork 15 central to the Group s strategy
The Group champions diversity and develops tatent through a number
of actwittes including the Graduate programme, Development Studio
an apprenticeship scheme and a leadership programme

The Group has well estakhished channels and procedures to recruit and
retainits employees and to ensure that an adeguate number of suitable
employees work within its customer service teams and across all Its

operations

Further details on our people i$ set out in the Employees section of the
Directors Report on pages 71-72

Sky plc
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Below I1s an overview of the ongoing
investigations and reviews of regulatory
and competition matters involving

the Group

European Commission investigation
0On 13 January 2014 the European Commission (the ‘ECT opened a formal
antitrust mvestigation into cress-border provision of pay TV services in the
European Union The EC 15 examining certain provisions relating to territonal
protection In licence agreements between major US film studios (Twentieth
Century Fox Warner Bros Sony Pictures NBCUniversal Paramount and
Disney) and key European pay TV broadcasters (Sky UK Canal Plus, Sky
Itaha Sky Beutschland and DTS operating under the Canal Plus brand in
Spain) On 23 July 2015 the EC adopted a Statement of Obyections (SO )
setting out its prehminary finding that there has been an infringement of
EU Competition law involving Sky UK Sky UK s responding to the concerns
in the SO The EC has not yet reached sts final views and the Group 1s not yet
able to determine the cutcome of the investigation or its financial impact
T howaver shéuld the cutcome be adVerse to Sky UK this mayhave a
significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Group

Wholesale must-offer cbhigations

0On 31 March 2010 Ofcom published sts decision to iImpoese wholesale
must-offer obligations on the Group (the WMO Obligations } for the
channels Sky Sports 1 Sky Sports 2 Sky Sports 1 HD and Sky Sports 2 HD
(the Affected Channels ) The WMOQ Cbhigations require Sky UK amongst
other things to offer the Affected Channels on a wholesa'e basis to third
partigs which satisfy various minimum guahfying criteria

In April 2010 Sky UK apphed to the Competition Appeal Tnbunal (the CAT)
fer a suspension of the implementation of the WMO Obligations On 28
April 2010 the Groups application was resolved by way of an agreed Order
from the President of the CAT (the Crder ) which was subsequently varied
on 23 November 2010 and 12 November 2014 The effect of the Order, as
varied Is that pending the outcome of Sky UK s substantive appeal Sky UK
1s required to offer the Affected Channels to Virgin Media for distribution
via DTT and cable to REAL Digital via DTH and to BT for distribution via
DTT and BT s Internet Protocol Television (IPTV ) platforms Cardinal

and BT YouvView The CAT granted the November 2014 vanation extending
the WMO Obligations to BT's IPTV platforms subject to BT gnvang an
undertaking that it would maintain the self-retailing of 1ts sports channels
{BT Sport 1 BT Sport 2 and ESPN) via Sky s DTH satellite platform untit the
final determination of the matters remitted to the CAT

On 8 August 2012 the CAT handed down its judgment on Sky UK s appeal
against Ofcom s decision to impose the WMO Obligations (the Pay TV
Judgment ) The CAT found that Ofcoms core competitton concern

1s unfounded (Ofcom had found that Sky UK deliberately withheld
wholesale supply of its Premium Channels) and that accordingly

Sky UK s appeal must be allowed

BT appealed the Pay TV Judgment to the Court of Appeal On 17 February
2014 the Court of Appeal allowed BT s appeal finding that Ofcom's dectsion
contamed a further competition concern in relation to Sky UK s rate

card prices and discounts to those prices and that the CAT should have
considered that concern It therefore remitted that Issue to the CAT

for further consideration While the CAT s finding that Ofcom s core
competstion concern was unfounded remains undisturbed the WMO
Obligations (as modified by the Order as varied) continue in force pending
the CAT consideration of the further issue remitted to 1t Asvet thereisno
date set for the hearing of the remitted 1ssue

0On 19 Decernber 2014 Ofcom pubhished a consultation as part of Its review
of the WMO Obligations announced in April 2014 This document represents
the first phase of Ofcom s review the purpose of which 1S to deaide the
extent to which the WMO Obligations remain appropriate or need to be
modified or removed Ofcom Is consulting on its assessment of whether
absent regulation providers of channels which carry key sports content
rmight mit distribution to some pay TV retailers and whether that would
undermine competition At the time of the consultation Ofcomsview was
that it might be appropriate to maintain some form of regulation on Sky UK
in order to ensure fair and effective competition inpay TV and that it would
be unhkely to be appropriate to mpose similar regulation on BT Sky UK

has responded to the consultation On 27 July 2015 Ofcom published a
supplementary consultation which seeks stakeholders views on the extent
to which an insistence by Sky on reciprocal supply of channels contaming
key sports content, as a condition of Sky s supply of its own key sports
channels may be a practice which is prejudicial to fair and effective
competition The closing date for responses to this supplementary
consiultations 21 September 2015 Ofcom plans to set out the condusions—— ——— - —
of Its assessment from both consultations later in 2015 and where
necessary to consult further on any proposed remedies

The Group 1s currently unable to determine whether and to what extent '
the appeals concerning the WMO Obhigations will be successful norisit
able to determine the outcome of Ofcom s review gf the WMOQbhgatlons
It 1s therefore not possible for the Greup to concllde ot the ﬂnaqtual '
impact of the outcome of the appeals or the consultation at this stagey,
However should the outcome of these processes be adverse to the Group
this may have a significant effect an the financial position ar profitability
of the Group

Ofcom Competition Act Investigation

Following receipt of a complaint from BT on 14 June 2013 Ofcom opened an
investigatton into whether Sky UK has abused a dominant position contrary
to Chapter 1 of the Competition Act 1998 and/or Articte 102 of the Treaty

on the Functioning of the EU The complaint alleged that Sky UK was making
wholesale supply of Sky Sports 1and 2 to 8T for its YouView service
conditional on BT wholesaling BT Sports channels to Sky UK for retaill on
Sky UK s satelite platform and that constituted an abuse of dominance

Ofcom s investigation of BT's complaint 1s still open

The Group 1s currently unable to determine the outcome of Ofcoms
investigation orits financial impact however should the outcome be
adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the financial
position or profitability of the Group
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Virgin Media complaint to Ofcom concerning the ‘collective’
selling of ive UK television rights by the Premier League

In September 2014 Ofcom received a complaint from Virgin Medha (VM )
alleging that the arrangements for the collective selling of live UK television
nights by the Premier League ( PL) for matches played by its member clubs
are in breach of competition law On 18 November 2014 Ofcom opened an
investigatton under section 25 of the Campetition Act 1998 into how the

PL sells ive UK audio-visual media rights far PL football matches

Ofcom s investigation 1s continuing The Group 1s currently unable to
determine whether or to what extent VM s complaint will be upheld by
Ofcom and it 1s not possible for the Group to conclude on the financial

impact of the outcome at this stage

Competition law investigation into 2014 Serie A auction

In May 2015 the Italian competition authority the Autorita Garante
della Concorrenza e del Mercato (AGCM ) opened an investigation
Inta the outcome of the June 2014 auction for broadcasting nights

to Sene A footbal! matches for the 2015-2018 seasons The investigation
15 considenng whether the italian foctball league Lega Nazionale
Professionist Serie A 1ts advisor Infront Italy Srl and broadcasters
Sky Itaha Srl Reti Televisive ltaliane S p A and its subsidiary Mediaset
Premium Sp A entered into an anti-competitive agreement in relation
to the award of the nghts The AGCM expects Its investigation to be
completed by 30 April 2016

The Group s currently unabie to determine the outcome of the AGCM s
investigation or its financial impact however should the outcome be

Strategic report

Forward looking statements

This document contasns certain forward looking statements with respect
to our financial condition results of operations and business and our
strategy plans and objectrves

These statements nclude without hmitation those that express forecast,
expectations and projections such as forecasts expectations and
projections with respect to new products and services the potential for
growth of free-to-air and pay television fixed-line telephony broadband
and bandwidth requirements advertising growth DTH and OTT customer
growth Multiscreen On Demand NOW TV Sky Go Sky Go Extra Sky+
Sky*tHD Sky Store, Sky Online Multvision Second Smartcard mobile and
other services churn revenue profitability and margin growth cash flow
generation programming costs subscriber management and supply chain
costs administration costs and other costs marketing expenditure caprtal
expenditure programmes and proposals for returning capital to
shareholders

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such
forward looking statements are reasonable these statements (and all
other forward looking statements contained in this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and ara subject to risks uncertanties
and other factors some of which are beyond our control are difficutt

to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed orimpled or forecast in the forward locking statements
These factors include but are not hmited ta those risks that are
highlighted in this document in the section entitled 'Principal risks and
uncertainties and infermaticn on the significant risks and uncertainties

adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the financiat
position or profitability of the Group

Fyrategic report was approved by the Board and signed on 1ts behailf
oup Chief Executive Officer

assoclated with aurbusinesss described therein
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Nec part of these results constitutes or shall be taken to constitute

an invitation or Inducement to investin the Company or any other
entity and must not be relied upon In any way in connection with any
nvestment deasion All forward locking statements in this document
are based on information known to us on the date herecf Except as
required by law we undertake no obligation pubicly to update or revise
any forward looking statements whether as a result of new information
future events or otherwise
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Board of Directors

Key

Audit Committee
Bigger Picture Committee

Corporate Governance
& Nominations Committae

Remuneratien Committee

Committee Chairman

For more about the Board
skycom/corporate

Nick Ferguson, CBE (66)

Chairman

Appointed Nickwas appainted tothe
Board as a Non-Executive Director in June
2004 and became Chaiman in April 2012
He has previously served as Deputy
Charman and Senior independent
Non-Executne Director

Skills and experience Nick bnngs
extenswe leadership expenence from the
private equity and Investmeant sectors
He was co-founder and instrumental in
the develapment of Schroder Ventures
{the private equity groupwhich later
became Permira) of which he served as
Chairman from 1984 to 2001 He later
served as Chairman of SVG Capital plc

a public quoted private equity group
from April 2005 to November 2012

He has along-standing interestin the
arts and philanthropy and served as
Chairman of the Courtauld Institute of
Art for 10 years before retinng 1n July 2012
External Appointments Nick s Charrman
of Alta Adwisers Limited an investment
adwvisory firm a position he has held
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Jeremy Darroch (53)

Group Chief Executive Officer
Appointed Jeremy joned Sky as Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director

1N 2004 and was appainted to his current
rale in December 2007 In November 2014
Jeremy was appointed Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of Sky Deutschland AG
Skills and expenence Jeremy has
extensive experience N the retaling
and fast-moving consumer goads
sectors Prior tojoining Sky Jeremy

was Group Finance Directer of DSG
International ple, formerly Dixons Group
plc He has also spent 12 years at Procter
&Gamblen avanety of roles nthe

UK and Europe Jeremy s aformer
Non-Executive Director and Chairman
of the Audit Committee of Marks and
Spencer Groug pic from 2006 te 2013
External Appointments. (n February
2014 Jeremy was appointed
Non-Executie Director of Burberry
Group plc and serves as a member

of the Audit, Remuneration and
Neminations Committess Heisa

Andrew Griffith 44

Group Chief Financial Officer
Appainted Andrew joined Sky 1999
and held a number of serior finance

roles prior to his appontment as Chief
Financial Officer and Executive Director

11 Aprl 2008 InNovernber 2014 Andrew
was appointed as a member of the
Supervisory Board of Sky Deutschland AG
Skilts and experience- Prior to joining Sky
Andrew was at Rothschild the investment
banking organisation where he prowided
financial and strategic acvice to corporate
clients in the technology media and
telecommunications sector Heisa
qualified Chartered Accountant and

has a Bachelor of Law degree from
Neottingham Unrversity

External Appontments inMarch 2034
Andrew was appointed Senor
Independent Non-Executive Director of
Just Eat plcwhere he also holds positions
asChairman of the Audit Commitiee

and member of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committees He s amember
of the 100 Group of Finanice Directors and

since January 2007 Hg i§alsc Chairman
and Founder of the Kilfinan Group which
offers mentonng by Charrmen and CEOs.
to Heads of Chanties Mick is a Fellow of
Winchester College

Business Member of the National
Centre for Universities and Business

Advisory Board of the Uxtord University
Centre for Business Taxation

Chase Carey (51)

Non-Executive Director

Appointed January 2013

Skills and expenence Chase has
extensive knowledge and expenence

of the international mediaand pay TV
sectors He s former President and

Chief Executive Officer of DirecTV

where he ted the oparations and strategic
drrection of the DirecTV Group Prior
to)oining DirecTV Chase was Co-Chief
Operating Officer of News Corporation
{subsequenth renamed 21st Century Fox)
and Chanrrnan and Chief Executive
Officer of the Fox Television Group

Untid November 2014 heserved as a
member of the Supervisory Board

of Sky Deutschland AG

External Appointments Chase was the
former President, Chief Operating Officer
ana Deputy Chairman of 21st Century
Fox from 2009 to 2015 In June 2015
Chase was appointed as the Executive
WVice Chairman of 21st Century Fox and wall
serven this role through to June 2016

Tracy Clarke (48)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed June 2012

Skills and experience Tacybnngsa

wide range of operaticnal expenence

and oversight for corporate affairs brand
and marketing media relations human
resources legal and comphiance matters
in her role at Standard Chartered Bank.
She has served as a Non-Executive
Drrector of Standard Chartered First Bank
In Korea from 2005 to 2007 and
Non-Executive Director of Eaga plc

from 2007 to 2011 where she chaired

the Remuneration Committee

External Appomtments Tracyis a
member of the Executive Management
Groupand s Director Fer Complance
People and Communications at Standard
Chartered Bank Shes atrusteeof
WORKing for YOUth a chanty working
with business to create job opportunities
for young people Tracys amember of
the Institute of Financial Services and
aFellow of the Chartered Institute

of Persennel and Devalopment

Dawvid F DeVoe (69)

Non-Executive Director

Appointed December 1394

Skills and expenence David brings
awealth of executive and finance
expenence from the media sector

He served as Chief Finanaial Officer

of News Corporation (subsequently
renamed 21st CenturyFox)forover
20yearsand dunngthat tmewas
appointedSenior Executive Vice President
untilhestepped down fromboth roles
InJune2013

External Appointments David s Semor
Adusor to the Board and Director

of 21st Century Fox Heis alsoa

farmer director of Gemstar TV Guide
Internationaline serving from 2001 to
2008 and CirecTV from 2003 to 2008
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Martin Gilbert (60)

Semor Independent

Non-Executive Director

Appanted November 201

Sklts and experience Martin has been
nvolved i the investment management
industry since 1982 and has extensive
investment, finance and executive
leadership expenence through his role

as co-founder and Chief Executive Officer
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC He
has served as Chawrrnan of FirstGroup ple,
Chaucer PLC and was Non-Executive
Director of Dynmark International Linmited
a mobile messaging and data applications
services provider

External Appointments In additien
tohis role as Chief Executive Officer

of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
Martin 15 2@ member of the Scotuish
Government 5 Financial Services
Advisory Board

Adine Grate (54)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed July 2013

Skills and expenence Adine brings
awealth of executive finance and
rvestment management and
communications technology experence
having operated at the top tiers of
Nordic-based international business
for the past two decades Formerly
Executive Vice President and Managing
Director of Invastor AB cwner of a
number of Nordic-based international
companies

External Appointments Adineisa
Chairperson of NASDAQ OMX Swedish
Listing Committee and Vice Chairperson
of AP7 a Swedish pension and savings
asset management company Sheis

Director of Three (Scandinavia) a mobile

telecommunications and broadband
operator SOBIAB an intematienal
specality healthcare company Sampo
OY aleading financial and insurance
nstitution and Swedavia AB an airport

operator. Adine 1s alsq Chaicpersanof.

Dave Lewis (50)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appomted November 2012

Skills and expenence Dave s an
expenenced executive with strong
operational expertise He 1s Chief
Executive Officer of Tesco plc and pnor
to that he was President Personal Care
for Unilever plc where he sat anthe
Unilever Leadership Executive He has
held avariety of leadership reles at
Unilever n Europe South America

and Asiaincluding President for the
Americas and Chairman of Urilever

UK and Ireland

External Appointments Dave was
appeinted as Chief Executive Officer
of Tesce plcin September 2014

James Murdoch 42y
Non-Executive Director

Appointed February 2003

Skills and expenence James brings
significant media sector knowledge
and expenence through hus role at
st Century Fox He was formerly the
Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Oirector of Sky from 2003 to 2007 and
he acted as Charman from 2007 to
2012 james was Charman and Chuef
Executive Officer of Star Group Limited
and held Nen-Executive Director roles
at GlaxoSmithKline ple from 2009 to
2012 and Sotheby s from 2010 to 2012
Heis amember{and former Chairman)
ofthaSupervisory Board of Sky
Deutschland AG

External Appointments James was
appainted as Chief Executive Officer
at 21st Century Fox in June 2015

He also serves as amember of the
Board of News Corporation and 15

a Non-Executive Director of Yankee
Global Enterprises Vice Media and

a member of the Board of Trustees
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nen-profit orgamsations Friends of
a Design museum and the Swedish
Dance Museum

of the Harvard Lampoon and the
Ghetto Film School

Matthieu Pigasse (47}
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed November 201

Skills and expenence Matthieu brings
significant knowledge of the European
media sector and finance expertise to
the Board Heis the Global Head for
Mergers and Acuisiions and the Global
Head for Soveraign Advisory for Lazard
alsa Chief Executive Officer of Lazard
In France in Europe He has also served
as cvilian administrator of the French
Mimnstry of Economy and Finance
External Appointments. In addition

ta his role at Lazard Matthieu hasa
number of persanal interests inmedia
and publshing, notably Le Monde and
the Huffingten Post (France). Heisa
Board member of Group Lucien Barriére
SAS an operator of luxury hotels and
restaurants Denchebouwyg arecycding
and mantenance serves business

Danny Rimer 44)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed Apnl 2008

Skills and expenence Danny brings
significant International Investment
and finance experience He has
extensive knowledge of internet
infrastructure software and services
technolagy communications and
e-commerce businesses through

his role as General Partner of the
venture capital firm Index Venturas
Management LLP (Index Ventures)
Prior te jciming Index Ventures

he was a Generai Partner of

The Barksdate Group

External Appointments Danny serves
onanumber of boards including First
Dibs Inc, Fipboard Inc Nasty Gal Inc
RightScale Inc Viagogo Farfetchcom
Limtted, Good Eggs and Patrecn

He resigned from Groupo Xango
Technologies n Apnl 2011 and Etsy inc
In March 2015

Arthur Siskind (76)

Non-Executive Director

Appointed November 1851

Skillsand expertence Arthur brings

over 30 years expenence gained through
executve and legal counsel roles at.

News Corporation (subsequently
renamed 21st Century Fox) Heis a

highly expenenced legal practiboner

and member of the Bar of the State

of New Yorksince 1562

External Appointments Arthuris Senior
Advisor to the Chairrman of 21st Century
Fox from January 2005 to December 2014
and he has served as Director Ementus
from October 2012 to November 2014

Andy Sukawaty (60)
independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed June 2013

Skifls and Experience Withover 30years
of telecommunkcations media technology
expenence Andy brings strong sndustry
knowledge tothe Board He has led
comparies in the mobile phone, Cable TV
and satellite ndustries inthe Us and
Europe and serves as Non-Executive
Chairman of Inmarsat plc, global mobile
satellite communications provider
External Appointments. in addition

to hus role as Non-Executive Chairman

of Inmarsat plc Andyis Executive In
Residence for Warburg Pincus and

has previously held a number of
seriormanagement posiionsin the
telecommunications industry ncluding
Chairman of Ziggo NV, a Dutch calie TV
and CoMMUNICatIoNs COMPAny resigning,
n December 2014 He has also previously
served as Chief Executive Officer and
Presigent of Spnnt PCS aNYSE bsted
global national wireless carner
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Corporate governance report

Charman’s overview

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to introduce this year s
corparate governance report

As a Board we are the stewards of the Company It 1s our respansibility
to ensure that the Company s strategy 1s aligned to the interests of

our investors and takes account of the interests of all the Company s
stakeholders Asindividuals we believe that effective corporate
governance Is based on honesty integnty and transparency and can
only be fully realised within an environment of open robust and effective
debate This I1s the Board culture we foster at Sky and 1t 1s my personal
responsibiity as Chairman to ensure that we continue to live this culture
and promote it within cur business

| am pleased to repert that your Company complied «n full with the UK
Cerporate Gevernance Code { the Code ) as revisedin September 2012
during the year under review We are also reviewing the changes to the Code
which were introduced in October 2014, which apply to the Company from
1July 2015

It has been a transformational year for the Company following the
acquisitions of the Sky businesses in Germany and [taly Much of

Compliance with the Code

The Code provides the standard for corperate governance in the UK
The Financtal Conduct Acthority requires histed companies to disclose
whether they have complied with the provisions of the Code throughout
the financial year

The Board considers that the Company has fully complied with the
provisions and apphed the main principles of the Code for the whole

of the year ended 30 June 2015 This section of the Annual Report along
with the Directors remuneration report on pages 51to 69 the Directors
report and other statutory disclosures on pages 70 to 77 provide details
of how the Company has applied the man principles

Leadership

Role of the Board and 1ts Members

The Board has collective responsibility for the management direction and
performance of the Company and provides leadership within a framework
of prudent ang effective contrels which enables nisk to be appropriately
assessed and managed The Board sets the strategic direction ensunng
that the necassary resources are in place for the Company to meet 1ts
objectives and deliver sustainable performance

The Board takes along-term outlook and sees itself as respansible to
awide range of stakeholders whilst pursuing its cbjectives ina manner
consistent with its statutory duties for the benefit of the Company s
members as a whole !

The Cirectors of the Board are selected on the critena of proven skill

the Board s activity has been around ensuring that the acquisitions
successfully completed and positioned the business for the next
stagen its development

This year we undertook an internal Board evaluation and | met with

ali the Directors and discussed a range of topics The feedback from

the evaluation confirmed that the Board and each of its Committees
continue to operate effectively and that each Director continues to

make an effective contribution and retains a strong commitment to

their rale The resulting findings of the evaluation are discussed on page 49

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
information in the Annual Report s fair balanced and understandable
Further detail of these arrangements can be found on page 47 As aresult
of this the Board considers the Annual Report, taken as awhole 1s farr
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shargholders to assess the Company s performance business model
and strategy

During the year we have continued our work In prometing greater and more
effective engagement with our sharehclders | along with the Executive
Directors meet our investors and analysts and discuss awide range of
topics Tracy Clarke Charrman of the Remuneration Committee has also
engaged with sharehelders on remuneration issues and will continue

to do so over the course of the coming financial year

Nick Ferguson CBE
Chairman

and experience which directly benefits the operation of the Board as
the custodian of the business A full mography of each Board member
15 provided on pages 38 and 39

Roles and responsibilities

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have been so since the Company s shares were admitted to listing

in 1994 Theroles and expectations of each Director are clearly defined
and recorded within their letters of appointment or service contracts
The rofes and responsibilities of the Board members are explained below

The Chairman

Nick Ferguson is responstble for leadershep of the Board ensuring its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and setting its agenda The Charrman
ts responsible for creating an environment for open robust and effective
debate This includes ensuring via the Company Secretary that the
Directors receive accurate timely and clear information

The Group Chief Executive Officer (Group CEO)

Jeremy Darroch 1s responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operaticn of the Company advancing long-term
shareholder value supported by the management team He s also
nvolved In the management of the social and environmental
responsibilities of the Company

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director (SID )

The role of the SID 1s currently carred out by Martin Gibert who succeeded
Andy Higginson on 21 Nevember 2014 Martin (s respensible for providing
support to the Chairman and provides an additicnal peint of contact

for shareholders

and abilityin their particular fieid of endeavour andadiversity of cutlook™
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Mon-Executive Directors

Chase Carey Tracy Clarke David DeVoe Martin Giibert Adine Grate

Dave Lewis James Murdoch Matthieu Pigasse Danny Rimer Arthur
Siskind and Andy Sukawaty collectively are responsibie for constructively
challenging the Executive Directors and averseermg the delivery of

the Company s strategy within the risk and cantrol framework

Company Secretary
Chris Taylor s responsible for the following in respect of effective
Board operation

+ To ensure good information flows within the Board and its Committees
between senior management and Non-Executrve Directors

To faciitate Director incuction and assisting with professional
development

To adwise the Board through the Chairman of all corporate governance
obligations and developments in best practice and

+ Toberesponsible for communicating with shareholders as appropriate

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who advises on carporate governance matters Board procedures
and other relevant rules and regulations In addititon Directors have the
right to seek Independent professional adwvice at the Company s expense

Environment suppertive of challenge
The effective operation of the Board s dependent on the inherent
checks and balances within the various Board roles As tughly qualified

Annual Report 2015

Governance

Board and Committee framework

The Audit Committee has responsibility for oversight of corporate
reporting, risk management and the Company s relationship with sts

and successfil individualsin their respective fields of endeavodr

all Non-Executive Directors influence debate and cantribute to decisions
relating to the strategy of the Company its performance and its mpact
an stakeholders The Non-Executive Directors are evaluated and judged
an the quality and content of their contributions to Board debate and
are expected to offer alternative viewpoints and challenge perceptions
and decisions as appropriate

Board Agenda

in additson to its reserved and standing matters dunng the year
the Board also considered and received a number of updates and
presentaticns giving Directors a further cpportunity to explore
and analyse topics such as

« The Groups operations and five-year financial plans
+ The general market and econormic outlook
The competitive landscape opportunities and market trends
« Growth of existing business activities and
= Existing and new products services and technological developments

To maintain an appropriate level of control aver the day-to-day affairs
of the Company the Board has dentified certan matters thatonlyst
can approve and these matters are contained within the Company s
Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board which can be found at
sky com/corparate

Board delegation

The Board has delegated specific responsioilities to Board comnuttees
notably the Audit Remuneration Corporate Governance & Nominations
and the Bigger Picture Committees Each Committee s terms of reference
can be found on the Company s corporate website sky com/corporate/
about-skyfcorpeorate-governance

yiodaa n8ajens
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audktor Sigrficantrisksto the busmess are keptunder reviewand
appropriate matenal controls are sanctioned and employed as appropriate
The Company s principal rsks and exampies of how we mitigate those risks
are detailed on pages 32 to 35 For further details the Audit Committee
Report ¢can be found on pages 45 1o 48

The Remuneration Committee s responsible for setting the Remuneration
paolicy for the Board and ensures that no Director 1s Involved in decisions
affecting their own remuneration The Directors remuneration report can
be found on pages 51to 69

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee 1s responsible for
oversight of the structure size composition and successton planning
of the Board and its Committees and overall compliance with corporate
governance standards The Report of the Corporate Governance

& Nominations Committee can be found on pages 48 and 49

The Bigger Picture Committee has respansibility for oversight of the social
environmental and ethical impacts of the Company s activities The report
of the Bigger Picture Committee can be found on page 50

The minutes of Committee meetings are made avarlable to all Board
Directors on a timety basis At each Board meeting the Chairman of each
Committee provides the Board weth a brief update of the work currently
being carried out by the Committee they chair Other sub-committees and
steering groups provide additional resource and suppert to the Board
Committzes or are formed for specific tasks A Committee of senior
management generally meets on a weekly basis to allow prompt discussion
of relevant business issues The Committee compnses the Group CEQ
Greup Chief Financial Officer ( Group CFO ) and other senior executsves
from within the Group
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Board and Committee attendance

Attendance at Board and Committee mestings during the year 1s set out in the table below The table shows the number of meetings each Directar was

eligible te attand

Corpcrate
Governance &
Board Audit  Remuneration Nominations  Bigger Picture
Number of meetings held in year 7 3] 5 3 2
Executrve Directors
Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ 77
Andrew Grffith Group CFO 77
Non-Executive Directors
Chase Carey 77
Tracy Clarke 77 5/5 212
David DeVoe 77
Nick Ferguson 7 5/5 33
Martin Gilbert! 77 6/6 on 22
Adine Grate®? 6i7 6/6 A4
Andy Higginson? 34 23 11
Dava Lewis 747 Bio 3/3 242
James Murdoch 7 212
Matthieu Pigasse? 417 66
Danny Rimer? A7
Arthur Sisking? &7 2/3
Andy Sukawaty? bk 45
Notes

1 Martin Gilbert replaced Andy Higgnson as member of the Governance & Nominations Committee following Andy s retirement at the AGM on 21 November 2014
2 Adine Grate was appomted as a member of the Remunération Committee replacing Martin Gibert with effect from 25 July 2014

3 Directors are encouraged to attend Board @nd fespéctiviE Board aiid Committed meétings butincertaindrcumstances meetingd are Called at 3hort roticeand due o pricr businegss

commitments and time differences Directors may be unable to attend In these circumstances Directors receve relevant papers and are updated on developments by either the

Chairman or Group CEO

Acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia

Duning the prior year the Board appointed a committee toinvestigate consider and evaluate the overall strategy in connection with the proposal
to acquire Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia The committee comprised alt members of the Board other than any Directors who were not independent
of 21st Century Fox Incor had a conflict of mterest The commuttee met on two occasions during the year and formally approved the transaction

Effectiveness

Board composition and independence

The Board currently comprises 14 Directors made up of two Executive
Directors and 12 Non-Executive Directors At least half of the Board of
Directors are determuned to be independent by the Board in accerdance
with provision B1 2 of the Code On appointment the Chairman met the
independence criteria set cutn provision B11of the Code Biographies
of each of the Directors are set out on pages 38 and 39

Chase Carey David DeVoe, fames Murdech and Arthur Sisking represent
the Company s largest shareholder 21st Century Fox and as such are
not considered to be independent within the mearung of the Code

Each of these Directors has extensive media and pay TV experience

and makes significant contributicn to Board discusgion

The Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a wide range of experience

and expertise to the Group s affars and carry significant weight in
the Board s decisions The Independent Non-Executive Directors are
encouraged to challenge management and help develop proposals
on strategy Time s regularly put aside at Board meetings to discuss
the strategic direction of the Company

Prior to appointment and on an annual basis each Board member receves
and completes a questionnaire to determine facters that may affect
independence according to best practice statements contained within
the Code The responses to the questionnaire assist the Board in
ascertaining whether a Director 1 independent in character and
Judgement and whether there are relationships or circumstances which
are likely to affect or could appear to affect the Director s judgement

Board Composition
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Appointments to the Board diversity and succession planning

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee keeps the Board s
balance of skills knowledge experience and the length of service of
incividuals under constant review In respect of succession planning and
supplementing the skl set of the Board there s an established procedure
for the appeintment of Directors In brief the Committee identifies the
set of skills and expenence required and with the assistance of external
search agencies selects indviduals to take Board positions on review of
therr ndmwidual merits regardless of gender race religion age or disability
Further information an the work of the Committee during the year can

be found on pages 48 and 49

Coples of the Executive Directors service contracts and letters of
appeointment of the Non-Executive Directors may be inspected at the
registered office of the Company during normal business hours on any
weekday (except Saturdays Sundays and publhic holdays) and at the place
of the Annual General Meeting ( AGM ) for 15 minutes prior to the meeting
until the condusion of the AGM

The Board has published a statement of its intention to increase female
representation en the Board which can be found on the Company s
corporate website sky com/corporate As required by company legislation
atabie on page 71 illustrates gender diversity amongst the Board

Diversity ratio of Directors appointed in past three years
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External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executive Directors are considered by
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Executive Directors
are not allowed to take on the Charrmanship of a FTSE 100 company but are
allowed to take up one external Non-Executive FTSE 100 appointment and
retain any payments in respect of such appointments

Jeremy Darroch was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Burberry Group plc on 5 February 2014 and is amember of the Audit,
Nominations and Remuneration Committees

Andrew Griffith was appeinted as ar Independent Non-Executive Director
of Just Eat plc an 12 March 2014 Andrew serves as Senior Independent
Director Chairman of the Audit Committee and 1s a member of the
Rernuneration & Nomimnations Committees Details of payin respect

of these appointments can be found in the Directors remuneration
report on page 68

Ttme commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are adwised of the likely ime commitments
required oninduction and are expected to devote sufficient time

for the effective discharge of ther functions The Company provides
Mon-Executive Directors with appropnate support and facibties far
consideration of the Company s strategy and performance and a
dialogue with the Chairman 1s strongly encouraged so that any 1ssues
regarding conflicting commitments and time pressures can be
addressed appropriately

Induction and traming

Length of time served on the Board

Industry/Background experience'

MNotes
1 Directors may fall inte one or more categories

Directors appamtment and reappomntment

Inrespect of Code prowision B 71, all Executtve and Non-Executive Directors
will retire and offer themselves for reappointment at the Companys 2015
AGM wath the exception of David DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Sisksnd
who have decided not to seek reappointment this year and will step down
from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the
AGM, 115 ntended that John Nallen Chief Financial Officer of 21st Century
Fox will be appointed by the Board as a Non-Executive Director As aresult
of these proposed changes the size of the Board would reduce from 14 to 12
Directors and at least half of the Board (excluding the Chatrman) would
continue to be compnsed of independent Non-Executive Directors in
comphance with the Code

1i0da1 21801815
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All new Directors receive arinduction tailored to ther individual
requirements The induction process involves meeting with all of the
Company s Execubive Directors and Senior Executives This facilitates

their understanding of the Group and the key drivers of the business
performance During the year Directors have received presentations

from a number of areas of the business including Customer Group Content,
Corporate Finance and Strategtc Planning Group The Charrman meets

with the Directors throughout the year to review and agree thetr indivtdual
training and developmental needs

An example of a tatlored induction programme i1s detailed below

Product
demonstrations

Meetings with Custemer
Senior Executives contact aSky engineer
Sky News and centre visit on customer

Sky Studic visits vISitS

Accompanied

In addition to thus vanous presentations from prior Board meetings will
be made available ta the Director in order to improve therr understanding
of the Group and the competitive and regulatory landscape inwhich it
operates Consideration s given to Committee appomntments and where
relevant talored traiing may te required

Board evaluation

Inine with the Code and following the external Board evaluation carried
out by Alice Perkins of JCA Group 1n 2013 an internal Board evaluation
has been carried out for the past two years

During the period under review the process was faciitated by Nick
Ferguson Further details of the evaluation process can be founa
n the Carporate Governance & Nominations Committee repor
on pages 48 and 49
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Information previded to the Directors

The Company Secretary s responsible for ensuring good information flows
within the Board and its Committees and between senior management and
Non-Executive Directors For each Board and Committee meeting, Directors
are provided with a tailored Board pack at least one week prior to the
meeting To improve the delivery and security of Board papers the
Company has adopted an electronic system aliowing the Board to easily
access information rrespective of geographic location Directors regularly
recerve additional information from the Company between Board meetings
ncluding a daily press summary and a monthty Group performance update
Where a Director was unable to attend a meeting they were provided with
alt the papers and information relating to that meeting and were able

to discuss 1ssues arising directly with the Chairman and Group CEQ

Conflicts of interest

Under UK Company law all Directors must seek authorisation before
taking up any position with another company that conflicts or may
possibly conflict with the Company s interests The Company s Articles
of Association contain provisions to allow the Directors to authorise
situations of potential conflicts of Interest so that a Director 1s not

n breach of s duty under company law

Al existing external appeintments for each Director have been authorised
by the Board and each authornisation i1s set out in a Conflicts Register
Drrectors are required to notify the Board of potential conflicts so that they
can be considered and If appropnate authorised by the Board In addition
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee conducts an annuai
review of Directors conflicts and reports its findings to the Board

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee rewiewed the

Shareholder engagement

The Company s cormmitted to mamntainng and improving dialogue with
sharehaolders in order to ensure that the objectives of both the Group

and the shareholders are understood A programme of meetings with
institutional shareholders fund managers and analysts takes place each
year and the Chairman Group CEQ and Group CFO have attended meetings
withinvestors as apprepriate The Company also makes presentations

to analysts and investors around the time of the half-year and full-year
results announcement conference calls are held with analysts and
investors following the release of the first quarter and third quarter trading
statements and presentations are made during the year to many existing
or potential sharehelders at investor conferences The Company hosts

an annual meeting for its major shareholders to discuss remuneration

The AGM

The Board views the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private
investors and sets aside time at the meeting for shareholders to ask
questions At the AGM the Chairman provides a brief summary of the
Cempany s activities for the previous year All resolutions at the 2014

AGM were voted by way of a poll Thus follows best practice and allows

the Company to count all votes rather than just those of shareholders
attending the meeting As recommended by the Code all resolutions
were voted separately and the final voting results which included all votes
cast for against and those withihetd together with all proxies lodged prior
to the meeting were released to the London Stock Exchange as soon as
practicable after the meeting The announcement was also made available
on the Company's corporate website As In previous years the proxy

form and the announcement of the voting results made it clear that

Board s conflicts during the finanaal year and concluded that conflicts
had been appropriately authonsed and that the process for authorisation
is operating effectively The Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee and the Board wili continue to moritor and review potential
conflicts of interest on a regular basis

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance and Indemnity

The Company recegrises that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company s
affairs The Company mamntains a Directors and Officers habihity insurance
policy Additionally the Company s Articles of Association allow the
Company to ndemmify the Directors and deeds of indemnity have been
1ssued to all Directors of the Company to the extent permitted by law

Relations with shareholders

Shareholder commumications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the bustness are
avallable te all sharehaolders on the Company s corporate website

The Company also uses email alerts and actively promotes downloading
of all reparts enhancng speed and equality of shareholder communication
The Company has taken full advantage of the prowisions within the
Companies Act 2006 allowing the website to be used as the primary
means of communication with shareholders where they have not requested
hard copy documentation The shareholder informatien section on page
147 contains further details on electronic shareholder communications
together with more general information of interest to shareholders which
15 alsoncluded on the Company s corporate website skycom/corporate

a vote withheld 1s not a vote inlaw and will not be counted in the
calculation of the praportion of the votes for or agatinst the resolution

44 Skyple




Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman s overview

During the year the Audit Committee has continued to play a key oversight
role on behalf of the Board The Committees principat activities have
focused on the financial performance of the Company internal audit,
external audit risk management compiiance and gavernance We reviewed
the impact of the acquisitions of the Sky businesses in Germany and Italy
on the 2014/15 external and internal audit plans and the evolution of
financial reporting under the new structure

The Committee has also monitored the Company s approach to risk
managernent and the independence and effectiveness of the external
auditors and received a number of presentations from management
relating to data governance, security internal audit treasury taxation
and health and safety

We have considered the processes underpinning the production and
approval of this year s Annual Report to enable the Board to confirm that
the Annual Report taken as awhale s fair balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for sharehaolders to assess the

Company s performance business model and strategy.A descaption of
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Attendance at Committee Meetings

David DeVoe and Arthur Siskind have a standing imvitation to attend
meetings However their attendance at these meetings Is as observers
only and in a non-voting capacity The Group CFO other business and
finance executives and representatives from the external auditor
Deloitte LLP and the internal audit department attend meetings

at the request of the Committee The Company Secretary acts as
Sacretary to the Commuttee

Audit Committee Aganda
Focus for the Commuttee this year has included the following items

+ Review and recommendation to the Board of the quarterly interm
and full-year financial statements

Quarterly updates from the Group CFO on business perfarmance across
the Group

Audit plans and findings of external and internal audits

+ The review and recommendation te the Beard of the dividend policy
and proposed payments

Ligutcity and going concern review

Annua! reporting due diigence procedures and corporate governance
updates

The impact of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky [taha on the
2014115 External Audit plan

yoda H¥803ens
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how we approached this can be found in this report

There were six meetings duning the year and after each Committee meeting
| gave an oral update to the Board on the key1ssues discussed durning our
meetings The Comrmttee also had a meeuing with the Company s external
auditors without management present

You can find additional information of how we have carned out our role
and responsibiities within the remainder of this report

The Committee s terms of reference are availlabie on the Company s
corporate website

Martin Gilbert
Committee Chairman

Committee composition
Martin Gilbert (Chatrman}
Adine Grate

Dave Lewis

Matthieu Pigasse

Andy Higginson a former Chair of the Committee stepped down asa
member of the Committee in November 2014 following his retirement
as a Director

The Committes members have considerable financial and business
expenence and the Board considers that the membership as a whole
has sufficient recent and retevant financial experience to discharge its
responsibilites In additton the Board has determined that each member
of the Committee has sufficient accounting or related financial
management expertise in ine with the Code

Assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process
and scope of audit

Auditor independence and the policy on the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditor

= Quarterly review of non-audit services and fees

.

Quarterly reports from the treasury function on the funding lhquidity
going concern and operational capabilities of the Group and compliance
with treasury policies

Quarterly updates on plannedinternal audit work and on the status
of Senior Accounting Officer { SAQ?) certification work to ensure
SAQ comphiance

-

Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party during the
period Inexcess of 100000 in value

Review of all transactions which fall within the Listing Rule 111 5R
definition of Related Party Transaction and all transactions with
arelated party in excessof £10 million and where reguired
recommendation to the Board

« Review and oversight of the Group rnisk register risk methodology
and risk management systems and processes

Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group s internal
audit function and contrals

Taxation secunty fraud health and safety and data protection

Sky Deutschland s related party transactions are approved by the supgrvisory board

1 accordance with German law Once the purchase of the remaining minonty interests
n Sky Deutschtand has concluded Sky Deutschland will be subject to the same approval
pracass as UK and Italy
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Significant accounting iIssues

When considering the annual financial statements the Committee
reviewed the significant accounting 1ssues and the Groups cntical
accounting policies as set out on pages 32 to 35 with particular focus
on the following

Retail subscription revenue

The majonity of the Group s revenues dernve from retail subscription
packages including hardware supplied to customers The Group apphes
Judgement in determining the accounting allocation of payments received
from customers to different elements of the bundled package takinginto
consideration the timing and relative value attributed to each element
During the year the Committee receved a performance report from the
Group CFO at each Committee meeting that included a review of revenues
recognised in the period

The Committee considered management s policy and considered the views
of the external auditor and 15 satisfied that the policies have been applied
consistently and appropniately

General entertainment programming inventory

The Committee reviewed the poicy for the recognition of content costs and
sought assurances from management, and tock into account the views

of the external auditor that the policy 1s appropriate and has been

applhed consistently The method for recogrusing general entertainment
programming expense requires estimation and judgement to ensure

that the expense profile 1s consistent with the expected value of the
content to the Group

Internal control and risk management

The Board I1s responsible for estabhishing and maintaining the Groups
systems of internal control and nsk management and for reviewing thesr
effectivenass These systems are designed to manage and where possible
eliminate the risk of falure to achieve business objectives and to provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance aganst matenal misstatement
or toss ThereIs an ongoing process for identifying evaluating and managing
the significant nsks faced by the Group in accordance with the revised
gurdance on internal control issued by the Financial Reporting Counctlin
October 2005 During the penod under review no sigrificant faiings or
weaknesses were identified

The Committee on behalf of the Board considers the effectiveness of the
operation of the Groups systems of internal control and risk management
during the year and this review has been carried out for the year ended

30 June 2015 and up to the date on which the financial statements were
approved This review relates to the Company and its subsidianes and does
not extend to point ventures The Committee meets on at least a quarterly
basis with the Groups Directer Audit Risk Management and Compliance
and the external auditor

There s a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process and the
annual budget which s regutarly reviewed and updated 15 approved by
the Board Performance 1s monitered against budget through weekly and
maonthly reporting cyctes Durning the financial year under review monthly
reports on performance were provicded to the Board and the Group reports
ta shareholders each quarter

In respect of Group financial reporting the Group Finance team is

are appropriate and are aligned to dustry practice

Capitalisation of intangible and tangibte non-current assets

The Commuttee considerad the Group s polices and sought assurances
from management that the Group s project accounting controls are
operating as ntended and that spend capitalised as property plant
and equipment and intangible assets meets the relevant acceunting
requirements The Committee also considerad the report from the
external auditor

The Committee 1s satisfied that the Group has followed appropriate
accounting standards regarding the capitalisation of project expenditure

Accounting for acquisitions

The Commuttee reviewed management s accounting for the acquisitions

of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia inciuding determination of the far
values of assets and habilities acquired and of the consideration paid and
alignment of accounting policies across the Group whach require significant
estimation and judgement The Committee considered the views of the
external auditor and received a presentation from management explaining
the evolution of the Groups financial reporting to incorporate the acquired
entities into the enlarged group

The Committee 1s sausfied that the Group has followed the applicable
accounting requirements in acceunting for the acquisitions and that
accounting polictes across the Group have been appropriately aligned

responsible for preparing the Group financial statements and there
are well established controls over the financial reporting process
These are also documented in ine with the requirements of the SAC
legislation and the controls are reviewad and signed off to confirm
their continuous operation by the control owners twice a year and
are independently tested by the internal audit team The results of
the SAQ testing are reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis

Changes in internal controls

No change in the Group s Internal control over financial reporting has
occurred in the UK during the year ended 30 June 2015 that has materally
affected oris reasonably likely to materially affect the Groupsinternal
control over financial reporting During the year the Group acquired

Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha whichintroduced additional complexity

to financial reporting Since the operating model and business cperations
of the acquired entities are similar to those of the existing Group

the contrals over financial reporting remain matenally consistent

Risk registers

There are nsk registers which identsfy the nisks faced by the Group
and these are consohdated into a Group Risk Register The rnisk register
framework s based on methodology to identify the nisk based on
impact and likellhood The risk s assessed quantified and measured
which enables discussions on risk appetite The registers detail the
controls that manage the nsks and where necessary the action plans
to ritigate the nsk exposure

The business develops the action plans and the internal audit team
monitors their implementation The Committee formally reviews the
Group Risk Register twice a year and sentor executives fraom the
business present their sk management plans from time to time
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The internal audit team provides objective assurance as to the
effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal cantrol and risk
management to the Group s operating management

The Group s principal risks and uncertainties are detailed on pages 32 to 35

Fair balanced and understandable assessment

The Financial Reporting Committee ( FRC ) has responsibifity for the
production of the annual report and the asseciated review process
Guidance and comprehensive due diligence procedures weressued

to reviewers by the FRC to help them assess whether the dogument was
faur balanced and understandable and complied with the requirements
of the Code The FRC maintamned oversight of the review process and
submitted certification to the Committee toenable It to be in a position
to recommend to the Board that the required statement could be made

Disclosure controls and procedures

The Company mantains disdosure controls procedures and systems that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed as part
of the Company s UK isting obligations 1s accumuiated and ¢communicated
to management induding the Group CEO and Group CFO as appropnate
1o allow umely decisions regarding required disclosures

Auditor independence

During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee reviewed audit
independence and scope of non-audit services and independence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP { Deloitte) the Group s external auditor

As part of the review,the Audit Committee has recewved and reviewed.
confirmation inwnting that i Deloitte s professional judgement Delaitte
15 independent withun the meaning of all UK regulatory and professional
requirements and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff 1s not impaired

The Committee was satisfied throughout the year that the objectity
and independence of Deloitte was not in any way impaired by either

the nature of the non-audit related services undertaken durnng the year
the level of non-audit fees charged or any other facts or crcumstances

A key aspect of this year s consideration was the effect of the acquisitions
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia

» These acquisitions were both defined as Class One transactions
under the London Listing Rules To support the transaction facilitate
regulatary reporting and the raising of the necessary finance the
Commuttee approved due diigence services by KPMG the auditors of
Sky Deutschland and reperting accountant services from Ernst & Young
(EY) the auditors of Sky Iltaha and reporting accountant and other
transaction support and advisory services from Sky plcs own auditors
Deloitte The committee was satisfied appropriate safeguards had been
implemented in this regard

+ Deloitte network firmsn Germany and Italy had been selected to prowide
consulting and other services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia prier
to therr acquisition by Sky In order to ensure an orderly reduction in
and to reduce transition risk the Committee approved the continuation
of services by Deloitte untl Indmwdual actwities were rescoped or
completed taken on by Sky perscnnet or other vendors commussioned
All necessary adjustments to scope to ensure auditor iIndependence
were made within the six-month penod permitted under the relevant
professional standards which envisage circumstances such as these
The auditors considered the need for additional safeguards and satisfied
the Commuttee that they had implemented these appropriately
The safeguards considered by the committee inciuded the continuatien
of the use of KPMG and EY for the year ended 30 June 2015 as auditors
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha A certan Jevel of permitted consulting
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adwvisory services on these strategic projects has been approved by
the Commutiee to be provided by Delaitte in the financial year 2005/16
to ensure an appropriate level of project advisory continuity and these
services are planned to substantially cease by the end of that year

n hine with the implementation of the EU audit regufation

Audit and non-audit services provided dunng the year were approved by
the Committee Ananalysis of auditor remuneration s disclosed in note
7 to the consclidated financial statements

Audit and non-audit services
The Group has a policy on the provision by the external auditor of audst
and non-audit services which categonses such services between

+ Those services which the auditoris not permitted to provide

« Those services which are acceptable for the auditor to provide and
the prowision of which has been pre-approved by the Committee, and

Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee
15 required before the auditor 1s permitted to provide the service

The palicy defines the types of services falling under each category

and sets out the criternia which need to be met anc the internal approval
mechanisms required to be coampleted prior to any engagement.
Ananalysis of all services provided by the external auditor 15 reviewed
by the Cammittee on a quarterly basis

During the year, the following examples were deemed to be pre-approved
in accordance with the policy

update
+ Assurance of certain KPIs for the Bigger Picture Review
Effectiveness of external audit process
During the year the effectiveness of the audit process was assessed

by the Committee Group Finance team and other key internal stakenclders
in the form of a questionnaire The areas under review were

- Qualty resources and scope of planning of the audit
- Objectivity independence and transparency of the audit

» Identification of key accounting judgements sigruficant audit and
accounting 1ssues

Level of technical knowledge and professional scepticism

.

Understanding Sky as a business i1ts values and culture and challenges
it faces

.

The quality of planning and supervision of the group audit

.

Quality of reporting and communications to the Audit Committee

The respanses to the assessment were discussed which confirmed that
Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte continue to demonstrate
strengths i the majority of these areas There were no significant findings
fram the assessment and the review confirmed that Delortte continue to
carry out an effective and robust external audit including the supervision
of the enlarged group audit The Committee also continues to be satisfied
with the qualty of challenge and scepticsm of the external auditar

The Committee therefare recommended to the Board that sharehelder
approval be sought to reappoint Deloitte as the externat auditor

and has also recommended that Deloitte be appointed auditors of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha for the 2015116 financal year
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Audit partner rotation

The external auditor 1s required to rotate the audit partner responsible
for the engagement every five years As reported previously the current
audit partner rotates after the 2014/15 audit The partner was shadowed
by a successor audit partner throughout the year after a selection process
to ensure the development of thorough knowledge of the enlarged group
and to safeguard challenge and objectivity The incoming audit partner

will be required to rotate after the 2019/20 audit

Tenure of external auditor

The reguiatory regime relating to mandatory audit tenderning has
stgnuficantly changed 1n the UK and Europe The Commuittee s closely
menitoring these developments and taking Into account that Delortte
has been the external auditor of the Company since Jure 2002 i1t expects
to conduct an audit tender in advance of June 2020 which itselfisin
advance of 2023 by which the transitional rules in UK and EU regulation
would require the Company to have performed a tender

The Committee considered the merits of conducting an audit tender
process this year however in ight of the significant enlargement in the
s1ze and scale of the Group following the acquisitions of Sky Deutschiand
and Sky Itala - and the significant internal time and effort devoted

to establishing commen financial controls and processes as a result -

It was decided that for now shareholders interests would best be
served by focusing on the integration of the enlarged Group including
the consolidation of the Group audit with a single firm The Committee
will continue to keep the timing of a future tender under annual review

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee

Chairman s overview

Following the retirement of Ancy Higginson as a Non-Executive Director
Sentor Independent Director and Charman of this Commuttee at the
Company s 2014 AGM in November | am pleased to confirm that Martin
Gilbert replaced Andy as Serwor Independent Director and was appointed
as a member of thus Committee | succeeded Andy as Chairman of the
Committee and all of these changes were effective from 21 November 2014

Over the past three years a number of new Independent Non-Executive
Directors have been appointed to the Board and it was very encouraging
that ane of the findings of this year s internal Board evaluation was that
these new Directors have bedded down well and had strengthened the
diversity of the Board The findings of the evaluation alsc confirmed that
the Board and 1ts Committees continue to operate effectively with each
of the Directors making valued and effectve contrnibutions

The Board as a whole welcornes the opportunity te adapt to innovations
and change within the field and continues to actively progress initiatives
to adapt to corporate governance changes address gender balance on

the Board source the right skills to complement our talented management

team and create robust succession plans to safeguard the Company s
future performance

There were three meetings held during the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed dunng

our meetings You can find further information of how we have carried

out our role and responsibilities withen the remainder of this report

The Committee s terms of reference are avalable on the Company s
corporate website

Nick Ferguson
Committee Chairman

Committee composition
Nick Ferguson (Charrman)
Dave Lewis

Arthur Siskind

Martin Gilbert

Andy Higginson stepped down as a member of the Committee in November
2014 followtng his retirement as a Director

Attendance at Commuttee Meetings
The Group CEQ and General Counsel attend the meetings from time to time
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee
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Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has centrad on the following items

= Board and Committee composition

» Internal Board evaluation

» Review of Non-Executive Director independence
» Review of Directars conflicts of interest

* Succession planning

+ Changes to the Listing Rules for companies with controlling shareholders

Actwities during the year

Recruitment processes

The Committee keeps the Board s balance of skills knowledge and
experience and the length of service of iIndividuals under constant review
In respect of succession planning and supplementing the skill set of the
Board the Committee is responsible for the identification evaluation and
recommendation of candidates for appointment to the Board There has
been a formal process In place for a number of years and all of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors have been through the same
sefection process

This process invalves the Commuttee working with the Executive Directors
and the wider Board to identify and agree the cnteria for the appointment
of any new independent Non-Executive director to the Board Once agreed
the Chairman of the Committee engages with and briefs an external
recruitment consultaney-The external recriutment consuttancy s asked

Annual Repert 2015

Governance

The evaluation of the performance of the Chairman was led by the
Senior Independent Director The Chairman of the Committee reported
the findings of the evaluation to the Commuttee and the Board

The overall conclusion was that ndividual Board members are satisfied
that the Board works well and operates effectively in an emvironment
where there I1s constructive challenge from the Non-Executive Directors
The Directers were satisfied with the current mix of skills and experience
on the Board and that the composition of the Board and its Committees
had been adequately reviewed during the year A number of new
independent Non-Executive directors have joined the Board since

207 and they have complemented the existing Board members and
contributed well to Boardroom debate offered alternative viewpoints
and challenged perceptions

The quality of Information presented to the Board was of a high standard
and distributed on a timely basis There was a good balance of focus
between strategy the competitive marketplace operations and governance
wittun Board meetings

It 1s the intention of the Board to undertake an externally facilitated
evaluation during the 2015/16 financial year in line with the Code

Indepandence

During the year all Non-Executive Directors were asked to complete
questionnares to enabtle the Committee to determine their ndependence
The Committee reviewed the questionnares and recommended to the
Board that there be no changes to the independent status of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directers who
are considered by the Board to be independent are clearly identified on

Joda x8xens
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to draw up a list of patenvial candidates for the Committee to review

The Committee considers the list of potential candidates and agrees a
shorthist for interview by the Chairman Group C£Q and other members
of the Committee and Board as appropriate Subject to agreement by the
Committee the Commuttee then recommends the proposed appointee
to the Board for consideration

Committee composition

Buning the year the Committee reviewed the composition of all Committees
On 24 July 2014 Martin Gilbert stepped down as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Adine Grate was appointed in his place

with effect from 25 July 2014 Following Andy Higginson s retirement,

at the Company s 2014 AGM it was agreed that Martin Gslbert be apponted
as SID on 21 Novemnber 2014 Martin replaced Andy as a member of the
Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee on the same date

Nick Ferguson was identified as a suitable successor as Charman of

the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee and he succeeded
Andy Higginson on 21 November 2014

Board evaluation

The Board undertakes an annual review of its effectiveness and at
least once every three years anindependent third party facilitates the
evaluation Dunng the year the Chairman of the Commuttee conducted
an internal evaluation and scheduled time with each Director to discuss
the fallowing

= the effectiveness of the Board as a whole

» the mix of skills and experence on the Board

+ the effectiveness of Board processes and procedures
+ development of the Company s strategy and

= the performance of Board committees

page 42

As noted on page 42 James Murdoch Chase Carey David DeVoe and Arthur
Siskind are not considered to be independent within the meaning of the
Code However following the evaluatien the Committee considers that each
of these directors centinue to make asignificant contnibution to Board and
Committee discussions

Directors conflicts

The Committee reviewed the Board s conflicts during the financias
year and concluded that Directors conflicts had been appropriately
authorised and that the process for authorisation was operating
effectively The Committee and the Boarg will continue to monitor
and review potential conflicts of interest and take action to mitigate
them as necessary

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the isting ru'es came into effect in November 2014 which
require a prermium listed company which has one or more controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 1s intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the independence provisicns
in the Listing Rules (see page 70) The Committee engaged external counsel
to assist with negotiating arelationship agreement with our controlling
shareholder 21st Century Fox inc which was subsequently entered into

by the Company on 13 November 2014
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Bigger Picture Committee

Chairman s overview

There were two meetings during the year and after each Commuttee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed

| am pleased to report that there has been significant progress across
the Bigger Picture iniiatives in the UK and Ireland from building the reach
impact and awareness of Sky Academy to the continued success of Team
Sky and the Company s approach to responsible business

Sky s commitment has been recognised through its strong performance
in a number of Investor indices dunng the year including the Carbon
Disclosure Project and the Dow Jones Sustainabiiity Index

The Committee believes that the focus and scale of the work being done
continues to make a significant contribution to Sky s ability to build a better
business for the long term

Progress agamnst all of the Bigger Picture commitments and initatives
1s detalled at sky com/biggerpicture

James Murdoch
Commuttee Chairman

Activities during the year

The Committee oversaw a number of key developments in relation

to Sky s Bigger Picture initiatives notably progress towards our target
to help one million young people build practical skills and experence
through Sky Academy in the UK and Ireland

Sky Academy is a set of Inluatives using the power of TV creatmty and
sport to unlock the potential In young people In addition to the ongoing
success of the Sky Sports Living for Spors, Sky Academy Skills Studios

Sky Academy Scholarships and Sky Academy Starting Out, the Committee
oversaw the development of the new Sky Academy Careers Lab at Skys
West London campus which will see at least 4 000 young people aged
16-19 wisit Sky each year to gan career insights and build employability
skills During the year we also laurnched an additional Sky Academy Skills
Studio at our Limngston site in Scotland which s prowiding oppartumities
for another 12 000 young pecple in Scotland to take part inaddition to
the 12 000 in West London each year Both initiatives have provided more
oppoerturmties for Sky staff to get involved in Sky Academy through
volunteering and we saw a 43% increase 1n volunteering this year

The opening of Sky Academy Careers Lab supparts the Committees
view that the Sky Academy experiences should be providing insight into
the diversity of rales for young peopl¢ at Sky The Commuttee noted the
Increase in career opportuniues for young people through Sky Academy
Starting Out with 1100 places across rts apprenticeship graduate
Pacement and work experience programmes in 201415 up from almost
600 in 2013/14 which s on track agatnst the commitment to double the
number of career opportunities available for young people within Sky

1 three years.

Compositton of the Committee
James Murdoch (Chairman)
Tracy Clarke

Dave Lewis

Attendance at Commuttee Meetings

The Group CEQ Group CFO senior executives representatives frem
Corporate Affarrs and the Bigger Picture team attend meetings at the
request of the Chairman The Deputy Company Secretary acts as Secretary
to the Committee The Committee s terms of reference are avallable on the
Company’s corporate website

Bigger Picture Committee Agenda
Focus for the year has centred on the following items

» Areview of progress on Sky Academy
« The impact of our partnership with British Cycling and Team Sky
+ Progress as detailled in Sky s Bigger Picture reporting

Over the year the Committee reviewed the achievemnents of Sky Academy
1n working towards its targets for increasing participation impact and
awareness OF note has been the doubling of customer awareness of

Sky Academy along with the tripling of prospect awareness over the year

Through the partnership with 8ritish Cyching the Committee noted that
aver 17 million more pecple are now cycling at least once a menth when
compared to 2009 The Commattee also noted the role of Team Sky in
using the inspiration of elite success to drive participation In addition
the Committee was mformed of the Team Sky objectives to strengthen
the focus on Grand Tour performance and build fan engagement as we
move tnto the last 18 months of the partnership with British Cycling

Through its review of the Bigger Picture reporting the Commuttee noted
the overall progress against Sky s commitments including in relation to
the Company's approach ta responsible business The recommendations
the Committee made to improve the communication of progress have
beenincorporated for the 2014/15 year

QOverall the Committee continued to note the positive economic social
ang environmentat contnbution of Sky For more information about Skys
approach and progress over the year go to sky com/biggerpicture
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Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board | am pleased to present our Directors
Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2015

Context and business performance

This has been a transformational year for Sky By acquinng the Sky
businesses In Germany and ltaly we have opened up a significant new
growth oppartunity whilst continuing to deliver excellent financal and
operational performance There has been strong growth across all our
markets, partrcularly i the UK and treland and we have increased the
dwidend to our shareholders by 3% This represents the 11th consecutive
year of dividend growth an excellent record by any measure

These results are particulasly strong considering the level of change in
the business Group revenue s up 5% year on year and operating profit
up by 18% In the UK and Ireland we achieved the highest organic customer
growth In 11 years while iy Germany and Austna we delivered record
customer growth and in |taly we held our customer base stable after three
years of decline In totalwe added almost one milhon new customers across
aur five territories 45% more thann the pror year ta take our customer
base past the 21-millonmark.-At the same time, we increased our paid-for.

The continued suppoert of our shareholders 1s extremely important to us
The Comrmuittee mtends to review its position on clawback with a view

to introducing suitable provisions for eur business alongside our existing
policy onmalus over the course of thae next year The Committee revisited
the topic of disclosure this year specifically the degree to which it deems
the disclosure of performance targets to be commeraally sensitive

and the tamuing of disclosure

Pisclosure of performance targets

Our targets which include significant fixed costs relating to nghts deals
are comrnercially sensiuve We oparate ina ghly competiuve market,
both i acquining customers and idding for key nghts with a discrete
number of players and a number of our direct competitors do not
disdose their targets

Nevertheless the Committee acknowledges nvestor concerns and has
decided to disclose the targets for the 2013 annual bonus and LTIP vesting
a year earlier than we anticipated in the Remuneraticn Report last year

We continue to disclose performance ranges in advance for EPS growth

for the Co-Investment Plan and relative TSR performance for the Long Term
Incentive Plan The Committee will continue to use its judgement at the
end of each year to determine levels and timing of disclosure

In addivien the Committee has also provided greater clarity on pay and
performance cutcomes for the 2015 bonus payment and Long Term
Incentive Plan vesting A clearer chart and more detailed commentary
on performance are provided on pages 53to 55

Impact of the acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia

uodaradnens
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subscnption products by 4 6 million for the year and saw a significant
Increase in customer loyalty with ¢hurn under 10% in each of our markets
Against this backdrop of excellent performance the business has a strong
platform on which te build and a clear set of plans to deliver long-term
growth and returns for shareholders

The long-term sustainability and success of our business isbased on a
relentless focus on our key drivers for growth Our remuneration policy
directly inks pay to the achievement of stretching performance targets
which drive our strategy as set cut on page 4 This principle of linking pay
to stretch performance has rematned unchanged over the past six years
and has helped to maintain the stability and focus of the senior team to
deliver outstanding value to our shareholders The Committee ensures
that the performance measures selected n its incentive plans reflect the
key performance indicators of the business and thereby provide a direct
kink to Skys strategic atms Having conskdered other performance
measures the Committee 1s comfortable that the current measures

and therr inclusion across all three incentive plans ensures the nght ink
to our strategic KPIs and the proper focus on these results over both

the short and long term

Last year the Commuttee introduced a number of changes to our
remuneration policy which were well recewed by our shareholders including
the intraductron of a cap on annual Long Term Incentive Plan awards a
mintmum shareholding requirement for Executive Directors a formal policy
onmalus and more explanation and disclosure on performance cutcomes

Foltawing the completion of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky
Italia in November 2014, the Committee considered whether any changes
to executive remunaration were required Notwithstanding the new
international and enlarged responsibsibies of both Execltive Directors
as aresult of this transaction the Committee decided that existing
compensation arrangements were appropnate

In respect of our multi-year incentive plans that span the transaction
period the Committee made no change to the required performance
targets but resalved that to avoid any distortive effect from the
transaction measurement would be made on a like-for-like basis
restating esther to a UK & treland only basts or te a pro forma basis
for the transaction and disposal of Sky 8et depending upon when
the plans commenced Targets for all new plans that commence
post-completion are on the basis of the enlarged Group

Full details of all targets and the actual perfarmance against these
will be disclosed in alignment with our policy on disclosure

Pay and performance outcomes for 2015

Performance across the Group has been excellent and reinforces that

our approach to Incentivisation continues to work our management team
15 delivering the right outcomes for the business and Sky § shareholders
Its against this great set of results that the Committee has decided the
remuneration for its Executive Directors

Skypic 5
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(continued)

Annual bonus

Each year the Committee considers the business plan and priorities in
setting one clear ambitious stretch target for each chosenmeasure of
performance The key measures that drive our business plan are product
growth, operating prefit and operating cash flow Payments earned under
this plan are determined by the performance achieved under each of the
three measures and the bonus s structured such that there would be a
matenal iImpact on the annual bonus for underperformance There s also
ne additionat payment for performance beyond the stretch targets

Operational performance across the Group has been excellent This was
led by the cutstanding performance of the UKand Ireland business
which delivered our strongest custemer growth for 11 years Pard-for
product growth for the UK and lreland was 3 3 million significantly
ahead of streteh target

This strong trading performance combined with a continued focus on
operaticnal efficiency and cost control delivered an adjusted operating
profit to £14 billion in the UK and Ireland ahead of target Operating cash
flow which 1s an important indicator of the financial health of the business
and its ability to sustain and grow 1s operations was ahead of target at
£14 bilhon

As a result of the excellent performance this year and in accordance with
the rules of the scheme the Remuneration Committee approved maximum
bonus awards of 200% and 150% for the Group CEQ and Group CFO
respectively for this performance year

Long Term Incentive Plan
The business has delivered a remarkable period of sustained performance

donng the threeyear period of this Plan 2012 te 2015 Al thregof the™

operational measures - revenue growth operating cash flow and growth
N earnngs per share - were exceeded with revenue growth in the UK and
trefand of 17% earnings in the UK and Ireland up by 33% and an average
annual operating cash flow in the UK and Iretand of E£14 bilion Therefore
this part of the Plan will pay out in full However the part of the Plan based
on relative TSR performance will pay out at 75 9% The total overall vesting
1s therefore 93%

This consistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
returns for our shareholders and the Board has proposed a 3% increase
in the dividend to 32 8p which is the 11th consecutive year of growth

A significant element of the value delivered to Executive Directors by this
Plan is a direct consequence of the increase in the share price over the
three-year performance penod Our approach to awarding a fixed number
of shares each year with no correlation to salary means that year-on-year
growth in total remuneration can only be achieved through share price
appreciation particularly when stretch performance targets are berng
met This construct delivers strong shareholder aignment By awarding
an absoiute number of shares as opposed to a percentage of salary
management benefit when the share price increases but are exposed if the
share price declines In addition, vesting occurs only every two years which
helps to ensure that the management team brings alonger-term focus

to the business This year 1S a vesting year $o it 15 important to remember
that the LTIP payment this year represents two separate years of grants
not one This causes a spike in total pay every other year and distorts

the single figure remuneration shown on page 57, as there will be no

LTIP payment next year total remuneration will be sigruficantly reduced

N 2016 The next LTIP vesting will be in July 2017

Co-investment Plan

This s a highly successful plan for our most senior managers It encourages
them to reinvest therr earned bonus info Company shares and therefare
the future of aur business Vesting 1s deferred for three years and
dependent on EPS growth underpinning alignment to shareholders
interests Qur Executive Directors reinvested the maximum 50% of their
annual bonus in the 2012 Plan Over this three-year perod the growth

in earnings per share i the UK and Ireland of 33% was in excess of the
maximum vesting thresheld and the matching shares therefore vest

in full Details are provided on page 53

Remuneration in 2015/16

The Committee follows a policy of maintaining lower levels of fixed pay
relative to the market We are confident that the structure of a high ratio
of vanable to fixed pay continues to provide a strong link between pay

and performance and delivers high returns for our shareholders Solocking
ahead to the new financia! year 2015/16 while the level of personal
achievement delivered Ry the Executive Tirectors would allow for greater
increases under the all employee salary review policy the Committee has
made modest adjustments to the base salares of the Group CEQ and
Group CFQ of 3% effective 1July 2015

Long Term Incentive Plan awards of 600 000 for the Group CEO and
350 000 for the Group CFC are maintained at the same level as was
previously agreed last year and mn line with our policy

The performance measures for the annual bonus LTIP and Co-Investment
Plan alsc remain unchanged

The Committee considered whether the acquisiions made during the

year might lead to a change in the long-term ncentive arrangements

After careful reflection the Committee determined that the LTIP and
Co-Investment Plan which are both key elements of the total remuneration
for the broader management team of Sky plc has been successful in
driving performance tncentivising management and delivering sharehalder
returns The Committee continues to keep all elements of the remuneration
policy and structure under review to ensure It drives the performance

of the business and therefore the interests of the shareholders

Tracy Clarke
Committee Chairman
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This section sets out how our remuneration policy was implemented during
the year ended 30 June 2015 and how 1t will be implemented for the coming
year It also sets cut the ink between Company performance and Executive
Directors’ remuneration the context in which our policy operates detalls
on our Executive Directors shareholdings and the general governance of
Directors remuneration The remuneration policy 1s summansed on page
64 to 69 and available to read in full in our 2014 Annual Report which can
be accessed via our corporate website at sky com/corporate

Variable pay outcomes for the year ended
30 June 2015

As shown on pages 13 te 15 the business has delivered another year
of exceptional operating and financial performance in what has been
atransformational year for Sky All measures for the plans aperating
" the year ended 30 June 2015 and described in this section are far
the UKandIreland

Annual bonus for 2015 performance

The annual bonus drives the achievement of annual financial and
operational business goals The plan for 2015 for Executve Directors and
senior executives was based on three equally weighted measures which
were identified by the Committee as being key indicators of performance
driving growth for our business and returns to our shareholders

+ Paid for Products Growth
« Adjusted Operating Profit

+ Adjusted Operating Cash Flow Thisis a key measure of the underlying
health of the business and strong performance of £141 bilhon ahead
of stretch target continues to support our growth strategy

As aresult of this excellent performance the Remuneration Committee
recommended that the maximum bonus awards of 200% and 150% of base
salary be awarded to the Group CEO and Group CFO respectively for this
perfarmance year

Annual bonus metrics

Performance Weighting Performance Achievement agamst
measure performance measures
UK and Ireland paicd- 33% +33m Significant out-performance
for products growth

UK and Ireland 33% E1350m Out performance
operating profit

UX and Ireland 33% E£1414m Strong out-gerformance

operating cash flow

The Committee Judges that immediate retrospective disclosure of
specific targets 1s commercially sensitive because we operate in a highly
competitive market both in acquiring customers and brdding for key
rights with a very small number of ptayers We therefere believe that
early disclosure of our targets would offer an unfarr competitive
advantage and would be to the detriment of our shareholders

We will make retrospective disctosure when the targets are deemed
to be no longer commercially sensitive We anticipate this to be two

—Adprsted Operating Cash Flow

We beheve the concept of threshold target and maximum performance
would compromise the dnive for growth so the Committee sets one clear
stretch target for each performance measure each year after careful
constderation of the business plan and of consensus analyst forecasts

This year we have prowded greater clanty on performance cutcomes

The table in the next column sets out the Committee s assessment of
performance versus the three measures for the last performance pericd
The Committee sets stretching targets which must be delivered to achieve
the business plan and for the Executive Directors to recewe the maximum
bonus There are no payments above maximum for performance above
these stretch targets

The Committee will use its jJudgernent to assess the level of bonus if
a stretch target s not met taking into account personal performance
the performance of the ather measures the underlying performance
of the business and other factors which the Committee considers

to be material to the results achieved Payments are earned In direct
correlation to performance achleved Performance against these key
targets is described below

« Paid for Products Growth In the UK and lreland we saw cur strongest
operational performance for many years with exceptional product
growthin the UK of 43 3 milan which significantly exceeded the stretch
target. underpinned by our continued focus on customer quality and
our investment in produc tivity improverments which drove robust growth
n both new customer additions and paid-for product sales in a highly
competitive market Increased customer foyalty and satisfaction s
also refiected in a significant reduction In our churn rate

Adjusted Operating Profit Strong revenue growth and a successful
operational efficiency programme resulted 1n an operating profit
of £135 bilion whichwas ahead of stretch target

wodas %Boyes
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vears aftertheend of the'perfarmance pariod

Vesting of shares under the Co-Investment Plan 2012-2015

Under the terms of the CIP offered on 28 August 2012 for the performance
period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 Executive Directors voluntarly deferred
50% of their earned 2012 bonus into investment shares which were then
matched by the Company up to 15 times the gross equrvalent of their
Investment

The table below shows the performance conditions for vesting of the
matching shares

EPS growth performance
(annual average growth
over three-year term)

Match awarded
(number of matching shares
awarded per investment share*)

Less than RPI +3% oo
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 117
RPI +5% 133
RPI +6% 15
Mare than RPI +6% 15

Straight-line interpolation between paints

* 18 on egquivalent gross basis

The average adjusted UK and Ireland bastc EPS growth rate of 10% per
year over the three-year period exceeds the thresheld for maximum
vesting The Committee has agreed that the matching shares under
the 2012 CIP will vest in full on 28 August 2015

Vesting of shares under the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2012-2015
The vesting of awards made in 2012 and 2013 for the performance penod

1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 was dependent on operational performance
measures which determined 70% of the award and TSR the remarrung 30%

Skyplc 53
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(continued)

The three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which is a key indicator of Skys contnued success were

+ Revenue growth key to our growth strategy

- Operating cash flow measures our ability to generate and manage cash

+ EPSgrowth measures our bottomline performance

Points were awarded for performance on the three operational measures as follows

« ForEPS two points are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 points awarded for RP! +5% per year or more

- For operating cash flow and revenue growth one point 1s awarded for 75% achievement of ‘target on a shiding scale up to 10 ponts for 105% or more
- One point equates to 10% of the award vesting, with maximum vesting for 21 points or more vesting on a straight-ne basis between these points

Annual Performance Measures are shown indetailin the table below

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth
Performance Performance
Performance Points achieved Points achieved Paints
achieved awarded (% of targetr) awarded (% of target) awarded
RPI +5% pa 10 105% or more 10 105% or more 10
RPI+4 5% pa 8 100% 8 100% B
RPI+4%pa 6 95% &6 95% 5]
RPI+35%pa 4 90% 4 S0% 4
RPI +3% pa 2 BS5% 2 B85% 2
LessthanRPI +3% pa Q 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% 8] Less than 75% 4

As with the annual bonus the committee will make full retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed to be no longer commercially sensitive
which 1s anticipated to be two years after the end of the performance period However the commentary and performance chart below aims to provide

greater transparency and darity for our shareholders

As with the bonus performance measures the committee made careful consideration of consensus analyst forecasts and the business plan before
setting what it beheved to be stretching performance targets Payments are earned in direct correlation to performance achieved and performance
against each target is described below

Revenue growth revenue has increased by 17% over the period in UK and Ireland which 1s in excess of the performance target representing
excellent growth and strong momentum for the future

Operating cash flow A key measure of the undertying health of the business and the ability of the management team to sustain and grow
Its operations Average annual operating ¢ash flow in the UK and Ireland of £14 bilion was i1 excess of target

+ EPSgrowth The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2012 and 2013 at RPI +5% p a This s equivalent to absolute growthin earnings
of 26% over threa years if RPis 3% a year This leve! of growth in earnings was set at alevel which exceeded consensus research analysts estimates
at the time Actual growth in earnings per share over the three-year penod was 10% with average RPl over the period of the scheme of 2 3% pa
This element of the plan vests i full reflecting the value generated for cur shareholders over this penad

The actual points awarded for the period are

Actual points awarded

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth
Actual points awarded  Actual points awarded  Actual ponts awarded
1000 1000 1000

The total of 30 0015 well ahead of the 21 points required for full vesting of this element of the award which comprises 70% of the total

Despite excellent share price growth and a consistent dwvidend policy our TSR performance over the three-year period was an increase of 72 7% compared
to the FTSE median of 48 7% with the upper quartile at 902% and as a consequence 75 9% of this proportion of the award vested on 28 July 2015
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The table below summarises performance over the three-year performance period versus the stretch targets
2012-2015 Long Term Incentive Plan performance metrics
Performance Weighting  Performance Achievement agamst
measure perfarmance measures
Revenue Growth 23% 5% Qut-performance
:
Operating Cash  23% 4% Out performance 3
Flow 3
EPSGrowth  23% 7% Sigrficant out-performance °
Relative TSR 30% 759% Between median
anduppaer quartile
The total overali vesting for the LTIP was therefore 93% Over the longer term our consistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
returns for our shareholders and the Board has propesed a 3% increase in the dvidend to 32 8p which s the 11th consecutive year of growth
Long Term Incentive Plan, Co-Investment Plan and Sharesave Awards made In the Year
Merimum % Maximum %
No of shares Face value on of sharesthat  of shares that
awarded Grant Date Datecf Grant  Performance Period  Vesting Date can vest can vest
Long Term Incentive Plan
Jeremy Darroch 600000 250714 £5 247000 010714 -300617 250717 0% 100%
Andrew Gnffith 350000 250714 £3060750" (010714-300617 250717 0% 100% m
=
o
Co-Investment Plan 5
Jeremy Darroch 163 644 010914 £1443 3402 010714 -300617 010917 0% 100% )
Andrew Griffith 76930 010914 £678 523 010714 -300617 010917 0% 100% %
2
Sharesave Plan G
Jeremy Darroch 2139 300914 E18 8663 n/a 010220 nfa n/a
Andrew Gnffith 1271 300914 £1 2107 nia 010278 nfa nja
1 Market price at date of LTIP award was £8 745 on 25 Juty 2014
2 Market price at date of GP matching award was £8 82 on 1 September 2014
3 Market price at cfate of Sharesave grant was E£8 82 on 30 September 2014
Performance conditions fgr the Long Term Incentive Plan
Awards made in July 2014 were Year 1 nil-cost option awards That s they relate to the three-year perfarmance period begining an 1 luly 2014 and
ending on 30 June 2017 and are subject 1o the following performance conditions
1 Operational targets - 70% of the award
There are three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which is a key iIndicator of Sky s continued success
+ EPSgrowth
W
+ Operating cash flow g
+ Revenue growth 3
a
The Commuittee will make retrospective disclosure of these targets when thay are deemed to be no longer commercially sensitive We anticipate this to be g
two years after the end of the performance period This means that we will review disclosure of performance targets in our 2019 implementation repart %
with a view to publishing unless the Commuttee believes they are still commercially sensitive in the context of the market in which the company operates El
i)
« ForEPS two points are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 points awarded for RPI +5% per year or more §

+ For aperating cash flew and revenue growth one point 1s awarded for 75% achievement of target on a shding scale up to 10 points for 105% or more

+ One pont equates to 10% of the award vesting with maximum vesting for 21 points or more vesting on a stra:ght-line basis between these paints
There 15 no additional award for achievement above 21 paints

= Ifthe mintmum range 1s met each year for all measures 26% of the shares vest

* The Committee sets a high threshold vesting fevel in fing with our policy of rewarding success not fallure Maximum vesting 1s not achievable if
performance 1s below threshold for any ane measure

+ Toearn the minimum of one point en any one of these measures requires the achievement of 75% of target Missing two targets would represent a
significant and dispropartianate reductan i total compensation
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Annual performance measures are shown in further detailin the table below

Average EPS Growth Operating Cash Flow Revenue Growth
Performance achieved Performance

Perfarmance achieved Points awarded {% of target) Paints awarded achieved (% of target) Points awarded
RPI+5% pa 10 105% or more 10 105% or more 10
RPI +4 5% pa 8 100% 8 100% 8
RPi+4%pa 6 5% =} a5% 5]
RPI+35%pa 4 90% 4 S0% 4
RPI+3%pa 2 B5% 2 85% 2
Lessthan RPl +3% p a o} 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% 0 Less than 75% 0

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2014 at RPI +5% pa This 1s equivalent to absclute growth in earnings of 26% over three years
iF RPI 15 3% a year This level of growth in earnings was set at ajevel which exceeded consensus research analysts estimates

2 Relative TSR performance - 30% of the award

The Company s TSR performance 1s measured relative to the TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 If the Company s TSR performance is below median
the TSR element of the award lapses in fuli For median performance one-third of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with all the shares
vesting for upper quartile performance Vesting Is on a straight-lne basis between these pomts as shown below

TSR Vesting Schedule

TSR calculations are conducted independently by Towers Watson, advisors to the Committee

Performance conditions for the Co-Investment Plan

CIP awards made in 2014 are subject to the performance cond tions set out In the table below

EPS growth performance
(annual average growth
over three-year term)

Match awarded
{number of matching shares
awarded per investment share*}

Less than RPI +3% 00
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 125
RPI +5% 15
More than RPI +5% 15

Straight-line interpolation between pomts

1e on equivalent gross basis
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TSR performance

The graph below shows the Company s TSR for the six years to 30 June 2015 measured as thevalue of a £100 holding in ordinary shares at the start
of the period The performance 1s shown relative to the FTSE 100 which represents the broad market index against which the Company s shares are
traded With the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia the narrow focus of the FTSE 350 Media companies i1s ne longer relevant given the
broader scope of the business and this index which was shown In previous years, 1s removed from the chart below

TSR s a2 measure of the returns that a company has provided for its shareholders reflecting share price movements and assuming reinvestment
of dividends Data s averaged over three months at the end of each financial year

Payments made to Executive Directors

The table below sets out total remuneration recewed by the Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2015 and the prior year

Jodas 8mens

AIUBLLIBADD)

ended 30June 2014, The vesting pattern-of awards underthe LTIPus biennial, shares vest every otheryear over.a three-year performance pericd
This means that every other year no payment 1s due as there 1s no vesting of awards The following year assuming performance conditions are met
there will be a payment which covers the equivalent of two years vesting 2015 was a year inwhich the LTIPs awarded for the performance period
1July 2012 to 30 June 2015 vested The single figure for the Group CEQ 1n 2015 1s therefore larger than the 2014 figure

Singie Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration (audited)

Long Term
Salary' Taxable Benefits? Pension? Bonus* Incentive Plan® Co-Investment Plan® Total

E 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2004 2015 2014 2015

Jeremy 960700 984750 17907 18607 149497 147814 1921400 1969500 nfa 11818440 1830092 1950138 4879550 16889249
Darrech
An?frew §02175 620000 16115 16115 83481 $4755 903263 930000 nfa 6303168 8439536 89711 2448870 8861148
Gnffith

1 Executive Directors salaries were increased on’i July 2014 by 2 5% for the Group CEO and 2 96% for the Group CFO The average increase for employees at that ime was 2 5%

rising to 3 5% for those earning less than£30 00C per year with a range of 0% to 10% for performance promotions ang market adjustments

Taxable benefits include company car or car allowance and healthcare

Pension compnaes a cash allowance in heu of company contnbutions for Jeremy Darroch and Andrew Gnffith

Bonus shows the full amount garned shortly after year end inwhich the performance measures apphed including amounts deferred through the CIP The payout for the 2014 bonus
was 200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CFO The figures for 2015 are 200% for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CFO The Executive Directors
caferred 50% of their bonus inta shares through the CIP in 2014 and it1s anticipated they will do s for 2015

Leng Term tncentive Plan shows the market value of the awards vested immaediazely following the end of the relevant performance perniod No LTIP shares vested for the performance
penod ended 30 June 2034 The figure for 20155 for LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2015 using the average share price over the perad 1 April to 30 June 2015 ¢f £10 59
Co-Investment Plan shows the market value of the matching shares that vested on 30 August 2014 with a share price of £8 82 Previously the value of these shares was estimated
using the average share price over the peniod 1 April to 30 June 2014 of £8 81 It also shows the estimated vafue of matching shares that are due to vest on 28 August 2015 using the
average share price over the period 1 Apnl to 30 June 2015 of £105%
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Group CEQ’s remuneration

The table below provides a summary of the total remuneration for the

Group CEQ over the past six years including bonus payout LTIP and CIP
vesting levels The table highlights the unigue structure of ourremuneration
policy n which vesting of LTIP shares occurs every twe years rather than

the customary 12-month cycde As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed
number the realised value 1s purely reflective of delivery against performance
measures and any share price growth over this perod keeping it aligned

to shareholders mnterests

It should be noted that total remuneration for 2013 includes vesting of the
one-off additional LTIP award of 300,000 shares made in 207 at the time

of the possible News Corporation bid The average annual total remuneration
paid to the Group CEQ over this six-year period excluding this one-off award
15 £9108 859

Annual LTIP

Bonus vesting
payout rates cip
Sengle against against vesting rates
figure maximum maximum against maxmum
of total opportunity opportunity opportunity
Year remuneration % % %
2015 16 889 249 100 93 100
204 48795902 100 nfa 100
2013 170269823 975 100 100
2012 4550037 100 nfa 100
20m 11133554 100 83 nia
2010_ 2678744 100 ____nNha n/a

1 Includes valuation of LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2015 and CIP matching shares
due to vest on 28 August 2015 both using the average share price over the period
1April to 30 June 2015 of £105%
Includes valuation of CIP matching shares which vested on 30 August 2014 with share
price of £8 82 Previously reparted using the average share price over the penad
1April to 30 June 2014 of E8 818
3 Indudes vesting of the ane-off additional LTIP award of 300 000 shares made in

2011 at the time of the possible News Corporation bid
4 indudes first year of vesting of CIPintroduced 1n 2010

n

Percentage change in Group CEQ's remuneration 1 July 2014 to 30 June
2015

The table below shows the percentage change in Group CEO remuneration
from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 compared to the average change for all
employees

Group CEQ %
change All employees % change
Base Salary' 2 5% 3 5% employees earning less than
£30 000 2 5% above E30000
Taxable Benefits 3%% 0%
Annual Bonus 25% 1%

1 Empioyees were awarded up to 10% for outstanding performance promations and
market adjustments

Relative importance of pay spend
The table below shows total employee costs and dividend payments to
shareholders for 2014 and 2015

zna 2015
(Em) (£em)
Total employee costs 1044 1334
Dradend payments 485 549

1 Group totalincluding Germany and Italy

Disclosure of Performance Targets for 2013

The Committee has discussed at length its approach ta disclosure of
performance targets Whilst maintaining its position that early disclosure
of targets would be carnmeraially detnmental because of the highly
competitive nature of the market in which it operates it considers that
perfermance targets for the 2013 annual bonus and for the Long Term
Incentive Flan that vested in that year are no longer commercially sensitive

In settng the targets the Committee gave careful consideration to the
business plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the time
The targets and performance for the 2013 annual bonus are shown in the
table below

201213
Performance vs
Performance Metric Target Performance Target
Paid-for Products Growth +275m +2563m 93%
Operating Profit £1300m £1330m 102%
Operating Cash Flow £1275m £1396m 109%

On the basis of this performance the Committee determined that the
bonus was paid at 97 5% of maximum for the Group CEO and 96 7% for the
Group CFO

The Long Term Investment Plan that vested in 2013 for the 2010-2013
parformance pernod was based on three equally weighted operaticnal
performance measures of average EPS growth Operating Cash Flow
and Revenue Growth Each was considered by the Committee tobe

a key indicator ofSky s continued success-TSR wasnotincduded as

a performance measure for that particular award due to the possible
News Corporation (subsequently renamed 21st Century Fox inc ) tid
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Remuneration of the Chairrman and Non-Executive Directors

The table below summarises the key components of remuneration for our Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Element and purpose

Operation

Fees

Reflect indmdual responstbilities and membership of Board
Committees Attract Non-Executive Directors with the skills and
experience required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard to independent adwice and
surveys

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
determines the fees paid to the Chairman taking into account
the complexity of the role and the time and commitment required
The Beard of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Directors

Additional fees for membership of or chairmanship of a
commuttes, or for other responsibilities, are payabte in addition
to the basic fees Fee levels for 2015 are disclosed in the table
on page 62

Non-Executive Directors can elect to recerve a portion of their
fees in the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Directors who are deemed to be affilated with 21st Century
Fox are not permitted to take part in this faclity Non-Executive
Directors interests are disclosed in the table on page 6C

Benefits

Additional benefits may be prowvided for business purposes
eg prowision of a car to travel to/from meetings

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to join Sky s pension plan

uodal 28nens

3IBPWIBA0G

Non-Executive Directors are ehgible to receive a Sky subscription
package

Bonus and
Share Plans

Non-Executive Directors are not ehgible to participate in any
bonus or share scheme offered by the Company

Notice and
termination
provisions

Each Non-Executive Director's appomntment is for an imtsal
three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Gavernance
Code all Directors submit themselves for annual reappointment

Mon-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment

these appointments may be terminated without notice

Any fees payable would be settled at the date of terrmination

No continuing payment of fees are due if a Non-Executre Director
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Clarke

Charmanof Remuneration Commuttee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 the Corporate governance
repert on pages 40 to 50 and information contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directors’ report and are incorporated by reference

The Directors present their report together with the audited conselidated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Cindends

The Directers recommend a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 50 pence per ordinary share which together with the interim dividend
of 12 30 pence paid to shareholders on 21 April 2015 will make a total
dwidend for the year of 3280 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the finat dividend will be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appearning on the register at the close of busingss

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s 1ssued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2015 compnsed
one class of ordinary shares All of the issued ardinary shares are fully
paid and rank equally in all respects Further details of the Company s
share capital and share issues under the period under review are
disdosed 0 note 25 to the consolidated finanaial statements

Interests in voting rights

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the UKListing
AQthority's Disclosure and Transparency Rules'('DTRs"y 15publhished
on a Regulatery Information Service and on the Company’s website
As at 30 tune 2015 the Company had been notified under DTRS of
the fellowing significant holdings of voting nights inits shares

Percent

Amount of class

identity of person or group owned notified
21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139° 3914
BlackRock Inc ? 88682765 506

1 Direct helding which (s subject to restrictions on its vating nghts (please see Voung
nghts batow).

2 Indirect holding

3 Mumber of shares held as at 30 June 2015

There have been no changes to the above sigrificant holdings between
1 July and 28 July 2015

The Employee Share Ownership Plan ( ESOP ) was established to sausfy
awards made to participants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have wawed the night to dvidends payable

i respect of the shares held by it except to the extent of 0 6001% of
the dvdend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the ESOP had an
interest in 14 805 780 of the Company’s ordmary shares The Trustees
who are independent of the Company have full discretion on how they
vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

Vating rights

The Company s Articles of Association provide that subject to any rights
or restricuions attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he is a holder

On a poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authorised representative

Ashareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appoint one or more proxtes to attend and vote instead of um Ifa member
appoints more than one proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each proxy Is entitled to exercise nghts over A proxy need not bea
sharehclder of the Company Helders of the Company s erdinary shares do
not have cumulative voting rights A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered into between the Company BSkyB Holdco Ing,

21st Century Fox and 21st Century Fax UK Nominees Lirnited which became
unconditional on 4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Limited s voting nghts at any general meeting at 3719% The provisions of
the voting agreemenit cease to apply on the first to occur of a number of
crcumstances which include the date on which a general offer 1s made

by an independent person {as defined in the voting agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of securities
There are no specfic restrictions on the transfer of securities in the
Company which 1s governed by the Articles of Association and prevaiing
legislation noris the Compary aware of any agreements between holders
of secunties that may result in restrictions on the transfer of secunties
or.that may result in restrctions on voting nghts,

Vanation of rights

Subyect to the Companies Act 2006 rights attached to any class of shares
may be vaned with the consent inwriting of the holders of three-quarters
in nominal value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a specal reselution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came into effect in November 2014 which
require a premium listed company which has one or mere controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 1s intended to ensure
that any controlling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
in the Listing Rules.

21st Century Fox Inc (21CF ) and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries
directly orindirectly exercise or control 3914% of the voting nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders For
the purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a relationship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 2014 {the Relationship Agreement ) containing
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

In accordance with the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review thatis from 13 November 2014 to 30 June 2015

(1 the Company has complied with the independence previsions in
the Relationsiup Agreement

(ny so far as the Company s aware, 21CF and its associates have complied
with the independence provisions in the Relationship Agreement and

() so faras the Company is aware, 21CF has procured compliance by 1ts
relevant subsidianes and their associates with the independence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement
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Cutstanding share awards Jeremy Darroch {audited)
Share price Market  Date from
At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2014 dunngyear duringyear durngyear 2015 award exercise exercisable Expiry date
LTIP'S
260712 600000 - - - 600000 E7065 n/a 260715 260720
260713 600000 - - - 600000 £822 n/a 260715 260720 g
CIP Matching?34® &
270809 204425 - 204 425 - 0 £5405 £8 5877 270812 270877 g
3108102 183935 - 183935 - o] £7075 £8B 5877 310813 310818 ©
300811 207729 207729 207729 - Q £646 £8 81 300814 300819
280812 184149 - - - 184,149 £764 na 280815 280820
280813 162794 - - - 162794 £8 47 nfa 280816 280821
Sharesave
250509 3591 3591 3591 - C £433 £9 555 010215 010815
Qutstanding share awards Andrew Griffith (audited)
Share price Market Datefrom
At 30 June Vested  Exerased Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2014 duringyear duringyear duningyear 2015 award exercise exercisable Expiry date
LTIP S
260712 320000 - - - 320000 £7065 nfa 26 0715 260720
260713 320000 - - - 320000 Eg22 n/a 260715 260720
CIP Matching 234%
3008117 95793 95793 95793 - 0 £646 £Egs 3 300814 300819 ey
280812 84713 - - - 84713 £764 nfa 280815 2B0820 g
280813 74249 = - - 74245 £ (] 280815 280821 E_:
Sharesave - - a
16091 1771 1771 1771 ~ O £508 £9 555 010215 30815 i
1 Performance condibons relating to LTIP awards made in 2012 and 2013 are disclosed in the 2013 Annual Report g
2 Theshares were exercised and subsequently sold on 1 September 2014 {the Awards granted in 2011) and on 23 October 2014 (the Awards grantedn 200% and 2010) &
The aggregate vatue receved by the Executive Directors on exerase of thew 2009 2010 and 20% QP Matching Awards before tax was £E6009147
3 Dvdends are payable en shares purchased through the CIP During the year the Executive Directors received £8172578 (2014 £82168 60)
4 Performance conditions relating to CIP matehing awards can be found on page 56
5 Following the vesting of awards participants continuing to be employed by the Company have five yéars te exercse ther award
v
=
@
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{continued)

Single Figure for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Divectors

The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for the Charrman and Non-Executive Directers for the financial year ended
30 June 2015 and the prior year ended 30 June 2014

2015 Total 2014 Total

Fees' Fees
Nrck Ferguson 473934 462375
Chase Carey 61500 60000
Tracy Clarke 106500 G5160
Dawid DeVoe 61500 60000
Dave Lewis 91500 90000
Martin Gilbert? 127513 105000
Adine Grate* 80859 66987
Andy Higginson? 61042 145000
James Murdoch 96 500 95000
Matthieu Pigasse 71500 70000
Danny Rimer 61500 77769
Arthur Siskind 71500 70000
Andy Sukawaty 71500 70000

1 Basic fees were increased by 2 5% with effect from 1 July 2014

Andy Higginson retired at the AGM on 21 November 2014

Martin Gilbert replaced Andy Higginson as Sentor independent Director and member of the Governance and Nominations Committee following Andy s retirement at the AGM
on 21 November 2014

4 Adine Grate was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee replacing Martin Gilbert wath effect from 25 July 2014

w o

Fees for the Chairman and base Non-Executive Director fees were increased by 2 5% effective 1 July 2015 as detaled in the table below

1 July 1July
2015 2014~

£ £

Chairman (all inclusive fee) 485782 473934

Deputy Chawrman! 30000 30000

Board member 63000 51500
Additional responsibilities

Sentor Independent Director 40000 40000

Chairman of Committee 25000 25000

Member of Committee 10000 10000

1 The role of Deputy Chairman 1s not required to be filled at this present tme

Payments to past Directors and loss of office

There were no payments made to past directors and no payments made for loss of office during the financal year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 1s committed to engaging with shareholders and every year engages with mzjor shareholders and nstitutionai Investor groups to
talk about remuneration This enables the Company to take shareholders views fully mto account when making decisions about remuneration
At the AGM hald on 21 November 2014 92 97% voted in favour of the Remuneration Policy and 86 23% of sharehotders voted in favour of the
Directors Report on Remuneration

Resolution Votas For % For Votes Against % Against TotalVotesCast  Votes Withheld
Approval of the Remuneration Policy 1313682688 9297 G9 341288 703 1413023976 13646452
Approval of the Remuneration Report 996 564 957 8623 156084 662 1377 1155649619 271020809

The Committee has sought the views of major shareholders since then and has made a number of important changes to its approach to transparency and
disclesure of performance targets as set out in the Chairman s statement on page 51
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Membership of the Committee
During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee chaired by Tracy Clarke met five umes Nick Fergusen Adine Grate and Andy Sukawaty are members
of the Committee Attendance durnng the year is shown on page 42 Marun Gilbert stepped dawn from the Committee on 24 July 2074 and Adine Grate
was appointed in his place with effect from 25 July 2014
Role of the Committee o
o
The role of the Committee Is to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company (s able torecruit, retain and motivate its Executives and reward 5
theirindividual contributions in a fair and responsible manner The Committee reviews the design and structure of employee incentives and 1s responsible &
for approving the key terms of employment for the Executive Directors or any senior executive who reports directly to the Group CEC The full terms of ﬁ
reference for the Committee are avallable on the Company s carporate website The terms of reference were reviewed during the year as part of the
normal corporate review process and no material changes were made
Committee activities during the year
The table below shows a summary of the key areas discussed by the Committee during the financial year
July 2074 November 2014 danuary 2015 April 2018 June 2015
Performance outcomes for  Performance update - Perfarmance update - Performance update - Performance update -
bonus LTIP and CIP bonus, LTIP and CIP bonus LTIP and CIP bonus LTIP and CIP bonus LTIP and CIP
Target setting for 2014115 Update on reporting season  Rewview Committee Terms of  Benchmarking for Executive  Policy review on 2015
Rewview and approve Sharehatder feedback and Reference Directors g;reg:?rs Remuneration
remuneration for Executive  proxy voting guidance Update an reporting season P
Directors and Senior Review position on
Management disclosure of performance -
3
Review and approve targets %
Directors Remuneration o
[}
Report &
Update on meetings with 3
shareholders voting 3
adwvisary services ®
Adwvisars to the Committee
Towers Watson acted as independent advisors to the Committee throughout the year The Committee is satisfied that the advice It receives on Executive
Directors remuneration 1s Independent and objective Terms of reference are momtored throughout the appointment Towers Watson subscribes to the
Remuneration Consultants Group s Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration The Code dlanifies the scope and conduct of the role of
remuneration consultantswhen advising UK isted companies The fees paid to Towers Watson for their services in relation to directors pay totalled
£161804 During the year Towers Watson alse provided Sky with adwvice on penston within its reward strategy and the operation of its pension and related
benefit provistons
The Group CEO and the Director for Pecple prowide information and advice and attend meetings as required The Committee is also supparted by the
Company Secretary Finance and Human Resources functions Ne individuals are imvolved in the deaisionin relation to their own remuneration u
o
a
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2
a
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3
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Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

Thus section describes the Threctors Remuneration Policy that was approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM and which the Cormsmuttee intends will be
effective until the 2017 AGM The Policy table 1s reproduced in full below For ease of reading some subsequent sub-sections including remuneration on
recruitment or appomtment to the Board and payments on termination and loss of office have been smitted but may be referred to in the 2014 Annual
Report pages 60-66 available on our website at sky com/icorporatefinvestors/annual-report-2014

Remuneration Principles

There are five key principles which underpin the remuneration palicy for our Executive Directors

+ Qur approach to executive pay 1s aligned to the interests of our shareholders

« We reward our pecple fairly and competitively to attract motivate and retain the skills we need ta deliver significant growth

- The level of base pay s decided i the same way as for all employees based on indmidual performance and experience the size and scope of the role
and taking account of total remuneration

+ The majority of executive pay 15 tied to the achievement of stretching performance goals inked te the strategic prionities for the business Executive
Directors will be well rewarded only If they meet or exceed the maximum performance standards set and achieve stretching levels of performance

« We take care to ensure that remuneration does not inadvertently encourage inappropriate rsk taking

Our principles set the foundation for our remuneration policy and ensure that decisions made by the Committee are consistent and appropnate in the
context of business prionties shareholder interests and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The table below shows how our remuneration pelicy inks to our business strategy and 1ts terms of operation Any contractual commitments entered into
or awards made before the policy came into effect or a person became a director will be honoured

Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportumty Performance ink

Base salary Attracts and retains Reviewed annually, typically Any increase will be in ling with Indwiddual and business
- Executive Directors taking = wath effect from 1Uuly——-——"thase provided toemployees—performancens taken mto
account of personal within the Company account when reviewing
contnbution and size Salary s set relatively low versus salaries
af role the peer group of comparnies Higher increases may be made
of similar market capitalisation as aresult of achange inrale
to the Company or responsibility or other
erformance-based
The Committee looks at pay Elrcumstance
practices in selected
international media companies This 1s.1n hne with our pohcy
Deasions on salary also take into for all employees
account the performance and
expenence of the Individuat,
changes in the size and scope
of the role and the level of salary
awards across the business
Pension Provides opportunity for Executive Directars may recewe Employer contributions to the NJA

longer-term saving and/or
retsrement provision

employer contnbuticns into the
Sky Pension Scheme acash
supplement in heu of pension
or a combination thereof

All payments are made as
a percentage of base salary

pension scheme or an equivalent
cash supplement are around 16%
of base salary
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Purpose and hink to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance ink

Other benefits

Provides Executive
Directors with arange of
core and fringe benefits as
part of a competitive total
rermuneration package

Executrve Drrectors are enbitied
to arange of benefits mduding,
but not mited to private medical
insurance life assurance il health
income protection paid holiday,
sick pay Sky subscnption package
company car allowance and use
of a company car generally

for business travel purposes

The Committee may make rminor
changes to benefits or incude
other benefits that are deemed
appropriate from time to time

Relocation allowances and
benefits may be provided
where needed to assist with
the relocation or internaticnal
transfer of an Executive
Director and therr dependents

Benefits provided to Executive
Cirectors are broadly in line with
those offered to all employees
Where exceptions are made

the Committee ensures that
benefits offered are inline

with market practice for similar
roles in similar organisations

NIA

Annual bonus

Drives and rewards the
delivery of stretching
annual performance goals
aligned with the
Company's overall

business strategy

Performance measures and
welghtings are reviewed at the
start of each year to take
account of current business
plans Stretching performance

The maximum bonus
opportunity is 200% of base
salary and 1s payable for the
achievement of stretch
aobjectives

Performance 1s assessed
against a combination of
operational and financial
abjectives which are
cetermined at the start

targetsareserannually

Performance aganst targets

15 monitored quarterty and
determined annually based

on assessment of performance
versus each target

Payment s made only once
annual results have been audited

In exceptional circumstances the
Committee will use its judgement
to adjust bonus outcomes ugp or
down to ensure aignment of pay
with performance and with
shareholder interests, within the
policy maximum

The minimurn payment 1s zero

The Committee believes the
concept of threshold target and
MAaxImum COmpromises our drive
for growth so we set one clear
and ambitious streteh target
for each performance measure
every year The achigvement

of stretch goals will result in

a payout at maximum or
near-maximum The Committee
exercises its judgement on

the level of bonus payable for
outcomes short of maximum

of theyear

of 40%

Implementation Repaort

Co-Investment
Plan (CiP)

Encourages personal
investment and
shareholder alignment
rewards leng-term focus
and perfarmance
achievement

Executive Birectors may invest
up to half of ther earned annual
bonus in the Company s shares

These mvestment shares are
matched on a gross basis and
vest based on performance over
a three-year period Shares are
matched by up to 15 shares for
every 1 share invested in line
with performance

Once vested participants may
exerctse the awards during
a five-year peried

Participation in the planis
voluntary

The maximum annual award
15150% of base salary

Nomatching awards are capable
of vesting If performance 1s
below threshold a1 for1 match
may vest when the rmimimum

of the range 1s met and all the
shares vest (or 15 shares for
every share invested) when the
maximum of the range 1s met

such as EPS growth

Further details on the
performance criteria for
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The weighting of the measures %
1sdetermined at the start 3
(1]
of each year but each measure a
will have a maximum weighting
Further details are disclosed
n the notes to the policy table
and the Annual Remuneration
The performance measure to %
determine the vesting of the ol
shares s chosen each year and E
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threshold and maximurm
vesting are disclosed in
the Annual Remuneration
Implementation Report
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Directors’ remuneration report -

Our Remuneration Policy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance link

(contmnued)

Purpose and hink to strategy
tong Term Rewards lenger-term value
Incentive Plan creation and ahgns

(LTIP} Executive Directors
interests with those of
shareholders

Awards are made annually
unider the terms of the scheme
rules based on number of
shares This de-links the award
from increasing automatically
with salary adjustments

Vesting of awards 15 based on
stretching performance over a
three-year pertod Awards are
made in Year 1 and in Year 2 with
vesting of both awards at the
end of Year 3 This means that
vesting of awards occurs every
other year with zero vesting
inbetween

Once vested participants
may exercise the awards durning
a five-year penod

ininstances of gross misconduct

all unvested LTIP awards lapse
immediately

This year the company has
introduced a policy on malus
The Committee may useits

The Committee reviews the
number of shares to be granted
annually A typical award for
the Group CEQ 15 600 000
shares in any 12-month periad

The maximum award levelis
600000 shares in any 12-month
period Such awards will anly

be made in exceptional
circumstances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance critena are
met in full If the mimimum of
the range 1s met each year
for ali measures 26% of

the shares vest

Parformance measures are
typically a mix of operationat
measures and relative TSR

Operational measures used
In the past have included EPS
operating cash flow and
revenue growth

The weighting of the measures
may vary but s typically 70%
operational measures and 30%
relative TSR

diSCretion af tér Faving taken
independent advice to withhold

orvary downwards any unvested

awards typicalty in the event of

the matenal restatement
of the Company s audited
results or

.

actions attnbutable to
partiopants resulting in
matenal reputational
damage to the bustness

The Committee will determine
how to apply this sanction on
a case-by-case basis

Around 650 employees are eligible for awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan A smaller number of employees (around 130) are also invited to
participate in the Co-Investment Plan All employees are eligible to receive a comprehensive benefits package and the majority are eligible to receve
either a monthly or quarterly ¢ash incentive or an annual bonus
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Shareholder alignment

The Committee considers shareholders views as they are receved
duning the year at the AGM through shareholder meetings and through
correspondence

We will continue to engage with our major shareholders and welcome
feedback at any time Should we propose to make any major changes
to the remuneration structure we will seek the views of our major
shareholders in advance

The context for setting executive remuneration pelicy

The prinaples underlying our executive remuneration policy are aligned

to those that underpin reward for our employees as a whole whichaim to
attract motivate and retain people by offering a market-competitive totat
remuneration package The Committee takes into consideration the pay
and conditions of all employees when determining the remuneration for
the Executive Directors It does not consult with employees in this process

Our performance measures and how they operate

Executive pay remains firmly tied to the achievement of stretching
perfarmance goals inked to business strategy The measures we use are
based on the specfic areas of our business that dnve grawth and returns
to shareholders We believe the concept of a threshold target and maximum
formula would compromise our drive for growth so we set one clear and
ambitious streteh target for each performance measure every year

Annual bonus
The performance measures for the annual bonus are determined by the
committee basedon the business-prionties for-theyear-They are typically

Governance

Pay scenano analysis {(updated for 2015)

The charts below provide an estimate of the awards that could be receved
by our Executve Directors under the remuneration policy effective from
the 2014 AGM showing

+ Minmum base salary as at 1July 2015 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 57 (fired pay)

Mzsurmum fixed pay plus maximum awards for annual bonus
(200% of base salary for the Group CEO and 150% for the Group CFG)

Co-Investment Plan {maximum deferral of 50% of the annual bonus into
investment shares and full vesting of 15x matching shares) and Long
Term Incentive Plan (600 Q0 shares for the Group CEO and 350 000
shares for the Group CFO)

The Committee sets one clear and ambitious stretch target for each
performance measure If stretch targets are met then 100% of maximum for
the bonus 1s pard and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP will vest i
full There s no additional payment for achievemnent over the stretch goals

Awards under the LTIP are made annually but vesting occurs only every two
years The impact of thus vesting cycle on actual realised pay 1s shown in the
six year single figure remuneration table for the Group CEQ on page 58

Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ

a mix of operational and financial performance measures The measures
are usually a combination of operating profit operating cash flow anda
measure of product growth They are all key indicators of the underiying
performance of the business Each year stretch objectives are set in the
Iight of the Company s annual business plan and the operating
environment

Co-Investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Perfarmance measures for the LTIP and CIP are reviewed annually to ensure
alignment with the Company § strategy and shareholders interests The
CIP measure 1s typically compound EPS growth in excess of RPI over the
performance penod which ensures clese alignment with our shareholders
interests Performance required for threshold and maximum vesting are
descnibed in the Annual Remuneration Implermentation Report on page 53

The LTIP measures are typically a mix of operational measures and relative
TSR performance with a 70/30 split The operational measures are usually
EPS growth aperating cash flow and revenue growth As the conversion of
profit to cash flow 15 a key indicator of the underlying performance of the
business it s used as a measure In both the annual bonus and the LTIP

Our LTIP vesting cycle 1s atypical and has served the business and
shareholders well since it was introduced in 2005 Vesting occurs only every
other year and as a consequence the amount of remuneration delivered to
Executive Directors will spike every other year This approach encourages
focus on the longer term The performance ranges for each measure are
reviewed annually in the light of the Company s three-year plan, brokers
farecasts and historical performance Performance at the top end of the
range s stretching

Andrew Gnffith, Group CFO

Scenarios are modelled assuming a share price of £10 59 which s the
average share price over the peried 1 April to 30 June 2015 with no
allowance for share price appreciation
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our Remuneration Policy

(continued)

Other share schemes

Management Long Term Incentive Plan (MLTIP)

The Company alsc operates a MLTIP for selected employees excluding the
Executive Directors and senior executives who participate in the LTIP
Awards under this scheme are made at the discretron of the Group CEQ
within tha parameters agreed by the Committee The MLTIP mirrors the LTIP
In design tin order to ensure alignment between participants in either plan

Executive Share Option Schemes (Executive Schemes)

The Company has in place Approved and Unapproved Executive Share
Option Schemes No options have been granted since 2004 and no options
are outstanding at 30 tune 2015 We do not envisage making any future
awards as part of these schemes

Sharesave S5cheme

The Sharesave Scheme is open ta UK and Insh employees and encourages
them to make a long-term investment in the Company s shares In a tax
efficent way The current legisiation provides for employees to save up to
£500 per month Currently the hmit for Sky employees 1s £250 per manth
although the Company may decide to adjust this amount in future Options
are normally exercisable after either three or five years from the date of
grant The price at which options are offered is not less than 80% of the
middle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of
invitation or the average of the three days preceding the date of invitation
It 1s the policy of the Company to Invite employees to participate in the
scheme following the announcement; of the year-end resufts Currently
approximately 10 000 employees partiapate in these schemes Itis
anticapated that employees in Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha will be imvited
to participate in similar unapproved schemes during 2015

How the Remuneration Committee exercises discretion
The Committee retains discretion relauing to annual bonus LTIP and
CIP tn hne with their rules and according to the remuneration policy

These include but are not imited to
« Timing of a grant of an award/payment

+ %Size of an awardfbonus payment up to the maximums indicated
in the policy table

+ Determination of vesting and the application of malus for the LTIP

Dealing with a change of control

Determination of treatment of leavers based on the rules of the plan
and the feaver pelicy

Annua! review of performance measures and weighting and targets
of the plan from year to year

Any use of discretion within the policy framework will be explained

in the Annual Remuneration Implementation Report. There may

be exceptional circumstances under which the Committee may use
discretion or judgement 1n the interests of the business and shareholders
These exceptional circumstances may be the subject of discussion

with the Company s major srlareholders

External appaintments

External appointments for Executive Directers are considered by the
Companys Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee to ensure
they would not cause a conflict of interest and are then approved by

Shareholding guidelines and share ownership

The Committee recognises the importance of aligning Executive Directors
and shareholders interests through executives buikling up a sigmificant
shareholding in the Company The shareholding requirements are 3x base
salary for the Group CEO and 2x base salary for the Group CFO Executive
Directors are required to butld up therr shareholding to the required levels
within five years There are no shareholding guidelines for independent
Non-Executive Directors but they are able to participate in a monthly share
purchase plan See page 60 for further details on Directors Interests

the Thairman on behalf of the Bdard 1418 the Carfipany § palicy that
remuneration earned from such appointments may be retained by
the individual

Jeremy Darroch became a Non-Executive Director of Burberry Group ple
in February 2014 and serves as a member of therr audit remuneration
and nomnations cornmittees For the peried 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015
Jeremy earned E800C0C In this role

Andrew Griffith became a Non-Executive Director of Just Eat ple in March
2014 and serves as semor independent director chairman of the audit
committee and as a member of the remuneration and nominations
committees For the period 1July 2014 to 30 June 2015 Andrew earned
£60 000 in this role
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Governance

The table below summarises the key components of remuneration for our Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Element and purpose

Operation

Fees

Reflect individual responsibilittes and membership of 8aard
Committees Attract Non-Executive Directors with the skills and
expenence required to aversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chawrman and the Nan-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard to independent adwvice and
surveys

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
deterrmines the fees paid to the Chairman taking into account
the complexity of the role and the time and commitment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Directors

Additional fees for membership of or charrmanship of a
committee or for other responsibiities are payable in addition
to the basic fees Fee levels far 2015 are disclosed in the table
on paga 62

Non-Executive Directors can elect to receve a portion of their
feesin the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Directors whe are deemed to be affiliated with 21st Century
Fox are not permitted to take part in this facility Nen-Executive
Directors interests are disclosed in the table on page 60

Benefits

Additional benefits may be prowided for business purposes
eg provision of a car to travel to/from meetings

Non-Exacutive Directors are not eligible to join Sky s pension plan

wodas wE01eNsg
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Non-Executive Directors are ehgible to recewve a Sky subscription
package

Bonus and
Share Plans

Nan-Executive Birectors are not ehgrble to participate in any
bonus or share scheme offered by the Company

Notice and
termination
provisions

Each Non-Executive Director s appointment s for an witial
three-year term In accordance with the UK Carporate Governance
Code all Directors submit themselves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment

these appointments may be terminated without notice

Any fees payable would be settled at the date of termination

No continuing payment of fees are due If a Non-Executive Director
1s not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Baard of Directors on 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Clarke

Charrman of Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 the Corporate governance
report on pages 40 to 50 and infermation contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directors report and are incorporated by reference

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dividends

The Drrectars recommend a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 50 pence per ordinary share which together wath the interim diwvidend
of 12 30 pence paid to shareholders on 21 April 2015 will make a total
dimidend for the year of 32 BO pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the final dividend will be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the close of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s issued crdinary share capital at 30 June 2015 comprised
one class of ordinary shares All of the 1Issued ordinary shares are fully
patd and rank equally in ali respects Further details of the Company s
share capital and share 1ssues under the period under review are
disclosed in note 25 1o the consolidated financial statements

Interests n voting nghts
information provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing

Voting nghts

The Company s Articles of Association prowde that subject to any rights
arrestrictions attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which heis a holder

On apoll votes may e given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authorised representative

A shareholder enutled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of him If a member
appoints more than ane proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each proxy 15 entitled to exercise nghts over Aproxy need notbea
shareholder of the Company Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do
not have cumulatve voting rights A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered into between the Company BSkyB Holdgo Inc

21st Century Fox and 21st Century Fox UK Nomnees Limited which became
unconditional on 4 Novemnber 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Norminees
Limited s voting rights at any general meeting at 3719% The provisions of
the voting agreement cease to apply on the first to accur of a number of
circumstances which include the date on which a general offer 1s made

by an independent persan (as defined In the voting agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no specfic restrictions on the transfer of securities in the
Company which is governed by the Articles of Association and prevailing
legislation nar s the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of securities that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities

Authority s Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs ) is published
on a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company s website
As at 30 June 2015 the Company had been notified under DTRS of

the following significant holdings of voting rights inits shares

Percent

Amount of class

Identity of person or group awned neufied
215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139* 3914
BlackRock, Inc ? 83682765 506

1 Direct holding which 1s subject to restrctions onits voting nghts {please see Voting
rights below)

2 Indirect holding

3 Number of shares held as at 30 June 2015

There have heen no changes to the above significant holdings between
1 July and 28 July 2015

The Empioyee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP ) was established to satisfy
awards made to partiaipants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have waved the nght to dnvadends payable

in respect of the shares held by it except to the extent of 0 0001% of
the dividend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the ESOP had an
interest in 14 805780 of the Company s ordinary shares The Trustees
who are independent of the Company have full discretion on how they
vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

or that may result i restrichions on voting rights

Vanation of rights

Subject to the Compantes Act 2006 rights attached to any ciass of shares
may be varied with the consent inwriting of the holders of three-quarters
in nomunal value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of
aspeoal resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came into effect in Noverber 2014 which
require a premium listed company which has one or more controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 1s intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the ndependence provisions
in the Listing Rules

21st Century Fox Ine (21CF ) and certam of its wholly owned substdiaries
directly or indirectly exercise or control 3914% of the voting rights of the
Company and are therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders for
the purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a relationship agreament with
21CF on 13 November 2014 (the Relationship Agreement } containing
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

Inaccordance with the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review thats from 13 November 2014 ta 30 June 2015

() the Company has complied with the independence provisions in
the Relationship Agreement

(n} sofarasthe Companyisaware 21CF andits associates have complied
with the ndependence provisions in the Relationship Agreement, and

(m) so far as the Company 1s aware 21CF has procured compliance by its
relevant subsidiaries and therr associates with the independence
provisions In the Relationship Agreement
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Durectors’ powers in relation to the Company

1ssuing and buying back its ownshares

Following the previous share buy-back programmes approved at the 2011
and 2012 AGM s at the Company s 2013 AGM, the Company was granted

the authonty ta return £500 million of capital to shareholders via a further
share buy-back programme ( the 2013 Authonty ) The authority was subject
to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Limited (and others) dated 25 July 2013 whereby following any market
purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox would sell to the
Company sufficient shares to maintainits percentage shareholding at the
same level prior to those market purchases Following the announcement
of the acquisitions of Sky ttalia and the majerity holding of Sky Deutschland
the buy-back ceased on 25 July 2014 No purchases were made by the
Company under the 2013 Authonty during the year The 2013 autharity
expired at the 2014 AGM and was not renewed

At the 2014 AGM the Directors were given authenty to allot ordinary
shares up to a maximum nominal amount of £286 502 871 representing
approximately 33% of the Company s then issued ordinary share capital
(the Allotment. Authority) The Directers were additionally empowered
to allot ordinary shares for cash pursuant to the Allotment Authority
on a non-pre-emptive basis (8) tn connection with a nghts 1ssue or open
offer and {b) (otherwise than i connection with a rights issue or open
offery up to a maximum nominal value of £42 975430 representing 5%
of the Company s then 1ssued share capital

Articles of association
The Company s Articles of Association may only be amended by special

Governance

Alternate Directors

A Director may appoint any other Director or any cther persen to act as

his Alternate An Aiternate Director shalt be entitled to recewe notice of
and attend meetings of the Directors and committees of Directors of which
his appointer 1s a member and not able to attend The Alternate Director
shall be entitled to vote at such meetings and generally perform all the
functions of his appointer as a Director in his absence

On the resignation of the appointer for any reason the Alternate Director
shall cease to be an Alternate Director The appointer may also remove
his Alternate Director by notice to the Company Secretary signed by

the appointer revoking the appointment

An Alternate Director shall not be entitled to fees for his service as an
Alternate Director

Chase Carey Dawvid Devoe Arthur Siskind and James Murdoch have
appointed each of the others to act as their Alternate Director

Employees

Equal opportunitias

The Company Is an equal oppoertunities employer and believes that
everyone should have full and fair consideration for all vacancies
promotions training and development Should an employee become
disabled during their employment at Sky where possible the Company
will actively retran and adjust the environment to allow them to maximise
the empiloyee s potential

Diversity.

wodm 283185
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resolution at @ general meeting of Sharetidlders

Annual General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Company s 2015 AGM s detailed in the notice
corvening the AGM which will be available for download from the Company s
corporate website at sky com/corporate

Board of Directors

Board of Directors and their interests

The Directors who served dunng the yearwere Nick Ferguson Jeremy
Darroch Andrew Gniffith Chase Carey Tracy Ctarke David DeVoe Matthieu
Pigasse Martin Gilbert Adine Grate Andy Higginson Dave Lewis James
Murdoch Danny Rimer Arthur Siskind and Andy Sukawaty Andy Higginson
retired after not seeking reappomtment at the Annual General Meeting on
21 November 2014 The biographtcal details of the Directors of the
Company can be found on pages 38 and 39

The Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares and options of the Company
are disclosed within the Directors remuneration report on pages 53 to 69

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The Directors may from time to time appoint one or mare Directors Any
such Director shall hold office only until the next AGM and shall then be
ehgible for reappaintment by the Company s shareholders At the

Company $ 2015 AGM all current Executive and Non-Executive Directors will
retire and offer themselves for reappointrment in compliance with the Code
with the exception of Dawid DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind who
have deaded not to seek reappomtment this year and will step down from
the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the AGM 1t is
intended that John Nallen CFG of 21st Century Fox will be appointed by the
Board as aNon-Executive Director

The Company treats all people equally farly with respect and without
prejudice Deaisions about people s employment with the Company are
based on ability qualifications and performance This princsple also applies
when the Company makes decisions about develapment, promotion

pay and benefits

The Company delivers some of the most diverse content and services
avallable to a wide range of consumers and it values the same diversity
within the business and promotes a culture of opparturity for all
regardless of background The Company does not tolerate unfair treatment
or discrimination at work based on ethnucity gender age religion disability
or sexual onentation

We are currently focusing on Women in Leadership as we believe gender
balanced teams create better business outcomes in order Lo meet the
needs and wants of our consumers more effectively

As at 30 June 2015 the table below demonstrates diversity throughout
the Group

Male Fernale
Board of Directors'? 12 86% 2 14%
Sentor managers'? 278 76% 86  24%
All employees?? 17881  65% 9562 35%

1 Asdefined inthe Lompanies Act 2006

2 2014/15data)s independently assured by Deloitte LLP and can be viewad online at
sky comvbiggerpicture

3 Based on full-time equivatent employees from continuing operations and excluding
people who work for our joint ventures
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(continued)

Employee involvement

We want all our people to feel involved and engaged in our husiness
Therefore we need to know what our people are thinking and how they
feal about weorking for Sky This s our key indicator and we measure this
through our people survey which we run twice a year The engagement
scores are for the UK enly as they are not currently comparable to the
wider European orgamsation

We continue to experience high levels of participation in our people survey
averaging 78% across the two surveys this year We benchmark aur results
externally using data from Aon Hewitt so that we can compare our
performance against other large UX companies

This year we have implemented a new engagement index which allows
us to further pinpont the key elements of life at Sky that really make a
difference to how our employees feel about our Company Therefore the
score has been calculated differently Qur averall employee engagement
score i 59% which represents ahigh level of engagement and continues
to outperform the external benchrmark of 48%

The employee engagement score 1s made up of results from questions
about whether our people support our strategy understand how their
work contributes to It, are willing to go the extra mile to help us succeed
and whether they would recommend Sky as a geod place to work

Responsible business

Our commitment to act responsibly in alt we do 1s integral to the culture we
have at Sky (see the Employee section above) Qur high ethical social and
ervironmental standards set out what people can expect of us and the

We are committed to upholding the principles of human nghts This

15 particularty important at Sky in managing the soaal ethical and
enviranmental impacts of our supply chain and in the way we treat our
people and our customers We do not have a speafic human nghts policy
as this commitment 1s reflected through Sky's Ways of Working in the UK
and lreland our Code of Conduct and across a range of policies relevant
to these areas This includes pur pobcles relating to environment data
protection and child safety

Our commitmenit to respect and uphold human rights is also conveyed
through cur Responsible Sourcing Policy Qur approach to responsible
sourcing s in line with the Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights (or Ruggte framework)

Environment and Greenhouse gas emissions

To date our environment strategy as a UK business has been threefold

to reduce our carbon footprnt to make our products more sustainable
and to use our position as a leading media and communications ¢company
to raise awareness and drive positive change on environmental 1Issues
amongst our business partners and to INspire action amMongst our
customers through Sky Rainforest Rescue

Through Sky Rainforest Rescue our six-year partnership with WWF we have
reached our target of helping to save one billion trees in the Amazon
rainforest. We have raised over £9 millien exceeding our target of £8 mrllicn
of which Sky has match-fisnded £4 million On the ground in our project
area in Acre in Brazil 1500 farmers have signed up to our sustainable
farming scheme helping make the forest worth mare alive than dead

And in the UK and Ireland 73 milion people have a greater awareness

standards we expect from our business partners

Customers

50 that our customers can all have the same great experience of Sky

were ensuring child safety and accessibility elements are induded in

new product offenings in kne with government and regulator expectations
across our markets as well as consumer demand And because we
understand the risk £o our customers and our business should there be
abreach of data we are expanding on the existing approaches to data
protection and privacy In each territory to put in place a comprehensive
group-wide approach

Responsible sourcing and Human rights

We are committed to bullding productive fair and ethical relationships with
our supghers and distributors relatroniships on which so much of the
success of our business relies We expect alf our business partners to
deliver a high-quabty serwice and provide good value For money, as well as
to behave ethically and comply with relevant envirornmental and social laws
and regulations including labour standards and practices These are set
out in our Responsible Sourcing Policy which 1s available on our website

We are currently working to roll out this policy across the Group expanding
on what s already in place in Germany and Italy In the UK all of the suppliers
we spend more than £100 000 with per year are assessed for inherent
social environmental and ethical nsk' and we work with those that are
deemed high risk to conduct audits and set out action plans for addressing
issues that are flagged such as working hours or health and safety We are
now expanding this approach to risk assessment night across the Group

1 Excluding one-off suppliers Independently assured by Deloitte LLP for 201415

of deforestation as a result of our Innovative communications on-screen
programming. and experiential activiies Over the next three years

we will be working strategically with WWF to continue to raise awarenass
of environmental 1ssuegs

In the UK and ireland we continue to ensure all of the products returned
to us are reused or recycled and we are working closely with our suppliers
to help them reduce their environmenta!l impacts

We have been reporting on our environmental performance since 2008
well ahead of the mandatory disclosures of greenhousge gas emissions
under the Companies Act 2006 Introduced in 2013 We have reduced

our emissions relative to revenue (tCO e/Em) across 5ky s UK and Insh
territories by 38% since 2008 meaning we are on track to meet our target
of halving cur emissions relative to revenue (tCO,e/Em) by 2020 In addition
despite significant growth as a business we are mamntaining a reduction in
absolute carbon emissions against our 2008 baseline (see table opposite)}

With the continued development of our new West London campus our
new buildings and our leased builldings were both still operational cver
the 201415 year It was therefore challenging to keep our energy use and
carbon emissions lower than in the year before However as our new
buildings are BREEAM Excellent and have a number of smart, sustainable
initiatves we expect to see energy demand reduce in the future We also
caontinue to exceed the Industry benchmark for the energy-efficiency

of our Data Centres which will help us manage energy demand as our
business needs Increase We remain committed to our long-term
investments for example in renewable energy and are explonng ways
to further complement our existing on-site solar wind biomass and
Combined Cooling and Heating Plant energy generation
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Sky UX & Ireland Progress against target to halve our carbon emissions relative to revenue
2008/09
Target (Baselne) 200910 2010Mm 2011112 201213 2013h4 201415
Gross absolute emissions (tCOze) * M 105839 108817 107294 94617 92968 S4420 99724
Scopel 20322 23465 23098 20939 20429 20633 22361
Scope 2 85517 85352 84196 73677 72539 73787 77363
Carbon intensity (tCO,elEmy? 207 1919 163 139 128 124 128 @
Reductionin gross absolute CO,e emissions relative to revenue (%) -50 [y} -8 -21 -33 -38 -40 -38 B
1 Histoncaldata has been re-baselned to reflect change in vehicle fuel emission factors as weil as to include Jaint Ventures {where ownership »51%) international officessbureaus §
Trarung Centres and significant sites associated with Sky Home Services A
2 Independently assured by Detostte LLP
We are now rolling out our UK environment strategy across Europe starting with reporting on our Group emissions (see table below) aswell as working
on a set of Group erwvironment targets for 2015416 These will reflect qur progress to reduce our carbon intensity in the UK and kreland and will build on
the investments already made in Germany and Italy to increase energy-efficiency measures such as LED highting and distnet heating, engage employees
and reduce product waste
Sky group-wide carbon emissions and carbon intensity 201415
UK & Germany
Sky Group treland & Austna’ Italy’
Gross absolute carbon emissions (tCO, ey 23
Scope 1 27145 22361 27119 2665
Fuel combustion (gas diesel generators, fuel o1t vehicles)
Diesel 668 607 1 60
Fuel Q> 54 n/a 54 nla
Gas 4502 4344 nfa 158 )
Vehicle Fuel 21,226 16933 2064 2229 2
Operation of facilities (refrigerants) a—’_
Refrigerants 695 477 [s] 218 g
Scope 2 101674 77363 3248 21063 %
Purchased district heating net® 184 “nla nz 72 L]
Purchased district heating gross 485 nia 413 72 G
Purchased electricity net? 38649 15572 2086 20991
Purchased electricity gross 101187 77361 2835 209N
Purchased steam 2 2 nla n/a
Total (Scope 1and 2) net CO,e (1CO,€) 65980 37,935 4317 23728
Total (Scope 1and 2) gross COze (t{0,€) 128 818 99,724 5,367 23728
Joint Ventures® 138 138 nfa nfa
Carbon Intensity®
Revenue (Em) 1283 7820 1377 2086
Carbon intensity (tCO,e/Em revenue) 142 1275 390 1n37 w
1 Emissions are for the full financial year (1 July 2074 - 30 June 2315) including the penod prior Lo acquisition g
2 Wameasureour CO,e emussiong according to the Greenhause Gas Protocol the global standard for reporting greenhouse gas enissions Our totalgross £O.e emissions include g
alldirect Greenhouse Gas emissions and our net emissions include the energy that we do not procure from a renewable energy source Cur net emisstons are those remaining after a
deducting the renewable energy procured from a renewabie energy tanff with Scottish and Seuthern Energy Group Scottish and Southern retain onour behalf the Levy Exemption 8
Ceruficates and Renewable Energy Guarantee of Ongin {(REGOSs) In addition, we offset our tatal gross emissiens through the purchase of Voluntary Carbon Standard offsets gn
3 Our CQ,eemissions data s independently assured by Deloitte LLP More infarmation about our envivonmental targets and performance can be found at skycom/emaronment a
4 Historcal data 1s recalculated each year in ine with the latest guidelines to Defra/DECC s Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporting and restated accordingly )
5 Fuel Od only used for heating by Sky in Germany 9
5]

Sky does not purchase any disteict heating as it generates 1ts own heat from an onsite biomass plant

o~

Jont ventures are enterprises of business where Sky s the majority sharehotder {>50%)

Sky in Italy does not purchase electnicity from a renewable electricity tariff and so there is no difference between their gross and net emissions

District heating (s e heat obtained from a cogeneration plant) can be used as an alternative source of heat to gas Skyin Germany and italy purchase distnct heating In the UK
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Other disclosures

Contracts of Significance
The following agreements are contracts of significance in accordance with
Listing Rule 9 8 4(10)

0On 25 July 2014 the Compary (and certain of its subsidianes) entered into
various agreements with 21st Century Fox (and ¢ertain of its subsicharies)
to effect the acquisition the entire 1ssued and to beissued corporate
capuital of Sky Itaha Srl (the Sky (talia Acquisition ) for £2 Q6 billion (subject
toworking capital adjustments) with the consideration betng partially
settled by the disposal of the Company s indirect 21% stake i National
Geographic Channe! International to certam of 21st Century Fox s wholly
owned subsidiaries { Naticnal Geographic Channel Transfer ) at a value

of US$650 million The sale and purchase agreement for the Sky Italia
Acquisition cantained customary warranties covenants and indemnities
including certan Indemnities relating to tax and other matters as well as
certain commitments not to retal certain services to consumers incertan
terntones until 1 January 2017 The sale and purchase agreement for the
National Geograptue Channel Transfer contained customary warranties

as to title and ownership and various commitments and undertakings
not to compete with the business of the National Geographic Channel
international until 1 January 2017

Also on 25 July 2014 as part of the acqusition of Sky Deutschland the
Company (and certain of its subsidraries) entered into varous agreements
with 21st Century Fox (and certain of its subsidianes) to effect the
acquesition of 2ist Century Fox s entire shareholding (approximately 57 4%)

in Sky Deutschland AG a German stock corporation isted on the Frankfurt

Stock Exchange for £2 9 bition (the-Sky Deutschiand Acquisitron yand
the related voluntary cash offer to all Sky Deutschland AG shareholders
subject to certain conditions (the Sky Deutschland Offer ) The sale

and purchase agreement for the Sky Deutschland Acquisition contained
customary warranties as to title and ownership as well as certain
commitments not to offer certam services to consumers in certan
terntones until 1 January 2017

The Company undertock a placing of ordinary shares to part-fund the

consideration for the Sky itaha Acquisition the Sky Deutschland Acguisitron

and the Sky Deutschland Offer and 21st Century Fox enterad into an
agreement with the Company to subscribe for approxmately 611 miltion

ordinary shares so as to maintam 1ts then-existing percentage shareholding

in the Company following comptetion of the placing

significant agreements

The followng significant agreements which were in force at 30 June 2015
take effect alter or terminate on a change of control of the Company
fallowing a takeover bid

Premier League

In 2012 Sky UK Limited (a Group subs:diary) entered into an agreement
{the 2012 PL Lrcence”) with The Football Association Premier League
Limited (the PL) pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of seven
avallable packages of {ive audio-visual nights for Premier League football
(the seven packages are together the Live Packages ) together consisting
of 116 Iive matches per season The PLwill not award Live Packages
contaimng in the aggregate more than 116 five matches per seasontoa
single hcensee (either on 1ts own or as part of a consertium or through cne
or more of its related parties) (the PL Single Buyer Rule } Pursuant to the
2012 PL Licence the PL cansuspend and/or terminate all of the nghts which
are ncluded in or exereisable as part of Live Packages containing in the
aggregate up to 38 live matches per season in the event that a change of
control of the Company occurs at any time prior to the expiry of the 2012 PL
Licence which 1f it had occurred prior to the award of the Live Packages

to the Group would have resulted in a breach of the PL Single Buyer Rule

In 2015 Sky UK Limited entered into a further agreement (the 2015 PL
Licence Y with the PL, pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
seven avallable Live Packages together consisting of 126 live matches per
season The PL will not award Live Packages containing In aggregate more
than 126 lve matches per season to a single icensee (either on its own or
as part of a consortium or through one or more related parttes) (the 2015
Single Buyer Rule ) Pursuant to the 2015 PL Licence the PL can suspend
andior terminate all of the rights which are included in or exercisable as
part of Live Packages contaiming in the aggregate up to 42 hve matches per
season In the event that a change of controf of the Company occurs at any
time prior to the expiry of the 2015 PL Licence which if it had occurred prior
to the award efthe Live Packages to the Group-would have resultedin a
breach of the 2015 Single Buyer Rule

DFL Contract/Bundesliga Rights

n April 2012 Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG entered into

an agreement with the Deutsche Football Liga in relation to the exclusive
right to broadcast all matches of the Bundesliga (1 Bundeshga 306
Matches and 2 Bundeshga 306 matches) for the seasons 2013/14-2016017
across all distribution means (the Bundesliga Agreement ) The Bundeshiga
Agreement may be terminated on a change of control

Sene A

In2014 further to an invitation to offer (the 15O ) Sky Italia Sri entered
Into an agreement (the Sene ALicence )with Lega Nazionale Professionist
Serie A (the Lega) pursuant to which Sky Italia Srf was awarded one of
four avatlable packages of ive audic-visual rights for the Italian Sene

A football championship for the seasons 2015/16-201718 (the four
packages are together the 'Live Packages ) 'n addition Sky Itaha Srlhas
been granted a second package through a sublicence agreement entered
into with Mediaset Premium These two packages consist of all the 380

live matches per season but do not grant rights across all distribution
platforms Pursuant to the relevant provision inthe 1ISO Legawill not award
all of the Live Packages for all platforms to a single icensee (either on its
own or through one or more of ts related parties) (the Sene A Single Buyer
Rule ) As a consequence the Lega could suspend and/or terminate one

or more of the nghts which are iIncluded in the package asstgned to

Sky Itaha Srl in the event that a change of control occurs at any time

prior to the expiry of the Sene A Licence which f it had occurred pricr

to the award of the Live Packages would have resulted in a breach of

the Sene A Single Buyer Rule
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21st Century Fox voting agreement

On 21 September 2005 the Company BSkyB Holdco Inc., 21st Century
Fox UK Nominees Limited and 215t Cantury Fox entered into a voting
agreement pursuant towhich 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited s
voting rights at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the Voung
Agreement ) The provisions of the Voting Agreement cease to apply
inter alia on a change of control of the Company

Revolving Credht Facility

The Group has a £1 000000 000 syndicated multicurrency revolving

credit facility (RCF ) with a matunity date of 30 November 2020 In the event
of a change of cantrol of the Company as a result of which both S&P and
Moody s dawngrade the Company's credit rating below investment grade
within 90 days the lenders can require any amounts outstanding under

the RCF to be repaid (other than in the event that 21st Century Fox or any
subsidiary or holding company thereof (or a subsichary of such holding
company) acquires such control)

GMTHN Programme bondssue

On 3 April 2007 the certain Group entities established a eure medium-
term note programme which provides the Group with a standardised
documentation platform to allow for senwor debt issuancen the
Eurcbond markets On 7 February 2014 the programme was updated

and expanded to become a global mediim-term note programme

(the GMTN Programme } The GMTN Programme was updated in

June 2015 The maximum potential issuance under the GMTN Programme
15 £5 bilion On 14 May 2007 the Cornpany Issited bonds under the GMTN
Programme (then known as an EMTN programme) conststng of £300 million
guaranteed notes paying 6 000% interest and matunng on 14 May 2027

Govermnance

EMTN Programme bond 1ssue

On 5 September 2014 certam Group entities also established a £10 biltion
EMTN programme (the EMTN Programme } which provides the Groupwith
a standardised documentation ptatform to allow for senior debtissuance
n the Eurobond markets In September 2014 the Company issued (1) €1500
million 1 500% guaranteed notes due 2021 and (i) €1000 mullion 2 500%
guaranteed notes due 2026 In November 2014 the Company tssued (1)
€850 million 1875% guaranteed notes due 2023 (n) £450 milon 2 875%
guaranteed notes due 2020 (i) £300 million 4 300% guaranteed notes
due 2029 and (w) €400 milion 2 750% guaranteed notes due 2029 In Apnil
2015 the Company issued €600 milkon floating rate guaranteed notes due
2020 (together the Notes) Pursuant to the condittons of the Notes the
Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase the Notes
at the relevant pnnapal amousnt plus interest up to the date of redemption
if there 1s a change of control of the Company or the announcement of a
potential change of control (1) which if the Notes carry an investment grade
credit rating results ina downgrade to a nen-investment grade rating ora
withdrawal of thatrating or (n) where (f the Notes carry a non-investment
grade rating results in a downgrade by ane or more notches or awithdrawal
of that non-investment grade rating or (i) where f the Notes do not
carry a credit rating, the Company does not seek such arating oris

unable to achieve such arating prowided that in each case the decision to
downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit rating occurs within a certain
period of ime after the change of control and the relevant rating agency
ates that such decsion(s) resulted from the change of control er the
announcement of the potential change of control

(the 2007 Notes ) Pursuant to the final terms attachung to the 2007

Notes the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or
purchase the 2007 Notes at (ts pnncipal amount plus interest up to the
date of redempbian ar repurchasef there s a change of control of the
Company () which if the 2007 Notes carry an investment grade credit
rating, results in a downgrade to a non-investment grade rating or a
withdrawal of that rating or (i) where «f the 2007 Notes carry a non-
investment grade rating results in a downgrade by ane or more notches or
awthdrawal of that non-investment grade rating or () where if the 2007
Notes do not carry acredit rating the Company does not seek such arating
or 15 unable to achieve such a rating provided that in each case the decision
to downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit rating occurs withina
certamn penod of time after the change of control and the relevant rating
agency cites that such deaision(s) resulted from the change of control
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(conunued)

Qctober 2005 February 2008 November 2008 Novernber 2012 and
September 2014 bond 1ssues

In October 2005 certain Group entrties entered into an indenture in
respect of US$750 000 000 5 625% senior unsecured notes due 2015
Li5$350,000,000 & 300% senior unsecured notes due 2035 and

E400 000 000 5750% senior unsecured notes due 2017 (the 2005
Indenture Y In February 2008 certain Group entities entered into an
indenture i respect of US$750 milion 6 100% senior unsecured notes due
2018 (the February 2008 Indenture ) and in Nevember 2008 certain Group
entities entered Into an indenture i respect of US$600 milion 9 500%
senior unsecured notes due 2018 (as amended and supplemented from
ume to ime the November 2008 indenture ) tn November 2012 the
parties to the November 2008 indenture entered into a supplemental
indenture in respect of a further 1ssuance of U5$800 million 3125% senior
unsecured notes due November 2022 The November 2008 Indenture was
further amended and supplemented in September 2014 with the parties
thereto entenng into a supplemental indenture in respect of a further
issiance of US$750 000 000 2 625% sentor unsecured notes due 2019

and Us$1 250 000 000 3 750% semor unsecured notes due 2024 Pursuant
to the February 2008 Indenture and the November 2008 Indenture

the Compary will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase its
securities at a price equal to 101% of their principal amount plus accrued
and unpaid interest up to the date of redemption or repurchase If there

1s a change of control or the announcement of a potential change of control
of the Company (1) which if the securities carry an investment grade

credit rating results in a downgrade to a nen-investment grade rating

or awithdrawal of that rating or (u) which if the secunties carry a non-
investment grade rating results in a downgrade by one or more notches

German broadcasting licences

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG s party to a number of
broadcasting hcences issued by the State Media Authonties BLM
{Bayerische Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien) and MaRSH (Medtenanstalt
Hamburg Schleswig-Holstein) for its inear Sky Channels The Interstate
Treaty on Broadcasting (as amended on 15 April 2015) sets out a number
of requirements For the icensees of broadcasting licences and providers
of non-linear telemedia services Licensees have an ongang obligation

to comply with these requirements Faillure by a icensee to do so may
constitute a breach of the icence and if not rectified could resultin fines
or In the revocation of the icence The State Media Authorities also have
aduty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that any person
holding a broadcasting licence 1s fit and proper to held those licences

and may revoke those kcences if it ceases to be so satisfied Any change
in the ownership structure including but not mited to an interest change
exceeding the threshold of 5% in the shareholder structure of the licensee
has to be netifted to and approved by the authorities

Italian broadcasting icences

In accordance with the Italian regulatory system, the transfer of control
of a company such as Sky Italia which s classified as an audiovisual media
service provider IS subject to an authorisation by the Italian Regulatory
Authority which 1s aimed at verifying the honourability of the directors
and nationality Public admurustrations public entities state-owned
companies banks and financial nstitutions are prohibited from being
given such authonsatan in relation to audiovisual media service providers

Disclosures required under Listing Rule 98 4R

or a withdrawal of that non-investment grade rating or (i) where if the
securities do not carry a credit rating the Company does net seek such a
rating or 15 tnable to achieve aninvestment grade rating provided thatin
each case the decision to downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit
rating occurs within a certain period of time after the change of control
and the relevant rating agency cites that such decision(s) resulted from the
change of control or the announcement of a potential change of controi

UK broadeasting licences

Sky UK Limited 15 party to a number of Gfcom broadcasting icences for
the broadcast of the Sky Channels The Broadcasting Act 1990 (as amended
by the Broadeasting Act 1996 and the Communications Act) lays down

a numnber of restricions on those parties perrmitted to hold Ofcom
broadcasting licences Among those restnicted from holding Ofcom
broadcasting hicences or from controlling a kicensed cornpany are (a)

local authorities (b) political bodies () religicus bodies (d) any company
controlled by any of the prevtous categones or by their officers or
associates (€) advertising agencies or any company controlled by such
an agency or inwhich it helds more than a 5% interest Licensees have an
ongeing obligation to comply with these ownership restrictions Failure
by alicensee to do so (either by the licensee becoming a disqualified
person or any change affecting the nature charactenstics or control of
the licensee which would have precluded the original grant of the licence)
may constitute a breach of the hicence and if not rectified could result in
revacatian of the hicence

Ofcom alse has a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be sausfied that
any person holding a broadcasting licence ts Fit and proper to hold those
ticences and may revoke those hicences if it ceases to be so satisfied

For the purposes of [R 984T the information required to be disclosed
by Listing Rufe S 8 4R can be located as set out below

information regquired Page
(1) Amount of Interest capitalised and tax relief 98 (Note 4)
(2) Publication of unaudited financal infarmation nfa
(4) Details of long-term incentive schemes 51-69
(5) Waiver of emoluments by a director nfa
(6) Wawver of future emoluments by a director nla
(7) Non pre-emptive 1ssues of equity far cash nfa
(8) item (7} relation to major subsichary undertakings nfa
{9) Parent participation in a placing by a listed subsidiary n/a
(10) Contracts of significance 74
(1) Provision of services by a controlling shareholder nia
(12) Shareholder warers of dividends 70
(13) Shareholder waivers of future dividends 70
(14) Agreements with controlling shareholders 70

Financial instruments

Details of the Group s use of financial INstruments together with
information on cur finanoal nsk management objectves and polinies
and our exposure to financial risks can be found in note 22 to the
consoldated financial statemands
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Politizal contributions
Palitical contnbutions of the Group during 2035 amounted to nil (2014 nil}

Branches
The Group through various substdiaries has established branches in
a number of different Jurisdictions in which the business operates

Post balance sheet events
Details can be found in the Financial review on page 31

Going concern

The Groups business activities togetherwith the factors likely to affect its
future development performance and position are set out in the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 37 The financal position of the Group 1ts cash flows
and iguidity position are described in the Finanaal review on pages 28 to
31 Inaddition notes 1to 34 to the consohdated financal statements
mnclude details of the Groups treasury actiabies long-term funding
arrangements financal instruments and hedging activities and exposure
to financial sk

As set out above the Group has suffictent financial resources which
together with internally generated cash flows will continue te provide
sufficient sources of kquidity to fund its current operations Including its
contractual and commeraal commitments as set out iInnote 28 on pages
123 and 124 1ts approved capital expenditure and any proposed dividends
and the Group 1s well placed to manage its business risks successfully
despite the current economic outlook

After making enquines the Directors have formed the judgement at the

Governance
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ume of approving the consolidated financial statements that there s
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue In operational extstence for the foreseeable future For this
reason, the Directors continue to adept the going concern basis in
preparing the consolidated financial statements

Disclosure of information to auditors

In accardance with the provisions of section 418 of the Comparnies Act
2006 each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date
of approval of this report confirms that

+ sofar as the Director s aware there IS no relevant audit informatwon
(as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the Company's auditor
15 unaware and

« the Director has taken all the steps that he/she cught to have taken as a
Director to make himselffherseif aware of any relevant audit information
(as defined) and to establish that the Company s auditor 1s aware of that
infarmation

Auditors

Deloitte LLP the auditors of the Company have expressed their willingness
to continue In office A resolution to reappoint them as the Company s
auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration
will be praposed at the forthcoming AGM

By order of the Board
‘____’—--"" _/
Chris Taylor ( { &,
Company Secretary
28 Juiy 2015

Sky plc
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__ safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for_taking reasenable
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Financial statements.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsibie for preparing the Annual Report and the
finanaal statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year Under that law the Directors are required to prepare
the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
and Article 4 of the JAS Regulation and have also chosen to prepare the
parent Company financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by the EU
Under Company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless
they are satisfied that they gve a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that pericd
In preparing these finanaial statements International Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Directors

+ properly select and apply accounting policies

»+ present information including accounting policies 1na manner that
provides relevant reliable comparable and understandable
information

- prowide additional disclosures when comphance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are :nsufficient to enable users te understand
the impact of particular transactions other events and conditions
on the entity s finanaal position and financial performance and

« make an assessment of the Company s ability to continue as a going
concern

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficent to show and explain the Company s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the finanaial position of
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for

Directors responsibility statement
The Directors confirm that to the best of ther knowledge

1 The financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union give a true and fair view of the assets
habihities financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidatson taken as a whole

2 The strategic report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whale together
with a deserption of the principal nsks and uncertainties that they
face and

3 The Annual Report and financial statements taken as a whole arefarr

balanced and understandable and prowvide the information necessary
shareholders to assess the Company s perform, - #
migdel and strategy

B r e
e arroc

IpC xecutive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer
28liuly 2015 28 Juty 2015

steps for the preventicn and detection of fraud and other irregulanities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
carporate and financial information ncluded on the Company s website
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissermination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other junscictions
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Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Sky plc

Opinion on the finanaal statements of Sky ple
I aur opinion the consolidated and Parent Company financial
statements of Sky plc

* give atrue and fair view of the state of the Group s and Parent
Companys affairs as at 30 June 2015 and of their profit for the
year then ended

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with international Finanial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Urion and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation as regards
the consclidated financial statements

The consohdated financial statements comprise the consolidated and
company Income statements the conselidated and company statements
‘®f comprehensive income the consolidated and company balance !
sheets the consofidated and company cash flow statements the
consolidated and company statements of changes in equity and the
related notes 1to 34 The hinancial reperting framework that has been
apphed in ther preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted

by the European Union

Our assessment of risks significant to our audit

Separate opinton In relation to IFRSs as 1ssued by the [ASB

As explained In note 1to the consolidated financial statements in
addition to complying with 1ts legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union the Group has also apphed IFRSs as 1ssued by
the fnternational Accounting Standards Board (IASB}

in our opinion the consolidated financal statements comply with IFRSs
as issued by the IASB
Going Concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Directors
statement on page 77 that the Group 1$ a going concern We confirm that

+ we have concluded the Director s use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements i1s
appropriate and

+ we have not identified matenal uncertamties related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group s ability
to continue as a going concern

However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted
this statement 1s not a guarantee as to the Group s ability to continue
as a going concern

Therisks of matenial misstatement described below are those that had the greatest effect on the audit strategy the allocation of resourdes in the audit
and directing the efforts of the engagement team During the year the Company acquired Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia introducing new audit nisks and
addiuonal complexity to the audit However since the operating model and business operations of the acquired entities are similar to those of the UK

business the audit nsks are similac.to those previously identified and reported on_in this year of acquisition, we aiso facused an the accounting forthe

business combinations and the alignment of accounting palicies across the Group

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Revenue recognition

Sky retails subscription packages to customers which include multsple
elements and may include discounts and offers for example TV
subscription hardware and telephony services sold for a single package
price The allocation of retaill subscrnption revenue to each element of a
bundled transactron 1s complex and requires Judgement, as described in
the Group s cnitical accounting polictes on page 93 There 1s a risk that
inappropriate allocations could lead to non-compliance with accounting
standards and incorrect acceleration or deferral of revenue princepally
for new customers who may enter a contract of one to two years
duration which may include hardware or installation at discounted prices
up frant

We evaluated the group’s revenue recognition policy and management s
current year assessment in respect of accounting for bundled
transactions against relevant accounting standards and guidance

We tested the pelicy s implementation in each territory by

« performing tests to confirm our understanding of the process by
which revenue 1s calculated by the relevant billing systems

performing an assessment of the different product bundles and offers
made avallable to custemers in the year and confirming the farr value
of different elements of these packages to appropriate evidence of
farrvalue

assessing whether revenue should be accelerated or deferred based
on the refative fair value of elements delivered at different points
duning the contract when compared to the revenue caleulated by the
relevant billing system and

where differences arose between the revenue calculated by the biling
system and the revenue recognition profile calculated in accordance
with the Group s revenue recognition poficy we audited the valuation
accuracy and completeness of thase adjustments recognised to align
revenue recognised with the Group s accounting policy
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(continued)

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Entertainment programming amartisation

Determiring the timing and amount of the recogniuan of general
entertainment programming expense requires judgement as set
out In the Group s cntical accounting pohicies on page 93

There s a nisk that the policy selected and applied by management
to expense general entertainment programming does net recognise
the cost of inventory inline with its expected value to the group
Entertainment programming expense involves more judgement
than other programming types due to the number of qualtative
factors involved in the selection and application of an appropriate
expense profile

The level of expendtture on general entertainment programming varies
in each territory and our procedures focused on entertainment spend
in the UK and Italy which are significant to the group

We examined the method for expensing general entertainment
programming inventery taking into account the differing genres
of programmes any significant changes to viewng profiles and
industry benchmarks

Qur procedures included

» benchmarking management s policy against industry practice

considering the consistency of amortisation profiles applied year
onyear

testing the design and implementation of controls over the recogmtion
and expensing of general entertainment programming and

« comparng the expense profile determined by management against
that which would be indicated by viewing trends (used as a proxy
for value frem broadcast)

Capital expenditure

In the UK spending on capital projects is material and the assessment
and timing of whether assets meet the capitahisation critena set out

I lAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets
requires jJudgement as set out In the Group s cnitical accounting policies
on page 93 In additicn determining whether there s any indication

of impatrment of the carrying value of assets being developed also
requires jJudgement

As aresult there s a nisk that expenditure onintangible and tangible
non=current assets in the UK business s inappropriatety capitaised
against relevant accounting gurdance and that assets not yet inuse
are not recoverable at their carrying value

Qur procedures performed in the UK included

= Tests of the design implementation and operating effectiveness
of controls in respect of the capitalisation of assets and the
identification of potentiat indicators of iImpairment

Sample tests of capital expenditure projects including an examination
of management s assessment as to whether the project spend

met the recognition criteria set forth in JAS 16 Property Plant and
Equipment and IAS 38 Intapgible Assets and reviewing project

status reports for the Group s most significant projects to check
for indicators of iImpairment and

« For a sample of capital projects we developed an understanding
of the business case and challenged key assumptions and estimates
venifying capital project authorisation tracing project costs to
appropriate evidence
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Acquisition accounting and alignment of accounting policies

As descnbed in note 31the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of
Sky Itaha and 89 05% of Sky Deutschland on 12 November 2014 for total
consideration of £6 866 million Accounting for business combinations
15 complex and requires the recognition of both consideration pad and
acquired assets and Labilities at the acqurisition date at fair values
which can involve significant judgement and estimates o

In addition accounting policies of the acquired entities must be aligned
to the group s accounting policies which may invohve sigruficant
Judgement and astimates

In particular the risks relating to these business combinations are that

t The consideration used in the purchase price allocation may not
berecorded at fair value given that the consideration paid to Fox
(arelated party) included the value of Sky plc s stake in the National
Geographic Business

2 That the complexity and selection of Input assumptions used in the
valuation af mtangible assets recognised on acquisition may result
n the recognetion of intangible assets not representative of fair value,

3 That hustorical tax losses in Sky Deutschland may not be recoverable
and

4 That the accounting policy aignment of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia
to Sky plc s accounting pelicies 1s not complete

Contrals relevant to the acquisition

We tested the design and implementation of oversight controls over
key outputs of the group’s acquisition accounting. including controls
over the consideration of accounting treatments for new or complex
areas the oversight exercised by group finance over the harmontsation
of accounting policies and the newly mplemented controls over the
group consohdation

1 Farr valuation of consideration
Our procedures included the following

+ Tests of the cash value of consideration to relevant transaction
agreements and bank documentation and

+ Auditing the valuation of Sky plcs stake in Natonal Geographice
by assessing the expert valuations obtained by management and
using our own valuation speciabists to ¢challenge the key assumptions

2 Valuation of acquired intangible assets
Our procedures included the following

= An assessment of the process that management had undertaken to
determine the fair value of the acquired intangible assets including
understanding the scope of work, qualifications and independernce
of the valuation specialists engaged by Sky pic and

Auditing the valuations prepared by management and their experts
Inciuding

- Assessing the key valuation assumptions using aur own valuation
specialists

- Validating and challenging key iInputs and data used i the

vatuation model such as customer numbers-ARPYand churn
assumptions by reference to historic data

3 Sky Deutschland historical tax losses
Qur procedures included utilsing our tax specialists in the UK
and Germany to audit the estimate of tax losses avatlable in Sky
Deutschland and assessing the judgement involved inrecognising
the refated deferred tax asset.

4 Accounting policy alignment
Qur procedures included

+ Consideratron of the material accounting policies of the acquired
entities the completeness of management s own analysis of the
accounting policy differences

Plannming and directing the component auditors of Sky Deutschland
and Sky ltalia to perform an audit of the balance sheet at the date
of acquisitien and

Auditing the valuatron of adjustments recorded where alignment
was required

The deseription of the nsks above should be read in conjunction with the significant 1ssues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on page 45
We reported to the Audit Commuittee that cur audit wark on these nsks was concluded satisfactonly

Qur audit pracedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole and not to express an
opinion on indmvicdual audit risks indmidual items or disclosures in the financial statements Qur opireon on the financial statements s not modified with
respect to any of the key nsks descnbed above and we do not express an opruon on these individual matters
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(continued)

Cur application of materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial
statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced

We use materialty in beth planning the scope of cur audit work and in
evaluating the results of our work The Groups acquisitions in the year
have not significantly changed the Group's adjusted profit before tax
and we determined audit matenality for the Group to be £5C million
(2014 £50 milhon)

We used profit before tax for our assessment of matertahity whichis
statutory profit before tax after remowving the impact of one-off items
such as profit on disposal of associates and avalable-for-sale
Investment, and transaction fees incurred in relation to the acquisitions
in the year Matenality represents 6% of this measure The Groups
adjusted profit before tax measure further excludes the impact of
amortisation of acquired intangible assets integration costs
restructuring costs derivatives not quahfying far hedge accounting and
the tax effect of these adjusting items (see note 10 for management s
definition and reconcibation to adjusted profit for further details)

Audit materiahty of £50 million represents approximately 5% ({2014 6%)
of the Group s adjusted profit 2% (2014 5%) of equity and 3% (2014 5%)
of statutory profit before taxation

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the
Commuttee all audit differences in excess of £25 million (2014

£25 million) as well as differences below that threshold thatin

our view warranted reportung on qualitative grounds We alsoreport
to the Audit Commuttee any significant disclosure matters that we
identify when assessing the overall presentation of the financial
statements We confirmed to the Audit Committee that we had

no significant disclosure matters to report

Matters an which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations recerved and accounting records
Under the Comparues Act 2006 we are required to report to you if
N our opINIon

« we have not receved all the information and explanations we require
for cur audit or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company or returns adequate for our audit have not been receved
from branches net wisited by us or

the Parent Company financial statements are not In agreement
with the accounting records and returns

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors remuneration

Under the Compamies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our
opinion certain disclosures of Directors remuneration have not been
made or the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited
1s not In agreement with the accounting records and returns We have
nathing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance Statement

Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company s comphance
with 10 provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code We have
nothtng to report ansing from our review

Qur duty to read other information in the Annual Report

Under the International Standards on Auditing (UK and treland) we are
requived to report to you If in our opinion information n the Annual
Reportis

+_materially iInconsistent with the nformation in the audited financial

An overview of the scope of our audit

Our group audit was scoped by obtamnmng an understanding of the Group
and its environment including group-wide cantrols and assessing the
risk of matenal misstatement at the group level Our audit scope focused
on the Groups UK and Ireland German and Austrian and ltaban
operations which were subject to a full scope audit for the year ended
30 June 2015 Qur audit scope encompasses all principal business units
of the Group and substantially all of the Groups assets revenue and
adjusted profit before tax The Group audit team directed supervised
and reviewed the work of the component auditors for Germany and
Austna and for ltaly which involved issuing detailed instructions holding
regular discussions with component audit teams making several visits to
each location during the period performing detailed file reviews and
attending local audit meetings with management Audit work completed
by component auditors was executed at levels of matenality apphcable
to each entity which were lower than group matenality

Cpinions on other matters prescnbed by the Companes Act 2006
In our opinton

+ the nformation given in the Strategic Repert and the Directors Report
for the financia! year for which the financial statements are preparedis
consistent with the financial statements and

+ the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited has been
properly prepared in accordance with the Compantes Act 2006

statements or

.

apparently matenally incorrect based on or matenally inconsistent
with ourknowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing
our audit, or

¢« gtherwise misleading

In particular we are required to consider whether we have identified any
Inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit and
the Directors statement that they consider the Annual Report Is fair
balanced and understandable and whether the Annual Report
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the
Audit Commuttee which we consider should have been disclosed We
confirm that we have not idenufied any such inconsistencies or
misleading statements
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Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditor

Responsibility of Directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors responsibilities set
outon page 78 the Directors are responsible for the adequacy of the
accounting records the preparation of the financial statements from
those records and for being satisfied that the financial statements give
a true and fair view

Auditor’s responsibility

Qur respansibility 15 to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and Internaticnal Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board s Ethical Standards for Auditors We also
comply with Intemational Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and treland).
Our audit methodology and tools aim to ensure that our quality control
procedures are effective understood and applied Our quality contrels
and systems include our dedicated professional standards review team
and independent partner reviews

Thes report 1s made solely to the Company s members as a body in
accordance wath Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Qur audit
waork has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to themin an auditor s
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company
and the Company s members as a body for our audit work for this report
or for the opinions we have formed

Finanoal statements

uodas xBatens

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves abtaining evidence about the amounts and disciosures
in the financiat statements sufficient 1o give reasonahle assurance that
the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement whether
caused by fraud or error This Includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Groups arcumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed the
reasonableness of sigrmificant accounting estimates made by the
Directors and the overall presentation of the financial statements

In addition, we read all the financial and non-finanaal information in
the Annual Report to identify matenal inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to identufy any informatton that s apparently
materally incorrect based on or matenally inconsistent with the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit

If we become awarqof any appare

inconsistencies we gonsider th lications for our report

William Touche g_} et
(Senor Statutory AdITST) nd on behalf of

Delaitte LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London
United Kingdormn

28 July 2015
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m £m
Continuing Operaticns
Revenue 2 9989 7450
Operating expense 2 [CLuTs] {6346
Operating profit 972 T 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 15 28 35
Investment income 4 8 26
Finance costs 4 (283) (140)
Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale-investments 5 452 -
Profit on disposal of associate <] 298 -
Profit before tax 7 1,516 1025
Taxation S (184) (205)
Profit For the year from continuing operations 1332 820
Discontinued Operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 3 620 45
Profit for the year 1952 865
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
Nan-controlling interests [©)] -
1952 865
Earnings per share from profit. for the year (in pence)
Basic
Continuing operations 10 791p 525p
Discontinued operations 10 367p 29p
Total 10 15 8p 554p
Diluted
Continuing operations T T 10 782p 520p
Discontinued operations 10 36 2p 29p
Total 10 N4 4p 549p
The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of this consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive ncome
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 2014
£m Em
Profit for the year 1952 865
Other comprehensive income
Amounts recognised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revatuation of available-for-sale investrments 36 104
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 276 {176)
Tax on cash flow hedges (57) 39
Exchange differences on translation of foretgn operattons net of net investment hedges (213) -
42 (33)
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement .
(Loss) gain on cash flow hedges o .. (7 137
Tax on cash flow hedges 37 . [€D)]
Transfer to iIncome statement on disposal of avallable-for-sale investment (see note 5) (492) ¢ -
Transfer to incorme statement on disposal of associate (38) -
(667) 106
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year {net of tax) {625) 73
Total comprehensive income for the year 1327 938
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
Equity sharehalders of the parent company 1345 938
Nan-controlling Interests (18) -
1327 938
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 30 June 2015
- 2015 2014
Notes tm £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 4160 1019
Intangble assets 13 ..-4084.. - 810
Property plant and equipment 14 1646 1088
Investmentsin joint ventures and associates 15 133 173
Availlable-for-sale investrnents 16 31 533 o
Deferred tax assets 7 175 3 3
Programme distribution nghts | 18 3 20 B
Trade and other recevables 19 86 7 ,?g
Dervative finanaial assets 23 453 195
10799 3876
Current assets
Irnventories 18 847 546
Trade and other receivables 19 1096 635
Current tax assets 8 -
Short-term deposits 23 1100 205
Cash and cash equivalents 23 1378 1082
Derwative financial assets 23 130 15
4 559 2573
Total assets 15 358 6,449
Current liabilities
Barrowings 22 494 1
Trade and other payables 20 3430 2286
Current tax iabilities 154 128 n
Provisions 21 103 48 é
Derwvative financial habiittes 23 23 46 i
4704 2519 &
Non-current labilities . %
Borrowings 22 7418 2658 3
Trade and other payables 20 54 56 i
Provisions 21 77 14
Cervative financial labihties 23 60 129
Deferred ax habilities 17 281 ]
7930 2858
Total habilities 12134 5377
Share capital 25 860 781
Share premwum 26 2704 1437
Reserves 26 (399) (1146)
Total equity attnibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 26 3165 1072
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests 59 -
Total habilities and equity 15 358 65449
ompanying notes are an integral part of thig, W
nsohdated financial statements of Sy é
Q
d of Directors on 28 T
Andrew Griffith 5
Group Chief Financial Officer g"
0
S
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(continued)

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes Em Em

Continuing operations
Cash flows from operating actities
Cash generated from operations 27 2080 1696
Interest recerved and dividends from available-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxation paid (219) (229)
Net cash from operating activities ) 1,870 1494
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends recesved from joint ventures and associates 25 32
Net funding to Joint ventures and associates o (&)
Praceeds on disposal of available-for-sale investment 546 -
Purchase of preperty plant and equipment (385) (238}
Purchase of intangible assets (357) (302)
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents purchased) (6340) (20)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (88) ()]
(Increase) decrease in short-term deposits (B0S) 300
Net cash used in Investing actrvities (7414) (241)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from borrowngs 5364 -
Repayment of borrowings (272) -
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (q[0)] (&3]
Proceeds from disposal of shares i Employee Share Ownerstup Plan { ESOP?) 10 H
Purchase of own shares for ESOP 2y (164)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - (266)
Issue of own shares 1346 -
Interest paid {246) (1373
Purchase of non-controlling interests (328) -
Dmdends pad to shareholders of the parent (549) (485}
Net cash from (used in) financing activiies 5303 {1045}
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements 6&7) -
Net {decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations {308) 208
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations 604 59
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginming of the year 1082 815
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1378 1082

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015
Attributable to equity sharehelders ef the parent company
Total
Available- share- Non-
Share Share ESOP Hedging  for-sale Other Retamned  holders  controlling Total
_ _ .capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserves  earmings equity  interests equity
£m £m Em £m £Em £m £m Em £m Em
At 1July 2013 797 1,437 (1473 i 351 439 (1,876) 1,012 - 1012
Profit for the year - - -~ - - - 865 865 - 865 o
Revaluation of avariable-for-sale investments - - - - 104 - - 04 - 104 %
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (39} - - - (39) - (39 é
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 8 - - - 8 - 8 §
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 3N 104 - 865 938 - 938
Share-based payment - - - - - (95) 93 - (93}
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - =] = - 9
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation 6) - - - - 16 (250) (250) - {250)
- Financial iability for close period purchases - - - - - - (59) (59) - =9
Dividends - - - - - - (485) (485) - (485)
At 30 June 2014 m 1437 (145 Q0 455 455 (1,891) 1,072 - 1,072
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1957 1957 5) 1952
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations net of net investment
hedges - - - - - (200) - (200) (13) (213)
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments - - - - 36 - - 36 - 36
Transfer to Income statement on disposal of
associate - - - - - (38) - 38 - (38)
Transfer to ncome statement on disposal of 3
avallable-for-sale investment (see note 5) - - - - 49 - - (492) - 4%82) %
Transfer on disposalof subsididries = = = = = (97) S7 = = = )
Recognition and transfer of cash fiow hedges - - - 102 - - - 102 - 102 E‘
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 20 - - - (20) - {20 ]
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 82 (456) (335) 2054 1,345 {18) 1327 g
Share-based payment - - 20 - - - 69 89 - 89 &
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - 1346 - 1346
Nan-controlling nterests ansing on purchase
of subsiciaries - - - - - - - - 19 191
Tax oniterns taken directly to equity - - - - - - 17 17 - 17
Share buy-back programme
- Reversal of financial kability for close pertod
purchases - - - - - - 59 59 - 59
Dmadends - - - - - - (549) (549) - {549)
Purchase of non-controlling interests - - - - - - (214) (214) (14) (328)
At 30 June 2015 860 2704 (125) 62 M 120 (455) 365 59 3224
For a descriphion of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note 26
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity u%
g
g,,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Sky plc (the Company formerly British Sky Broadcasting Group pic)
15 a public imited company incorporated in the United Kingdom (UK}
and registered in England and Wales The consolidated financial
statements nclude the Company and its subsidiaries (together the
Group ) and 1ts interests In associates and jointly controlled entities

a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the Eurcpean Union ( EU ) the Comparies Act 2006 and
Article 4 of the International Accounting Standard { 1AS?) Regulations
In addition the Group also complied with IFRS asissued by the
international Accounting Standards Board (1ASE )

b) Basis of preparation

The consoltdated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis (as set out In the Directors Report) and on an historical
cost basis except for the remeasurement to fair value of certain financial
assets and habiriities as described in the accounting policies below

The Group has adopted the new accounting pronocuncements which
became effective this year none of which had any significant impact

on the Group s results or financial position

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday
nearest to 30 June in each year In fiscal year 2015 this date was 28 June
2015 this being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2014 29 June 2014 52 week
year) Far converuence purposes the Group continues to date its
consoitdated financial statements as at 30 tune and to refer to the
accounting peniod as a year for reporting purposes The Group has
dassified assets and liabilities as current when they are expected to be

realised in or intended fer sale or consumptionin the normal operating—————xngson disposal

cycle of the Group

¢) Basis of consolidation

| Subsidianes

Subsidianes are entities contralled by the Company Control i1s achieved
where the Company has existing nghts that give (t the current ability to
direct the actwities that affect the Company s returns and exposure or
nghts to vanable returns from the entity Subsidianes are includad in
the consolidated financial statements of the Company from the date
control of the subsidiary commences untii the date that control ceases
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and lesses or income
and expenses ansing fromntragroup transactions are eiminated

in preparing the conschidated financial statements

1 Asseciates and joint ventures

Associates are entities where the Group has significant influence but

not control or joint control over the relevant activities of the entity

Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have

joint eontrol of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement These consolidated financial statements include the Group's
share of the total recognised gains and lesses of associates and joint
ventures using the equity method from the date that significant influgnce
or joint control commences to the date that it ceases based on present
ownership interests and excluding the possible exercise of potential voting
rghts less any impairment losses (see accounting policy ) When the
Group s Interest in an associate or joint venture has been reduced to nil
because the Groups share of losses exceeds its interest in the assocate
orjoint venture the Group only provides for additional losses to the extent
that it has incurred legal or constructive obligations to fund such losses

or where the Group has made payments an behalf of the assoctate or
Jjontventure Where the disposal of an iInvestment in an associate or

joint venture 1s considered to be hughly probable the investment ceases
to be equity accounted and instead 1s classified as held fer sale and
stated at the lower of carrying amount and farr value less costs to sell

I Nen-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are identified separately from the Groups equity Non-controlling
nterests consist of the amount of these interests at the date of the
acquisition and the non-controlling shareholders share of changes

I equity since the date of the acquisition The interest of the non-
controlling shareholders in the acquiree may inibially be measured either
at fair value or at the non-controliing shareholders proportion of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and labilities and contingent
habilities assumed The choice of measurement basis 1s made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis In transactions with non-controliing
parties that do not result In achange in controi the difference between
the fair value of the consideration paid or received and the amount by
which the non-controlling interest 1s adjusted 1s recognised in equity

d} Goodwill

Business combinations that have occurred since 1July 2004 the

date of transitron to IFRS (the Transition Date ) are accounted forby
applying the acquisiticn methed of accounting Following this method
goodwill 1s1nitially recognised on consolidation representing the
difference between the fair value cost of the business combination and
the fair value of the iIdentifiable assets habilities and contingent assets
and hiabilities assumed

In respect of business combinations that occurred prior to the Transition
Date goodwill has been included at the amounts recognised under

the Group s UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP )
accounting policies on the Transition Date On disposal of a subsidiary
assooate or Joint venture the attributable amount of goodwill 1s included
In the determination of profit or loss on disposal except for goodwill
written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the Transitien Date which
15 not reinstated and 1s not included in determining any subsequent gain

Goodwill 1s stated at cost less any impairment losses and Is tested

at least annually for mpairment based on the recoverable amounts
of the tash generating unit te which the goodwill has béen allGeated
Any imparment 1dentified 1s recognised immediately in the income
statement and s not subsequently reversed The carrying amount

of goodwll in respect of associates and Jeint ventures 1s incduded in
the carrying amount of the Investment In the associate or joint venture
Goodwll 1s tasted for impairment in ne with accounting pelicy 1 below

) Intangible assets and property plant and equipment ( PPE")

I Intangible assets

Research expenditure 1s recogrised in cperating expense in the income
statement as the expenditure 1s incurred Development expenditure
(relating to the application of research knowledge to plan or design new
or substantially improved products for sale or use within the business}is
recognised as an intangible asset from the point at which the Group has
the intention and ability to generate prebable future economic benefits
from the development expenditure that the development s techrically
feasible and that the subsequent expenditure can be measured reliably
Any other development expenditure 1s recognised In eperating expense
as incurred
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Other intangible assets which are acquired by the Group separately or
through a business combination are imitsally stated at cost or far value
respectively less accumulated amortisation and imparrment losses
other than those that are classified as held for sale which are stated
at the tower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

The amortisation of an intangible asset begins when the asset1s
available for use and s charged to the Income statement through
operating expense over the asset s usefut economic life In order to
match the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodiedin the asset

For acquired custemer contracts and related customer relatienships the
assets are amortised on either a reducing balance basis or on a straight-
line basis or over estimated useful lfe based on estimated customer
retention rate principatty being a pertod of between 1and 15 years as
appropriate

For all other acqurred and internally generated intangible assets the
assets are amortised on a straight-ine basis principally being a period
of between1and 25 years as appropnate

If the asset s useful economic life 1s judged to be indefirute or the asset
is not yet avallable for use no amortisation s charged and an impairment
test s carried out at least annually Other intangible assets are tested
far impairment in inewith accounting policy | below

I Praoperty plant and equipment

Owned PPE is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any
Impairment losses {see accounting policy 1} ather than those items that
are classified as held for sale which are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fairvalue less costs to sell When an item of PPE comprises
major components having different useful economic lives the
components are accounted for as separate tems of PPE

Financialstatements

) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses dervative financial instruments to hedge its exposure
to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates

Derwvatsves are held at fair value from the date on which a dervative
contract s entered into Fair value 1s defined as the price that woutd be
receved to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliabdity in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date

under FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement’ The Group calculates a separate
credit valuation adjustment { CVA) or debit valuation adjustment { DVA}Y
for each denvative based upon the net posttion for each counterparty
relationship The Group calculates the CVA where it has a net asset
position using & quoted credit default swap curve for the counterparty
and calculates the DVA where it has a net llability position using an
industry proxy credit default swap curve for the Group The fair value

of dervative financial instruments 1s calcutated by discounting future
cash flows with refarence to the benchmark Libor curve adjusted by the
relevant credit default swap curve Certain dervatives held by the Group
which relate to highly probable forecast transactions ( hedged items )
which meet gualifying critena under IAS 39 Financial instruments
Recognition and Measurement {IAS 39 ) are designated as cash flow
hedges Other derivatives which hedge changes in fair value of fixed rate
financial instruments and meet the requirements of IAS 39 are
designated as faw value hedges and are subject to cash flow hedge
accounting or far value hedge accounting respectively Certain
borrowings and dervatives have been designated as net investment
hedges of the Group s foreign operations for movements in the spot
foreign exchange rate see section r)for further details Certam other
derivatives held by the Group do not meet the gqualifying critena for
recognttion for accounting purposes as hedges despite this being ther
economic function Changes in the fair values of these dervatives are
recognised immediately n the income statement The Group does

1lodol 8xens
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Assets held under finance leases which confer nghts and obligations
simular to those attached to owned assets are treated as PPE (see
accounting policy n)

The cost of PPE less estimated residual value 1s depraciated in operating
expense on a straight-ine basis over 1ts estimated useful ife Land and
assets that are not yet available for use are not depreciated Pnincipal
useful economic ives used for this purpese are

+ Freehold bulldings 25to 40 years
+ Equipment furniture and fixtures 3 to 20 years
+ Set-top boxes Sto 7 years

+ Assets under finance leases and
leasehold improvements

Lesser of lease term and the
useful economic life of the asset

Borrowing costs directly attributable te the acquisition, construction
or production of qualfying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for therr intended use
or sale are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for therr intended use or sale

To the extent that the financing for a qualifying asset is part of the

Group s general borrowings the interest cost to be capitalised is
cafculated based upon the werghted average cost of borrowing ta the
Group (excluding the interest on any borrowsngs specific to any gualifying
assets) This 1s then applied to the expenditures on the asset

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the penod
towhich they relate

not hold or 1ssue derwvatives for speculative purposes

1 Denvatives that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the fair vaiues of derivatives that are designated as cash
flow hedges ( cash flow hedging instruments } are imitially recogrused
n the hedging reserve Inarcumstances in which the dervative used
1S a currency option only changes i the intrinsic vaiue of the option
are designated under the cash flow hedging ralationship with all other
maovements being recorded immediately in the income statement
Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequently
recognised in the iIncome statementin the periods in which the
related hedged 1items are recogrised in the Income statement

At inception the effectiveness of the Group s cash flow hedges 1s
assessed through a companson of the principal terms of the hedging
instrument and the underlying hadged item The ongoing effectiveness
of the Group s cash flow hedges 15 assessed using the dollar-offset
approach with the expected cash flows of hedging instruments being
compared to the expected cash flows of the hedged items This
assessment 15 used to demonstrate that each hedge relationshipis
expected to be highly effective oninception has been highly effective
n the penod and is expected to continue to be highly effective in future
perieds The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness for the Group’s
hedging instruments 1s calculated using the hypothetical derwvative
method with the fair values of the hedging nstruments being compared
to those of the hypothetical dervative that would result in the
designated cash flow hedge achieving perfect hedge effectiveness

The excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the actual
hedging Instrument compared to that of the hypothetical dervative

1s deemed to be hedge ineffectiveness which is recognised inthe
Income statement

The Group uses a range of BO% to 125% for hedge effectiveness in
accordance with IAS 39 and any relationship which has effectiveness
outside this range is deemed tobe ineffective and hedge accounting
15 suspended
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Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

When a cash flow hedging instrument expires 15 terminated or 1S
exerased or if a hedge no lenger meets the gualifying cntena for hedge
accounting any cumulative gain or loss existing in the hedging reserve
at that ttme remains in the hedging reserve and 1s recognised when the
forecast transaction 1s ulumately recogrised in the income statement
provided that the underlying transaction s still expected to occur
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve

15 immediately recognised in the income statement and all future
changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedging instruments are
immediately recognised in the iIncome statement

n Derwatives that qualify for fair value hedge accounting

The Group has designated certain derivatives as fair value hedges as
defined under 1AS 39 Any changes in the fair value of the derivatives are
recognised immediately in the income statement The carrying values
of the underlying hedged items are adjusted for the change In the

fair value of the hedged risks with the gams or iosses recagnised
immediately in the income statement offsetung the far value
movement on the dervative

Prospective effectiveness 1s assessed guarterly through a comparison of
the principal terms of the hedging instrument and the underlying hedged
item includmg the likelihood of defauft by the derivative counterparty
The retrospective effectiveness of the Group s farr value hedges s
calculated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-cffset approach with
movements in the farr value of the hedged item being compared to
movements in the fair value of the hedging instrument.

The Group uses a range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectveness and
any relationship which has effectiveness outside this range 1s deemed
to be ineffective and hedge accounting 1s suspended

The cost of television programme nventortes 1S recognised Iin the
operating expense ine of the ncome statement, over the period

the Group utilises the programming nghts taking into account the
arcumstances primarily as desenbed below These arcumstances

may change or evclve over ime and as such the Group regulady reviews
and updates the method used to recognise programimeng expense

= Sports - the majority or all of the cost is recognised in the iIncome
statement on the first broadcast or where the rights are for multiple
seasons or competittons such rights are recagnised principally on
astraight-ine basis across the seasons or competitions Where
the rights are packaged sold and consumed over the off-season
the Group allocates an appropriate portion of the total rights value
to the off-season penaod and that cost is recognised on a straight-ine
basis over the off-season period

News - the cost 1s recognised n the income statement as incurred

+ Movtes - the cost s recognised in the income statement on a straght-
line basis aver the period for which the broadcast rights are icensed

+ General @ntertainment - the cost relating to acquired commussioned
and produced rights are recognised in the income statement based
on the expected value of each planned broadcast on the Groups near
channels and the time period over which nen-linear programme nghts
are utiised The cost attnbutable or apportioned to non-linear
(on demand) nghts are amortised on a straight-lne basis over the
penod of broadcast rights

The Group regularly reviews 1ts programrung rights for imparment
Where programme broadcast rights are surplus to the Groups
requirerents and no gain 1s anticipated through a dispesal of the nghts
or where the programming will not be broadcast far any other reason a
write-down to the income statement s made Any reversals of inventory

m Embedded dervatives

Dervatives embedded in other financial instruments er other host
contracts are treated as separate dervatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not carned at fair value with unrealised
gains or losses reported in the income statement Embedded dervatives
are carned on the balance sheet at fair value from the inception of the
host contract. Changes in fair value are recognised within the income
statement during the penocd in which they anse

g) Inventories

1| Acquired and commissioned television programme

inventories for broadcast

Programme inventories for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value ( NRV) including where applicable estimated
subscriber escalation payments and net of the accurmulated expense
charged to the income statement to date

Such programming rights are included as inventories when the fegally
enfarceable icence periodcommences and all of the following conditions
have been met (a) the cost of each programme 1s known or reasonably
determinable (b) the programme material has been accepted by

the Group In accordance with the conditions of the rights and (c) the
programme 1s available for its first showing Prior to being included
ninventories the programming rights are classified as television
programme rights not yet avallable for transmissicn and not recerded
as inventeries on the Group s balance sheet and are instead disclosed
as contractual commitments (see note 28) Payments made upon receipt
of commissioned and acguired programming but in advance of the legal
rght to broadcast the programmes are treated as prepayments

wnte=downs are recognised as redctions in operating expense

It Programme distribution rights

Programme distribution rights are valued at the lower of cost and
NRV net of the accumulated expense charged to the income
statement to date

The cost of the programme distribution nghts 1s recognised in the
operating expense ine of the iIncome statement on an ultimate revenue
forecast basis

I Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes routers and related equipment held for sale to customers
are valued at the lower of cost ang NRV the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects to realise from the set-top boxes and
related equipment in the hands of the customer and are recognised
through the operating expense line of the Income statement Any
subsidy 1s expensed on enablement which s the process of activating
the viewing card during installation so as to enable a viewer to view
encrypted broadcast services and effectively represents the completion
of the installation process for new custamers The amount recognised

In the income statement s determmed an a weighted average cost basis
in accordance with (AS 2 Inventory’

Iv Raw materials consumables and goods held for resale

Raw materials consumables and goods held for resale are valued at the
lower of cost and NRV The cost of raw matenals consumables and goods
held for resale 1s recognised through the operating expense line of the
income statement on a first-in-first-out basis
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h) Financial assets and llabilities

Financizl assets and habilities are initially recognised at fair vatue plus
any directly attrtbutable transaction costs At each balance sheet date
the Group assesses whether there is any objective ewdence that any
financiat asset s impaired Financial assets and iabilties are recognised
on the Group s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial asset or hability Financial assets
are derecognised from the balance sheet when the Group's contractual
rights to the cash flows expire or the Group transfers substantially

all the risks and rewards of the financial asset Financial kzbilities are
derecogrused from the Group s balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract 1s discharged cancelled or expires

1 Avallable-for-sale investments

Equity investments intended to be held for an indefinite period are
dassified as availablte-for-sale Investments They are carned at fair
value where this can be reliably measured with movements i far
value recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve Where the
fair value cannot be reliably measured, the investment is carried at cost

Any iImpairment losses In equity Investments classified as avallable-for-
sale investments are recognised in the income statement and are not
reverstble through the income statement and are determined with
reference 1o the closing market share price at the balance sheet date
Any subsequent increase in the fair value of the avaiiable-for-sale
investment above the impaired value will be recognised within the
avallable-for-sale reserve

Avallable-for-sale investments are included within non-current assets
unless the carrying value 1s expected to be recovered principally through
sale rather than continuing use n which case they are included within
current assets On disposal the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration receved and any cumulative gain

Financial statements

vi Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the proceeds recewed net of direct 1ssue
costs Finance charges, including any premium payahble an settlement
or redemption and direct 1ssue costs are accounted for on an accruals
basis In the income staternent using the effective interest method and
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying instrument to which
they relate to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which
they arise - - - - -

1) Imparrment

At each balance sheet date 1n accordance with IAS 36 Impairment

of Assets the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all its assets
excluding iInventories (see accounting policy g) non-current assets
classified as held for sale financial assets (see accounting policy h) and
deferred taxation (see accounting policy o) to determine whether there s
any indication that any of those assets have suffered an imparment loss

Animpairment 1s recegnised in the iIncome statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds Its
recoverable amount. An impairment of an investment in a joINt venture or
associate is recognised within the share of profit from jont ventures and
assoclates The recoverable amount 1s the greater of net selling price
defined as the farr value less costs to sell and valueinuse Inassessing
value inuse the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks speafic to the asset
Where 1t 1s not possible to estimate the recoverabie amount of an
indrividual asset the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit towhich the asset belongs impairment losses
recogrised inrespect of cash generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated ta those units

and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit

yroda n801eng

UGS

or loss that had previously been recognised directlyin reserves is
recognised in the iIncome statement

1 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recewvables are nan-derivative financial assets with
fixed ar determinable payments and where no stated interest rate 1s
applicable are measured at the onginal nvoice amount 1if the effect
of discounting 1s immaterial Where discounting 1s matenal trade and
other recevables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method An allowance account 1s maintained to reduce the
carrying value of trade and other recevables for impairment losses
dentified from objective evidence with movements in the allowance
accaunt erther from increased iImpairment losses or reversals of
imparrment losses being recognised in the ncome statement

m Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cashin hand bank accounts
deposits recevable on demand and deposits with maturity dates

of three moenths or less from the date of tnception Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the
Group s cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents where offset conditions are met

v Short-term deposits

This includes short-term deposits which have maturity dates of
more than three months from inception These deposits are initally
recognised at fair value and then carried at amortised cost through
the income statement less any allowance for mpairment losses

v Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are non-denvative financial iabihties and are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Trade
and aother payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the
original iInvoice amount If the effect of discounting 1s iImmaterial

ona prorata bhasis

Anmpairment oss for an mdmdual asset or cash generating urt will be
reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised and
13 only reversed to the extent that the asset s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined

net of depreciation or amortisation if no impairment loss had been
recognised Impairment of goodwill 1s not reversed

) Provisions

Provisions are recogmised when the Group has a probable present legal
or constructive obligation to make a transfer of economic benefits as a
result of past events where a reliable estimate 1s avallable The amounts
recognised represent the Group s best estimate of the transfer of
benefits that will be reguired to settle the obligation as of the balance
sheet date Provisions are discounted If the effect of the time value of
money Is matenal using a pre-tax market rate adjusted for nsks specific
to the hability

k) ESOP reserve

Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase the Company s own
equity shares the cost of those shares including any attributable
transaction costs 1s presented within the ESOP reserve as a deduction
In shareholders equityin the consolidated financial statements
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finanoal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies {(continued)

I) Revenue recognition

Revenue which excludes value added tax and transactions between
Group companies represents the gross inflow of economic benefit from
Sky s operating actvities The Groups main scurces of revenue are
recognised as foliows

+ Subscription revenue includes revenue from restdential and
commercaial subscnibers to TV and communication products including
over-the-top (OTT ) subscriptions and income from set-top box sales
and installation service calls and warranties Revenue is recognised
net of any discount given as the goods or services are provided

» Transactional revenue indudes the purchase of physical content
OTT passes pay perview and buy to keep ¢content by residential and
commercial customers Transactional reveriue 1s recogmised net of
any discount given when the relevant goods or service are provided

« wWholesale and syndication revenue includes revenue from the sale of
channels and programmes across other platforms and internationally
Wholesale revenue Is recognised as the services are provided to cable
and other retallers and 1s based on the number of subscribers taking
the Sky channels as reported to the Group by the cable and other
retailers and the applicable rate card or contract Syndication
revenues are earned from the producticn of programming and the
distribution of programming rights Production revenue is recognised
on a stage of completion basis and distribution revenue 1s recognised
when the contract 1s signed and the content is available for
exploitation

= Advertising sales revenue 1s recognised when the adverusing
1s broadcast Revenue generated from airtime sales where Sky
acts as an agent on behalf of third parties 1s recogrmisedon a

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees which must be measured at fair value and recognised as

an expense in the income statement, with a corresponding increase

n equity The fair values of these payments are measured at the dates
of grant using option-pricing models taking into account the terms

and condittons upon which the awards are granted The fair value

1s recognised over the penod duning which employees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards subject to the Groups estimate
of the number of awards which will be forfeited either due te employees
leaving the Group prior to vesting or due to non-market based
performance conditions not being met Where an award has market-
based performance conditions the far value of the award 15 adjusted for
the probabulity of achieving these wa the option pricing moded The total
amount recogrised in the Income statement as an expense 15 adjusted
to reflect the actual numbrer of awards that vest, except where forfeiture
1s due to the failure to meet market-based performance measures

In the event of a canceltation whether by the Group ar by a participating
employee the compensation expense that would have been recognised
over the remarnder of the vesting peniod 1s recogrised immediately

in profit orloss

n) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms cf the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the asset to thelessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

Sub-tease income from operating leases 1s recogrised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease

When the Group s alessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at therr far value on the date of acquisition ar if lower at the present
value of the menimum lease payments The corresponding iability to

net comimss:on basis

+ Other revenug principally includes income from technical platform
services and the provision of network services Other revenue s
recognised net of any discount given when the relevant goods or
service are provided

Revenue s measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or recevable When the Group sells a set-top box instatlabion or service
and a subscnption in one bundled transaction the total consideration
from the arrangement s allocated to each element based on their
relative fair values The fair value of each tndividual element is deterrmned
using vendor speaific or third-party evidence The amount of revenue the
Group recognises for delivered elements 1s imited to the cash receved

m} Employee benefits

Wages salares social security contributions bonuses payable and
non-monetary benefits for current employees are recognised in
the income statement as the employees services are rendered

Where the Group provides pensions to eligible employees through
defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the income
statement in the year represents the cost of contributions payable

by the Group to the schemes in exchange for employee services
rendered in that year The assets of the schemes are held independently
of the Group

Leabilities in relation to employee obligattons which are economically
simular to defined benefit pension schemes are accounted for as such
under IAS 19

Termination benefits are recognised as a liability at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the Group recognises any related restructuring costs such
termination being before the normat retirement date or as the result
of an of fer to encourage voluntary redundancy

the fessor 1s inctuded 0 the balance sheetas'a finance fease obligation
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reductions to the lease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate

of interest on the remamning balance of the hiabihty

The lease expense ansing from operating leases 1s charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease Benefits
recewved and recevable as incentives to enter nto operating leases are
recorded on a straight-ine basis over the lease term

When the Group s alessor

Set-top boxes which are provided to subscnibers under operating lease
arrangements are recognised as assets within property plant and
equipment The set-top boxes remain in the econemic ownership of the
Group for the duration of the lease and are deprecated over their useful
economic lives of between five and seven years

o) Taxation including deferred taxation

The Group s hability for current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year
and 1s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habilities are recognised using the balance sheet
hability method providing for temporary differences between the
carrytng amounts of assets and habihities in the balance sheet and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Temporary differences ansing from goodwill and except in a business
combination the imual recogrition of assets or habilities that affect
nerther accountng prefit nor taxable profit are not provided for Deferred
tax iabilities are recognised for taxable tempaorary differences ansing

on Investments (n subsidiaries and associates and interests in jomt
ventures except where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it. 15 probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse In the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax
provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settiement
of the carrying amount of assets and habihties using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance
sheet date and adjusted to reflect an amount that 1s probable to be
realised based on the weight of all avallable ewdence Deferred tax 1s
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the hability 1s settled or the asset s reahsed Deferred tax assets and
habilities are not discounted Deferred tax s charged or credited in the
income statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited
drrectly to equity In which case the deferred tax s also included within
equity Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when there s a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and habiities on a net basis

p) Bistributions to equity shareholders
Dmndands are recogrused in the retained earruings reserven the yearin
which they are declared

The cost of repurchasing the Group s own equity shares for cancellation
('share buy-backs } s recorded in retained earnings In addibon the
nommal cost of shares repurchased 1s deducted from share capital
and a matching credit 1s recorded in the capital redemption reserve

q) Earnings per share

Basic earnings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the year
attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company dmvided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue during the year
excluding the weighted average number of ordimary shares purchased by
the Group and held in the Group s ESOP during the year to satisfy
employee share awards

Diluted earmings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the
yearattnbutable to equity shareholtders of the parent company-drvided

Financial statements

Gains and losses on those Instrumeants designated as hedges of the net
investments in foreign operations are recognised in equity to the extent
that the hedging relationstup 1s effective these amounts are included
in exchange dif ferences on translation of foreign operations as stated
In the statement of comprehensive iIncome Gains and losses relating

to hedge ineffectiveness are recognised smmediately in the income
statement for the period

s) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires the segment information presented
In the financial statements to be that which 1s used internally by the chief
aperating decision maker to evaluate the performance of the business
and decide how to allocate resourcas The Group has identified the
Board of Directors as its chief operating decision maker and the segment
information presented in the financial statements 1s consistent with the
internal reporting reviewed by the Board

t) Accounting Standards interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards amendments and
interpretations to existing standards which have been published but are
only effective for our accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015
or later penods These new pronouncements are hsted below

= Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests m
loint Operations (effective 1 January 2016)*

+ Amendments toAS 16 and IAS 38 Clanfication of Acceptable Methods
of Depreciation and Amortisation (effective 1 January 2016)*

Annua! improvements 2012-2014 cycle (effective 1 July 2016y

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (effective 1 January

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
basic earnings plus the weighted average number of dilutive shares
resulting from share options where the incluston of these would not
be antidilutive

r) Foreign currency translation

Trading actmties denominated in foresgn currencees are recorded in the
functional currency of the entity at applicable monthly exchange rates
Maonetary assets habilities and commitments denominated inforeign
currancies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of
exchange at that date Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of

the entity at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the inibal
transaction Gains and losses from the retranslation of menetary

assets and liabihties are included net In profit for the year

The Groups presentational currency 1s pounds sterling Assets and
llabities of the Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date Income and expense items
are transiated at the applicable monthly average exchange rates

Any exchange differences ansing are dlassified as equity and transferred
to other reserves Goodwill and farr value adjustments ansing on the
acquisitton of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of the fareign operation and translated accaordingly Gamns and losses
accumulated n the translation reserve are included i the income
statement when the foreign operation 1s disposed of

2017y
I#RS 9 Financial instruments (aeffective 1 January 2018)*

*not yet endorsed for use in the EY

The Directors are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of
these standards amendments and interpretations in future periods

u) Criticat accounting policies and the use of judgement

Certain accounting pelicies are considered to be cntical to the Group
An accounting policy 1s censidered to be critical If in the Directors
judgement, its selection or application materially affects the Groups
financial pasition or results Below is a summary of the Group s critical
accounting poliaes and detalls of the key areas of judgement that are
exercised in their application

1| Revenue (see note 2)

Selecting the appropriate timing for and amount of revenue to be
recognised requires judgement, This may involve estimating the farr value
of consideration before itis received When the Group sells a set-top box
installation or service and a subscription in one bundled transaction the
total consideration from the arrangement Is allocated to each element
based on its relative fair value The fair value of each individual element
1s determined using vendor specific or third-party evidence The amount
of revenue the Group recognises for delivered elements s inited to the
cash receved

Il Taxation, including deferred taxation {see notes 9 and 17)

The Group s tax charge 1s the sum of the total current and deferred tax
charges The calculation of the Group s total tax charge necessarnily
involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain
items whose tax treatment cannot be finally determined until resclution
has been reached with the relevant tax authority or as approprate
through a formal legal process

Skyple 93

yodal oi8aeag

SOUBLIBADD)

SIUDWLIDILTS |eDUBUH]

uoneuLIol IapIoYLIRYS




Annual Report 2015

Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisians for tax contingencies require management to make
Judgements and estimates In relation to tax audit 1Issues and exposures
Amounts provided are based on management s interpretation of
country-specific tax law and the ikelihood of settlement Tax benefits
are not recogrrsed unless it 1s probable that the tax positions will be
sustained Once considered to be probable management reviews
each material tax benefit to assess whether a provision should be
taken agamnst full recognition of the benefit on the basis of the likely
resolution of the 1ssue through negotiatton and/or iugation

The amounts recognised in the conschdated finanoal statements i
respect of each matter are derived from the Group s best estimation

and judgement as described above However the mnherent uncertainty
regarding the outcome of these items means the eventual resolution
could differ from the provision and in such event the Group would be
required to make an adjustment in a subsequent penod which could have
amatenal impact on the Group s profit and loss and/or cash pasition

The key area of judgement in respect of deferred tax accounting s

the assessment of the expected timing and manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and halnhities held at the
balance sheet date 'n particular assessment 1s required of whether stis
probable that there will be suitable future taxable profits against which
any deferred tax assets can be utiised

I Acquisition accounting and goodwill {see note 12)

Judgement is requtred in determining the fair value of identifiable assets
llabiities and contingant assets and habthties assumed ina business
combination and the fair value of the consideration payable Calculating
the fair values involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions
including expectations about future cash flows discount rates and the

Assessing whether assets meet the required criteria for initaal
capitalisation requires jJudgement This requires a determmation

of whether the assets will result in future benefits to the Group

In particular internally generated intangible assets must be assessed
dunng the develepment phase to identify whether the Group has
the ability and intention to complete the develepment successfully

v Pragrammtng inventory for broadcast {(see note 18)

The key area of accounting for programming inventory for broadcast that
requires jJudgement Is the assessment of the appropnate profile over
which to amartise general entertainment programmung This assessment
requires the Greup to form an expectation of

- the time period over which the programme 1s expected tobe
utilsed the number of imes a programme will be breadcast on the
Group s channels

= therelative value assooated with each broadcast and

« the relative valug associated with inear channel and non-linear
programme rights

In order to perform this assessment, the Group considers the following
factors

« The ume penod and frequency with which the programme is expected
to be utdised on the Groups linear channels and non-lnear services
Thus s usually based on a combination of the actual penod speafied in
the contract for the programme rights the initial expectation of when
ainngs will be scheduled and the alternative programming available to
the Group within this penod

= Expectations as to the number of viewers a programme is likely to
achieve for each individuat broadcast on the Group s inear channels
over the contractual broadeast period The number of viewers per

lives of assets followrng purchase

Judgement is required in evaluating whether any impairment loss has
ansen against the carrying amount of goodwill This may require
calculation of the recoverable amount of cash generating units to which
the goodwillis associated Such a calcutation may involve estimates

of the net present value of future forecast cash flows and selecting

an appropriate discount rate Alternatively it may involve a calculation
of the fair value less costs to sell of the applicable cash generating unit

Judgement is required inidentifying the cash generating units to which
the goodwill 15 associated for the purposes of goodwill imparrment
testing Identification of cash generating umts mvolves an assessment
of whether assets or groups of assets generate cash flows that are
fargety ndependent of other assets or groups of assets Goodwll1s
then allocated to each identsfied cash generating unit that 1s expected
to benefit from the synergies of the business combinations from which
goodwill has anisen

v Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

(seenotes 13 and 14)

The assessment of the useful economic ives and the method of
amortising these assets requires jJudgement Depreciation and
amortisation are charged to the iIncome statement based on the useful
economic life selected which requires an estsmation of the pertod and
profile over which the Group expects to consume the future economic
benefits embodied in the assets The Group reviews its useful economic
lves on at least an annual basis

Determining whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
indication of iImparment also requires jJudgement. |f an indication of
mpatrment 1s identified, further judgement is required to assess whether
the carrying amount ¢an be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows forecast to be derived from the asset This forecast involves
cash flow projections and selecting the appropriate discount rate

broadcast directly inflUEnces advertising revenue ror channels
although this consideration s partly influenced by the Groups
assessment of the potential impact of the publicly available
information onits competitors scheduling intentions aganst planned
broadcasts

The potential benefits associated with utilising programming Certain
high-profile or high-quality programming titles have additional vatue to
the Group as they attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of existing TV customers As such these programmes are able to retain
more value throughout their icence period than would be indicated
when considering the expected customer viewing and consumption
numbers alone

The relative value associated with inear channel and nen-lnear rights
are assessed based on the manner in which the Group expects to
utiise the programming nghts and the relative value percewved by
customers for the Group s channels and services Those relative values
may also differ based on the type and genre of programme Such
values are reviewed by the Group against current and expected future
trends 1n customer viewing behaviour for the Group s programming
and channels The value apportioned to non-linear nghts {in addition
to any separately acquired non-hnear nghts) 1s amortised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the broadcast rights, as the
Group considers this to be the profile most closely aligned toits
consumption of those rights
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2 Operating Segments

On 12 November 2014 the Group purchased operations in Italy Germany and Austna and as a result has reassessed the number of reportable
cperating segments

The Group now has three reportable segments that are defined by geographic area to reflect how the Group s operations are monitored and managed
The reportable segments presented reflect the Group s management and reporting structure as iewed by the Boarg of Directors whichis considered
to be the Group s chief operating decision maker

Reportable segment Description

UK & Iretand The activities and operations of the pay TV home communications and adjacent businesses in the UK and Ireland
italy The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Italy

Germany & Austria The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Germany and Austria

Segmental Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2015

Results for full year

yJodal 2i80ens

BDUBLIBADD

Italy and
Germany
Adjusting & Austna
UK & Germany & ltems & pre-  Statutory
Iretang Italy Austna Eiminations  acquisition  Group Total
Em Em £m £m Em Em
Continuing Operations
Subseription 6596 1845 1256 - (1179) 8518
Transactiona! 120 35 18 - 20y 153
Wholesale and syndication 515 16 20 4] 9 541
Advertising 510 162 44 - 67 64%
Other 95 28 39 [¢)] 25 128
Revenue 7836 2086 1377 [{19)] (1300) 9989
Inter-segment revenue (16) - - 10 6 -
| Revenue from external customers 7820 2 086, 1377. = (1294) 9,983
Programrming (2865) (1258) (764) ()] 724 {4172y
Direct network costs (8403 - - - - (840)
Sales general and administration (2781) (767} (624) (377 544 (4005)
Operating expense (6 486) (2025) {1388) (386) 1268 907
EBITDA 1740 216 74 (163) (129} 1738
Depreciabion and amartisation (390) (155) (85) (233) 97 (766)
Operating profit (loss) 1350 61 an (396) (32 572
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28
Investment income 8
Finance costs (283)
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investments 492
Profit on disposal of associate 289
Profyt before tax 1516
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(continued)

Segmental iIncome statement for the year ended 30 June 2014

Results for full year

Italy and

Germany &
UK& Germany & Adjusting Austna  Statutory
Ireland Italy Austria ltems futiyear Group Total
£m £m £m Em £m £m

Continuing Operations

Subscrnption 6278 1850 1144 - (2994) 6278
Transactional 86 37 19 - (56) 85
Wholesale ang syndication 433 65 26 15 9N 448
Advertising 487 168 35 - (203) 487
Other 151 " 20 38 - (58) 151
Revenue 7435 2140 1262 15 (3402} 7450
Inter-segment revenue [GD)] - - - 61 -
Revenue from external customers 7374 2140 1262 15 (3 341) 7450
Programming (2656) (12 (735) 0] 2006 {2657)
Oirect network costs (816} - - (29) - (B45)
Sales, general and administration (2760) {830) (584) 84 1414 (2844)
Operating expense (6232) (2101 (1319 M4y 3420 (6 346)
EBITDA 1606 224 18 70 (242) 1536
Depreciation and amortisation (403) (185) (75) (29) 260 (432)
Operating profit (loss) 1203 39 (57) (99) 18 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 35
Investment income 26
Finance costs (140)
Profit before tax 1025

Results for each segment are presented on an adjusted basis A reconcliabion of statutory to adjusted profit s shown in note 10 which also indudes a descnption of the adjusting items.
Transactions between segments are recorded based on estimated market pnces.

To provide a more relevant presentation, management has chosen to reznalyse the revenue and operating expense categories from thase prewously reparted The revenue categones have been
changed toreflect the increasing breadith of the business and a number of aperating expense sub-categones have been combinedwithin a single Sales general and administratian (SGEA)
operating expense kne As such certain prior period revenues and costs within the 2014 statutory Group total comparatives have been redassified as set out below

Prior year revenues of £85 million and £20 million previausly indluded m Installation hardware and service and Qther respectively are naw included n Subscription revenue Transactignal revenue
indudes £82 million and £4 millon relating to Sky Store and sports and wholesale pay per view which were previously ncluded in Retall subscripuen and Whelesale subscnption respectively
Revenues of E15 mulbon and £2 milken relating to Sky I and search revenues are now included in Advertising and Wholesale and syndication respectively having previously been included in Gther
Sports syndication and Sky Vision revenues of £28 million are now induded n Wholesale and syndication, having présvousty been induded in Othgr Prior year expense of £2 miion previoushy
induded in Programming is now induded in SG&A.

Revenue of £7.387 milion (2014 £6 972 million) anses from goods and services prowided to the UK and revenue of E2602 million (2012 £ 478 milion) anses from seraces prowded to other
countnes Non-current assets located in the UK were £10148 millon (2074 £3873 milfion) and noe-current assets locatad outside the UXwere £851 mullion (2014 £33 milhon)

Included within operating expensas for the year ended 30 June 2015 are
Costs of £10 million relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaha i the enlarged Group recogrised in SG&A
+ Costs of £50 million relating to adwisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia recognised i SG&A
Casts of £105 millon relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes including an impairment of £2 millien in relation to fized assets These costs have been recognised as follows
- E10 muthon within Programming
- E95 million within SG&A
Costs of £231 milon relatng to the amortisation of acquired ntangible assets recognised in SG&A.
Included within wholesale and syndication revenue for the year ended 30 June 2014 15 a E15 million credit recerved following the termunation of an escrow agreemaent with a current wholesale operator
Induded within operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2014 are

{osts of £49 million relating to the acquisition and integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephory business, induding amortisation of £4 milion in relation to associated
intangible assets The costs have been recognised as follows
- E29 million within direct networks
- E20 milon within SG&A
Costs of £4Q milion retaung to a corporate restructunng and efficency programme i the current yeas ncluding an impairment of £2 milion in felation to associated mtangible and tang ble
assets. These costs have been recogrused as follows
- Evmilion wathin programming
- E39million within SG&A
+ Costsof £2miflion as a resuit of the terrmnation of an escrow agreement with a curent whlesale operator This cost has been recognised within SG&A.
Costs of £23 mullion in relation to the amorusation of acquired intangible assets recognised In SG&A.
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3 Discontinued operations

On 19 March 2015 the Group completed the sale of a controlling stake inits onling betting and gaming business Sky Betting & Gaming ( Sky Bet ) to funds
adwised by CVC Capital Partners and members of the Sky Bet management team Sky has retained an equity stake of 20% post completton in Sky Bet

Sky Bet represented a separate major hne of business for the Group As aresult its operations have been treated as discontinued for the year ended
30 June 2075 and the year ended 30 June 2014 A single amount i1s shown on the face of the consolidated income statement comprising the post-tax
resutt of discontinued operations and the post-tax profit recognised on the disposal of the discontinued operation A pre-tax profit of E600 million
arose on the disposal of Sky Bet being the net proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of Sky Bet s net liabilrties and attributable goodwill

The resuits of discontinued operations which have been included in the consolidated income statement were as follows

uedaraiBalens

a
2015} 2014 2
To19 March Fuliyear g
Em Em £
Revenue 158 182 a
Operating expense (28) (125)
Operating profit 30 57
Profit on disposal 600 -
Profit before tax 630 57
Attributable tax expense? (10) (12
Profit for the year from discontinued cperations 620 a5
1 Results for the year ended 30 June 2015 include the results of discontinued operations up to the date of disposal (19 March 2015)
2 Attnbutable taxexpense comprises £9 million (2014 £12 milien) in respect of operating activities and £1miliion (2014 nil) arising as a resuit of the disposal
The net labiities of Sky Bet at the date of disposal were
19 March
2015 ey
£m 2
Noncurrent assets e—
Property plant and equipment 9 E
Deferred tax assets 1 a3
10 ]
Current assets 4
Trade and other recewvables S
Cash and cash equivalents 30
35
Total assets 45
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 58
Provistons 6
64
Total liabilities 64
Net liabahities 12
Total consideration 730 v
Net llabilities disposed 19 &
Attnbutable goodwd (149) g,
Profit on disposal 600 a
]
Consideration receved in cash and cash equivalents 598 :3"‘
Less cash and cash equivalents disposed of (30) 3
Net cash inflow ansing on disposal 568 §

During the year cash flows attributable to Sky Bet comprised a net cash inflow in respect of operating activities of £44 mitlion (2014 inflow of £62 millian)
and a net cash inflow i respect of Investing activities of E560 mulkon (2014 outflow of £3 million)
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4 Investment income and finance costs

2015 2014
£m £m
Investment incorme
Interest on cash cash equivalents and short-term deposits 8 4
Dividends received from avallable-for-sale investments - 22
-— 8 25
2015 2014
£m Em
Finance costs
- Interest payable and ssmilar charges
Facihity related costs 44 [ €3]
Guaranteed Notes (see note 22) (214} (126)
Finance lease interest Q] (9
(265) (135)
- Other finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrawings-related denvative financial Instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting} (16) (2)
Remeasurement of other derivative financial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) 3 4)
Gain {loss) ansing on derwatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 7 (3
(Loss) gan ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship (6) 32
(18) (6]
{283) (140)

Borrowing costs inctuded in the cost of qualifying assets dunng the year arose on the general borrowing poal and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 3 1% (2014 4 9%) to expenditure on such assets The amount capitalised in the current year amounted to £9 milhon

{2014 £4 millon) Tax relief in the current year on capitalised interest totals £0 4 millon (2014 £06 millicn)

Finance costs nclude £57 milhon incurred in connection with £6 6 billlon of firm underwnitten debt faciities and other assocated transaction costs

relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia These faclities including the previous revolving credit facility (RCE) have been repaid or.
cancelled dunng the period with the exception of a £1 bithion RCF which remauns undrawn

5 Profit on disposal of availlable-for-sale investments

On 17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of 6 4% in ITV plc consisting of 259 820 065 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of £481 million

A profit of £429 million was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration abave the previously written-down value of the shares for
accounting purposes (£52 million)

On 5 Novernber 2014 the Group sold a further shareholding of 0 8% in ITV plc consisting of 31,864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of
£65 milhlon A profit of £58 million was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down value of the shares

for accounting purposes (£7 milion)

The Group recognised a gan of £5 million as a result of measuning to fair value its equity interest in Sky Deutschland held prior to the acquusition
For further details see note 31

6 Profit on disposal of associate

On 12 November 2014 the Group transferred a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network international LLC and a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network Latin
Amenica LLC to 21st Century Fox Inc ( 21st Century Fox’) for an aggregate consideration of £410 million as part of the purchase of Sky Italia (see note

31 for further detail) A profit of £299 million was realised on disposal

7 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is stated after charging

2015 2014

Em £m

Cost of inventoeries recognised as an expense 333 2208
Depreciation impairment and losses (profits) on disposals of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amcrtisation imparment and losses (profits) on disposals of ntangible assets 469 228
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements 70 49

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange gains recognised in the income statement during the year amounted to E14 milion (2014 losses of £2 million)
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Audit fees
An analysis of auditor's remuneration s as follows

2015 2014
£m Em
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accounts 20 13
Fees payable ta the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries 03 03
Total audit fees 23 - 16-
Audit-related services 02 02
Taxation services 15 05
Other assurance services a8 o0
Other adwisory services T4 -
Transaction services 19 06
Total non-audit fees 158 14

Non-audit fees payable to the Company s auditor in the UK principally compnse transaction related serwices including reporting accountant services
camfort procedures In relation to debt issuance and programmes and acquisition-related tax services Other assurance services principally relate to
The Bigger Picture assurance and the intenm review

Deloitte Germany and Deloitte ltaly provided non-audit services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha prior to their acguisition by the Group en 12 Nevember
2014 These prnincipally comprised technology consulting and advisory services As described in the Report of the Audit Committee a comprehensive
review and reorganisation of these services was performed following the acquisition date in order to ensure the continued independence of Delaitte LLP
as auditors of the Group The total fees for non-audit services provided ko Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalian the full year ended 30 June 2015 were

£15 7 milicn and the table above includes those services provided to Sky Deutschiand and Sky [talia by Delortte since 12 November 2014

Total audit fees payable to the Group s component auditors of Sky Deutschtand and Sky Italiain the full year ended 30 June 2015 were £11 mitkon
The Groups component auditors of Sky Deutsehland and Sky Itala also provided non-audit services to the Group duning the year none of which
compromised ther tndependence in respect of their reporting to the Group s auditor and their respective local reporting requirements

8 Employee benefits and key management compensation

yodosuBatens

BIUBLIBACS

a) Group employee benefits %1
2015 2018— &“"‘
Em £m wn
Wages and salaries 1040 844 %
Social secunty costs 159 isl] %
Costs of employee share option schemes' 986 60 a’
Contributions to the Group s penston schemes? 39 39
1334 1,044
1 £91million charge relates to equity-settled share-based payments (2014 €60 million charge) and ES million charge relates to cash-settled share based payments {2014 nil)
2 The Group aperates defined contribution pension schemes The pension charge for the year represents the cost of cantributions payable by the Group to the schemes
during the year The amount payable to the schemes by the Group at 30 June 2015 was £S5 mill:on (2014 ES milion)
The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persens (including temparary employees) employed by the Group during the year was as follows
2005 2014
Number Number
Channels and services 5089 3477
Customer service sales and marketing 15487 13035 "
Transmission and technology 4156 3257 5
Management and administration 2328 10672 8
27060 20 841 §
m
There are approximately 921(2014 497) temporary staff mcluded within the average number of full-time equivalent persons employed by the Group g.,
b) Key management compensation (see note 30d) a
a
2015 2014 2
Em £m
Short-term employee benefits 6 6
Share-based payments 8 7
14 13

Past-employment benefits were less than £1 milbon (2014 less than £1million) The amounts disclosed for key management compensation are included
within the disclosures in note 8{a)
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9 Taxation
a) Taxatton recognised 1n the income statement
2015 2014
£Em £im
Current tax expense
Current year - UK 229 218
Adjustment in respect of prior years - UK 3B — G
Current year - Overseas 62 2
Total current tax charge 252 182
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences - UK 21 5
Adjustment in respect of prior years - UK 2 n
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences - Overseas (&67) -
Adjustment in respect of prior years - Overseas [Q) -
Total deferred tax (credit) charge (68) 16
Taxation 184 205
b) Taxation recogmised directly in equity
2015 2014
Em £m
Current tax credit relating to share-based payments (&) ()]
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments i5) -
Deferred tax charge {(credt) relating to cash flow hedges 20 8)
3 (17)

c) Reconciliatian of effective tax rate

The tax expense for the year s lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax

In the UK (20 75%) applied to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax for the year
was 20 75% (2014 22 5%) The differences are explained below

2015 2014
£m Em
Profit before tax from continuing cperations 1516 1025
Profit before tax multipled by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) 315 2N
Effects of
Different statutory tax rates of overseas junsdictions [qFs) -
Disposal of Group investments (125) -
Met effect of other non-taxable/non-deductible items 28 (8)
Effect of tax rate changes (3 2
Adjustments in respect of prior years 19) {20)
Taxation 184 205
10 Earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares for the year was
2015 2014
Milions of  Millions of
shares shares
Ordinary shares 1706 1581
ESOP trust ordinary shares (16) 19)
Basic shares 1,690 1562
Dilutive ordinary shares from share optsons 2 14
Difuted shares 171 1576

There are no share options (2014 none) which could patentially dilute earmings per share in the future but which have been excluded from the calculation
of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive In the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share are catculated by dwiding the profit for the year attriibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company into the
weighted average number of shares for the year In order to provide a measure of underlying performance management have chosen to present an
adjusted profit for the year which excludes items that may distort comparability Such 1tems anse from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary
activities of the Group but which management believes should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance
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2015 2014
Em Em
Profit from continuing operations 1332 820
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests 5 -
profit from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 820
Profit from discontinued operations 620 45
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
2015 2014
£m £m
Reconcthation from profit from continuing cperations attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted
profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 820
Adwisory and transaction fees and finance costs tncurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala (see note 31) 107 -
Costs relating to corparate restructuring and efficiency programmes (see note 2) 105 40
Costs relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaka in the enlarged Group (see note 31) 10 -
Costs relating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business - 49
Net credit receved following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator - (13)
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 228 23
Profit on disposal of avatlable-for-sale iInvestmenis (see note 5) (492) -
Profit on disposal of associate (see note 6) {299) -
Remeasurement of all dervative financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness (see note 4) 18 5
Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of above items (1)) (32)
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 947 892
2015 2014
pence pence
Earmungs per share from prafit for the year
Basic
Continuing operatians 790 6257
Discontinued operations 367p 29p
Total 15 8p 554p
Difuted
Continuing eperations 782p 520p
Discontinued operations 36 2p 29p
Total 114 4p 54 9p
Adjusted earnings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basic 560p 571p
Diluted 55 3p 566p
1 Dividends
2015 2014
£m Em
Dwidends declared and paid during the year
2013 Final dwidend paid 19 OCp per ardinary share - 298
2014 intenm dwvidend pard 1200p per ordinary share - 187
2014 Final dvidend paid 20 00p per ordinary share 340 -
2015 interim dwidend paid 12 30p per ordnary share 209 -
549 485

The 2015 fimal dwvidend proposed 15 20 5 pence per ordinary share being £349 milion The dwidend was not declared at the balance sheet date and ts

therefore not recogmnised as aliability as at 30 June 2015

Dividends are paid between Group companies out of prefits avalable for distribution subject to mter alia the prowisicns of the companies’ articles of

assocation and the Companies Act 2006 The ESOP has waived its nghts to dividends
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12 Goodwill

Em
Carrying value
AL 1 July 2013 959
Other 20
At 30 June 2014 1,019
Purchase of Sky Deutschiand - - 2848
Purchase of Sky Italia 752
Disposal of Sky Bet (149)
Foreign exchange movements (344)
Other 34
At 30 June 2015 4160

Goodwi!l has princtpally anisen from the Groups purchases of Sky Deutschland Sky ltalia Briush Interactive Broadcasting ( BIB) Easynets
UK broadband network assets and residential activities 365 Medias content activities Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the 02 consumer broadband
and fixed-line telephony business

Goodwill allocated by cash generating urit, s analysed as follows

2015 2014

£m Em

UK & Ireland’ 904 B70
Germany & Austria? 2576 -
(taly® 680 -
Bettmg and gaming* - 149
4160 1019

Impairment reviews were performed on these goodwill balances at 30 June 2015 which did not indicate impairment

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generating units were calculated on the basis of value in use using cash flows calculated for the next five years
as forecast by management A long-term growth rate of 3% was applied to all units in order to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond this period

(201473%) The cash flows of the UK & Ifeland CGU were distounted Tsing a pre-tax discount rate of 8% (20147 8%) thecash flows of the Germany &

Austna CGL were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 7% and the cash flows of the Italy CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8%

In determining the applicable discount rate management applied Judgement i respect of several factors whichincluded inter alia assessing the nsk
attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pricing model (the CAPM ) Management gave consideration to the selection of
appropriate mputs to the CAPM which ncluded the nisk free rate the equity nsk premium and a measure of systematic risk Management also considered
capital structure and an appropriate cost of debt in arrving at the discount rate

The key assumptions on which the forecast five-year cash flows of each unit were based include the number of gross customer additions the rate of
churn tha average revenue per user levels of programming spend acquisition costs per customer and antiopated changes in the product mx and
marketing mix of the broadcast actiaties The values assigned to each of these assumptions were determined based on the extrapolation of historical
trends within the Group and external infermation on expected future trends in the entertainment and communications industry in each terrtory

1 UK &lreland

Formerly known as the Broadcast unit, the UK & Ireland unit includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of BiB Easynet s UX broadband network assets
and residential actmities 365 Media s content actities Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business
The UK & Ireland unit includes intangibles with indefinite lives of £25 mitlion (2014 £25 millon)

2 Germany & Austria
The Germany & Austna unit includes goodwill anising from the purchase of Sky Deutschland For further detals see note 3i

3 Italy

The Italy unit includes goodwill arising from the purchase of Sky italia The italy unit includes intangibles withindefinite lives of E457 mithon For further
detalls see note 31

4 Betting and gaming

The betting and garmung urit was cormprised of goodwili ansing on the purchase of the Sports Internet Group ( SIG ) and 365 Medias betting activities
which were included within Sky Bet. A controlling stake in Sky Bet was sold on 19 March 2015 and the wdentifiable goodwill attributable to the CGU was
incfuded within the Group s profit on disposal See note 3 for further details
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13 Intangible assets
Internally
generated Acquired
Software Customer intangible intangible
Internally development contracts assets assets
generated (external) and related Other not yet notyet
intangible  and software customer intangible avallable avaitable
Trademarks assets licences  relationships assets foruse for use Total
Em £m Em Em Em Em £m Em
Cost
At 1 Juty 2013 18 386 525 197 274 30 57 1487 g
Additions from business combinaticns - - - 3] 2 - - 8 -5.
Additions - 87 36 - 64 84 £ n 5
Disposals - 8 ! - 3 - - (35) 8
Transfers - 43 1l - 1 (43) 12y -
At 30 June 2014 18 498 558 203 338 71 86 1772
Additons from business combinations 457 - 105 3070 28 - 21 3681
Additions 5 76 75 - 60 m 35 362
Disposals (4) (8} 4%) - m - - (1683
Transfers - 60 22 - 2 (60) (24) -
Foreign exchange movements - - {12 (294) m - #)] (309)
AL 30 June 2015 476 616 603 2979 426 122 ne 5338
Amortisation
AL T July 2013 5] 181 357 15 209 - - 768
Arortisation 1 76 53 32 64 - - 226
Disposals - 08) (14) - 3 - - (35)
Impasrments - - 1 - 1 - - 2
At 30 June 2014 7 239 397 48 271 - - 962
Amartisation 1 84 88 23 80 - - 464 T
Disposals @ (18 (145) - m - - (168) 2
impairments = 4 1 = - - = 5 g-
Foresgn exchange movements - - [§)] (8) - - - ()] §
At 30 June 2015 4 309 340 271 330 - - 1254 g
Carrying amounts z
At 1 July 2013 12 205 168 181 65 30 57 718 g
At 30 June 2014 n 259 161 155 67 71 86 810
At 30 June 2015 472 307 263 2708 96 122 16 4,084
The Group s internallty generated intangible assets relate principally to software development associated with our customer management $ystems
and set-tep boxes The Group s other intangible assets mainly include copynght hicences and connection fees
The estimated future amertsation charge on intangible assets with finite lives For each of the next five years 1s set out below It1s likely that future
amortisation will vary from the figures below as the estimate dees not include the impact of any future investments dispesals or capital expendrture
2006 2017 2018 2019 2020
£m Em £m Em £m
Estimated amortisation charge 598 427 356 301 242
w
=
g:‘
1]
=
=X
a
4]
5
<3
3
&
S
=2
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13 Intangble assets (continued)
Within mtangible assets there are certain assets with indefinite useful ives The carrying value of these assets 1s £482 million (2014 £25 million)

As part of the acquisition of Sky [taha the Group acquired the nights to use trademarks in certain terriiories The nghts to use trademarks in certan
territones are considered to have indefinite lives because the Group has the intention and ability to consume these nghts over an indefinite period
An impairment review of the assets)s performed annually as part of the Group s impairment reviews of its CGUs {(note 12)

Included within customer contracts and related customer relationships are intangible assets with a net book value of £1,522 million (2014 niljand a
remaining useful bfe of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base in Germany & Austna and intangible assets with a net bock value of £1057 million
(2014 nity and a remaineng useful ife of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base initaly

14 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment Assets
Freeheld furniture not yet
land and Leaseho!d and Cwned available
buildings? improvements fixtures set-top boxes foruse Total?
£m Em £m £m Em Em
Cost
AL 1July 2013 334 58 1387 - 53 1832
Addtions 4 - 131 - ns 254
Disposals - M (74) - - 75)
Transfers 31 - 34 - {65) -
At 30 Juna 2014 369 57 1478 - 107 2,0m
Additions from business combinations - 38 73 355 54 530
Additiens 3 3 105 16 261 388
Desposals (5) - [:))] 8 Q] (92)
Transfers 24 - 39 45 (108) -
Foreign exchange movements - (€)] [¢2))] (36) (6) (53)
At 30 June 2015 391 S5 1609 372 317 2,784
Deprecation
AL 1July 2013 46 34 Fal - - el
T Depreglation” T Tttt T g 7 193 = = 208— ~ = -
Disposals - m 74 - - (75)
Foreign exchange movements - - @)} - - Q]
At 30 June 2014 54 40 B29 - - 923
Depreciation 10 10 194 B4 - 288
impairments 2 - 4 - - 6
Disposals (5) - (78) 3 - (86)
Foreign exchange movements - - m 2 - (3)
At 30 June 2015 61 50 948 79 - 1138
Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2013 288 24 676 - 53 1041
At 30 Juna 2014 35 17 649 - 107 1088
At 30 Jupe 2015 330 45 6561 293 317 1646

1 Theamounts shown include assets held under finance leases with a net book value of E31 million (2014 £14 millen) The cost of these assets was £48 million (2074 £23 midhon)
and the accumulated depreciationwas E17 milion (2014 €9 millian) Depreciation charged during the year on such assets was E8 millon (2014 £2 milhon)

2  Depreciationwas not charged on E88 milion of land (2014 £88 iullion)

3 Aspartof the disposal of Sky Bet which has been treated a3 a discontrued operation (note 3) property plant and equipment with a carrying value of £3 milion was dispased of
In addition £4 milhon of depreciation relating to Sky Bet forms part of disconunued operations (2014 £4 milien)
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15 Investments injoint ventures and associates

A list of the Group s investments in Joint ventures and associates including the name country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest
15 grven i note 33 to the consolidated financial statements

The movement in joint ventures and associates during the year was as follows

2015 2014
£m - Em

Share of net assets
AL T July 173 164
Movement in net assets
- Funding net of repayments 10 6
- Dividends receved (25) (32)
- Share of profits 28 35
- Acquisition of associate’ 86 -
- Disposal of associates? (149) -
- Exchange differences on translation of foreign joint ventures and associates 10 -
At 30 June 133 173

1 During the year the Group sold a controlling stake in Sky Bet and retained an equity stake of 20% 1n Sky Bet Seenote 3 for further datails
2 During the year the Group disposed of its nterest s NGC Network International LLC and NGC Network Latin Amenica LLL See note € for further details

The Group s share of any capital commitments and contingent habiities of associates and joint ventures 1s shown in note 28

a) Investmants in associates
For the penod between the date of completion of the sale of the controlling stake in Sky Bet and 30 fune 2015 its revenue was £80 million and profit for
the period was £13 milhion

For the period between 1 July 2014 and the disposal of NGC Network International ELC and NGC Network Latin Amenca LLC their revenue was £119 million
and profit for the period was £36 million

b) Investments 10 joint ventures

uodo 21831ens

IIUBSLIDADD)

Representing the Group s share of each joint venture

2015 2014

£m £m

Non-current assets 12 26

Current assets 77 66
Current hlabilities (36) (74)
Nan-current hatnhties (67 Q)]

Shareholders’ equity (8} 17

Revenue 106 93
Expense 91 an
Taxation [€)] (3)

Share of profit from joint ventures 12 13

The aggregate carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures and associates that are not incdwidually matenal for the Group 1s £44 million as at 30
June 2015 (2014 £41 million)

16 Avallable-for-sale investments

2015 2014

Em £Em

Listed nvestments 3 518
Unlisted investments 28 15
3 533

The isted mvestments include nil (2014 £514 million) relating to the Group s tnvestment in [TV The Group s isted investments are carned at far value
and the far value 1s determined with reference to the equity share price at the balance sheet date Unlisted investments consist of minonty equity
stakes in a number of technology and start-up companies

On 17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of 6 4%in ITV ple conststing of 259 820,065 [TV shares for an aggregate consideratron of £481 milion
A profit of E429 millon was realised on dispasal beng the excess of the consideration above the previousty written-down value of the shares for
accounting purposes (£52 million)

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further shareholding of 0 8% in [TV pie, consisting of 31 864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration
of £65 milion A profit of £58 million was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down value of
the shares for accounting purposes (£7 million}
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17 Deferred tax

1) Recogrused deferred tax assets (habilites)

Share-based Financial
Accelerated Intangibles on Short-term payments  instruments
tax business temporary temporary temporary
depreciation  combinations Tax losses differences differences differences Total
Em Em £m £m £m Em Em
At July 2013 ©)] - - 5 43 (18) 37
Credit (charge) to income 4 - - m ()] 1 14y
Credit to equity - - - - 1 9 10
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 1 - - - - 1
Effect of change in taxrate
- Income - - - - [E)] 1 @)
- Equity - - - - M U] (2)
At 30 June 2014 3 1 - 4 28 (6) 30
(Charge) credit to income (28) 61 Pl [€)] 16 (2) 65
Credit (charge) to equity - - - - 15 20y ()
Acquisition of subsidianes - (895) 589 a0 - [4)] 217
Effect of change In tax rate
-Income 3 - - - - - 3
Foreign exchange movements 2 81 57 {8) - - 18
At 30 June 2015 (20) (752) 553 B3 59 29) {106)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 on the basis that, from management s current forecast of the Groups
entities 1t 15 probable that there witl be suitabite taxable profits against which these assets can be utihsed The fair value of deferred tax assets in excess
of deferred tax habilities ansing on acquisition of Sky Deutschland was £115 millien on acquisition and has a carrying value of £147 million as at 30 June
2015 The majonty of the deferred tax asset relates to taxlosses Itts concluded to be probable that there will be suitable future taxable profits agamnst
which the deferred tax assets can be utilised taking account of the current forecast of Sky Deutschland s results

Deferred tax assets and habiities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which they reverse The UK Government
anncunced a reduction in the main rate of UK corporation tax to 19% with effect from 1 Apnil 2017 and to 18% from 1 April 2020 Thése changes have not

béen substantively enacted and have not therefore been incuded in the figlres abiove The impact of the futurerateé reductions will be'accsunted forto——

the extent that they are enacted at future balance sheet dates howaver it 1s estmated that this will not have a material impact on the Group The rate
enacted or substantively enacted for the relevant periods of reversal 1s 20% as at 30 June 2015 (2014 20%) i the UK 314% in Italy and 27 4% in Germany

Certain deferred tax assets and labilities have been offset junsdiction by Junisdiction

2015 2014

£€m Em

Deferred tax assets 175 52
Deferred tax habifities (28%) 22)
(106) 30

1) Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2015 2014

£m £m

Tax losses ansing from trading 219 245
Tax losses ansing from capital disposals and provisions against investments 278 283
497 528

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised In respect of these items because 1t 1s not probabte that future taxable profits will be available against
which the Group can utilise the losses

At 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £9 million (2014 £9 million) principally arising from UK trading losses in the Group has not been recogrised These
losses can only be offset against taxable profits generated in the entities concerned There is currently insufficient evidence to support the recogrition of
adeferred tax asset relating to these losses The UK trading losses can be carried forward indefinitely

At 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £210 million (2014 £236 million) has not been recogrised in respect of overseas trading losses on the basis that it
15 not probable that these temporary differences will be utiised These losses include £207 milhion (2014 £233 million) with respect to the Groups German
holding company s former tnvestment in KirchPayTV and £3 million (2014 £3 million) with respect to other subsidiaries

At 30 June 2015, a deferred tax asset of £274 milon (2014 £274 mullion) has not been recogrused in respect of capital losses related to the Group's former
nvestment in KrrechPayTV on the basis that utiisation of these temporary differences is not probable At 30 June 2015 the Group also has capital losses
with a tax value estimated to be £4 milion (2014 £9 million) inctuding impairment of a football club and other investments which have rot been
recognised as a deferred tax asset on the basis that itis not probable that they will be utiised The capitallosses can be carried forward indefinitely
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18 Inventories
2015 2014
Em £m
Television programme rights =11 488
Set-top boxes and ratated equipment 26 50
Other inventones 10 8
Current inventory 847 546
Non-¢urrent programme distnibution rights N 20
Total nventory 878 566 o
At 30 June 2015 75% (2014 81%) of the television programme rights and 100% (2014 100%) of set-top boxes and related equipment and other g
inventanes 1s expected to be recognised in the income statement within 12 months g
m
19 Trade and other recewvables
2015 014
Em Em
Gross trade recevables 337 235
Less provision for imparrment of recevables 70 (95)
Net trade receivables 267 140
Amounts recewvable from joint ventures and associates 9 7
Amounts receivabte from other related parties 25 5
Prepayments 499 279
Accrued income 216 179
VAT 3 2
Other 66 23
Current trade and other receivables 1,096 635
Prepayments 6 4 -
Armounts receivable from joint ventures and associates 70 - z
Other recevables 10 3_ a2
Non-current trade and other receivables 86 7 Y
Total trade and other recervables 1182 642 %
Included withun current trade and other recavables 1 nil (2014 nul) which 1s due in more than one year %
The ageing of the Groups net trade recewvables which are past due but not impaired 1s as follows w
2015 2014
£m Em
Up to 30 days past due date 27 27
30 to 60 days past due date 8 3
60 to 120 days past due date 4 2
120+ days past due date 1 -
40 32
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair vaiues The Group 1s exposedto
credit risk on its trade and other receivables however the Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit nisk. with exposure
spread over alarge number of counterparties and custamers Trade receivables principally comprise amounts outstanding from subscribers n
advertisers and other customers g
. =
Provisions for doubtful debts 2
m
2015 2014 5
£m £m g
Balance at beginning of year 95 89 é
Amounts utihsed (65) @2n §
Provided during the year 40 33
Balance at end of year 70 95
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20 Trade and other payables

2015 2014
£m £m
Trade payables 1361 802
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates 16 1
Amounts owed to other related parties 175 124
VAT 155 169
Accruals 1160 747
Deferred income 401 318
Other 162 ns
Current trade and other payables 3430 2286
Trade payables Ell 23
Armounts owed to other related parties 5 10
Deferred income 5] 5
Other 52 18
Non-current trade and other payables 94 56
Total trade and other payables 3524 2342
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates thesr fair values Trade payables principally
comprise amounts cutstanding for programming purchases and ongoing costs
21 Provisions
At Provided Utilised At Acquisition Reclassified Provided  Utiised foreign At
1July during durning 1July of Drsposalof  during the during dunng  exchange  30Jure
2013 theyear theyear 2014 subsidiaries subsidiaries year theyear theyear movement 2015
£m Em £m £m Em Em £m £m Em £m Em
Current habilities
Restructunng provision' 6 14 (8) 22 10 - - 9 ()] ) 21
Customer-related
provisions? - - g (39) 2 31 33——
QOther provisions? 37 [ (19) 24 3 - - 34 (123 - 49
04 20 (66) 48 13 - - 74 (31 0] 103
Non-current habilities
Other provisions* 14 10 am 14 20 {6} 6 25 ()] 2) a1
Employee benefit
obligations® - - - - 30 - - - m (&3] %
14 10 (10 14 50 (6) 25 o) (5) 77

b oW =

on the terms of the leases but are expected to continue up to August 2016
5 Duning the year the Group acquired employee benefit abliganions as part of its acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia on 12 November 2014 These obligations are described

further below

Employee benefit obligations

These provtsions refate to costs incurred as part of corporate restructuning and efficiency programmes
These provisions include costs of a programme to replace aged customer equipment.
Induded in current ather provisions are amounts provided far legal disputes and warranty hatihities
Included within nan-current other provisions are amounts provided for onerous contracts for property leases and maintenance The trng of the cash flows are dependent

Acquired at Actuanal Foremgn At

12 November Penston losses  exchange 30 June

2014 payments {gains) movement, 2015

£m £m Em £m Em

Sky Deutschland defined benefit obligations 10 - 1 @] 10
Sky ltalia employee benefit obligations 20 m (n 2 16
30 m - (3) 26
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a) Sky Deutschland
Sky Deutschland operates unfunded final salary defined benefit pension plans that are not covered by plan assets These plans were closed to
future accrual The tetal defined benefit obhigation at 30 June 2015 was £10 millicn The amount of the pension entitlement depends on the salary
of the respective employee at the time of retirement. Employee benefit obligations will be funded out of current and future earnings
The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit method applying the followng principal assumptions
- Actuanal projections (including assumptions about cost-of-lving iIncreases salary increases etc ) were made to value the future benefits expected
to be pard by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both during and after employment) disability and early retirement Senionityand -
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account in projecting future benefits
= The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability o
of services being rendered g
= The following specific assumptions have been used §
[n]
- Annual discount rate of 2 45% ®
- Annual growth rate of 2 00%
- Annual salary growthrate of 250% and
- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 700%
Since there are no plan assets as defined by IAS 19 (revised 201) and all actuanal gains and losses are recogmised when incurred the present value of
the defined benefit cbligation of the pension cbligations and the obhigations similar to pensions I1s equivatent te the provision recognised on the balance
sheet
Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a matertalimpact on the provision
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation 15 21 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pensicn payments in the year to 30 June 2016 are less than £1 milhon
b) Sky ltaha
Sky ltalias employee benefit obligations relate to a provision for employee retirement deternuned using actuanal techrigues (as discussed further o
below) and regutated by Article 2120 of the italan Civil Code These plans were closed to future accrual The total employee benefit obligation at 2
30-June 2015 was £16 milhion-The benefit 1s paid upon retirement as a lump sum the amount of which corresponds to the total of the prowisions-———— -u——a
accrued during the employees service penad based on payroli costs as revalued until retirement Employee benefit obligations will be funded out n
of current and future earnings %
. 2
The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected urit credit methed applying the following principal assumptions g
« Actuarial projections (iIncluding assumptions about cost-of-Iving Increases salary Increases etc ) were made tovalue the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortahity (both dunng and after employment) disability and early retirement Senionity and
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement, date were alse taken into aceount in projecting future benefits
+ The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability
of services being rendered
+ The followtng specific assumptions have been used
- Annual discount rate of 012%
- Annualinflation rate of 010%,
- Annual revaluztionrate of 1 58%
- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 5 39% and @
- Annual mortality rate of 010% g}
Q
Since there are no plan assets as defined by 1AS 19 (revised 20Ht) and all actuarial gains and losses are recognised when incurred, the present value g
of the defined benefit obhigation of the pension obligations and the obhigations similar to pensions is equivalent to the proviston recognised on the s
balance sheet g
Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a materiat impact on the provision g,
o
p=)

The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation 1s 17 years as of the balance sheet date

Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 areless than £1 million
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22 Borrowings

2015 2014
Em £m
Current borrowings
Loan Notes 4 -
US$750 million of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable 1n October 2015 468 -
Obligations under finance leases® - - 22 -h
494 N
MNon-current borrowings
US$750 mithan of S 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 - 434
£400 million of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 20179 399 400
US$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018% 474 442
Us$582 8 milion of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayab'e in November 20184 372 353
US$750 million of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20199 477 -
€600 milhon of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 20209 425 -
£450 milhon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 20209 445 -
€1 500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20219 1058 -
US$800 milhon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 20220 504 456
€850 million of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20239 602 -
US$1 250 milhon of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable In September 2024 787 -
€1000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20269 705 -
£300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 296
E300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029© 297 -
€400 milhion of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20299 281 -
US$350 million of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable (n October 2035¢ 218 201
Loan Notes 2 1
Obligations under finance leases®™ 76 65
7418 2658
() Guaranteed Notes
At 30 June 2015 the Group had in 1ssue the following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by the Company
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m Em £m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 . 290 97 65 B29% 6&m LIBOR +1 B92%
US$582 8 millien of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 125 7091% 6m LIBOR +5 542%
£450 milion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1 230%
1226 550 676
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Valge* Fixed Floating
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 milhon of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0 656%
€600 million of Floating Rate Notes repayable in Apnl 2020 600 - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1 500 milivon of 1500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1506 - 1500% -
US$800 million of 3 125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 689 689 - 2118% -
€850 mdlion of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 850 850 - 1875% -
US%1250 milhon of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1000 milion of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Septemnber 2026 1000 1,000 - 2500% -
£300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 an 41 - 5006% -
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 399 399 - 3122% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable i Novernber 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
7398 6218 181
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At 30 June 2015 the Group had in issue the following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m Em Em Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 428 " 257 5427% &m LIBOR + 0 698%
£400 mullion of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5750% BmLUBOR - 0229%
US$350 million of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5826% -
1028 721 307
Q
At 30 June 2014 the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by the Company g
Interest Rate Hedgtng Hedged Interest Rates g
Hedged ®
Value* Fixaed Floating
Em £m £m Fixed Floating
Us$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6829% 6m LIBOR + 1892%
US$582 8 milhon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 1289 7091% 6mLIBOR + 5542%
US$800 milion of 3 125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3226% -
£300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6 000% -
1579 1383 226
At 30 June 2014 the Group had in1ssue the following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value® Fixed Floating
Em £m £m Fixed Floating
US$750 mithon of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 428 171 257 5 427% 6m LIBOR + 0 698% -
£400 milhon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Octcber 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6m UBOR - 0 229% z
LS3350 milion of § 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 = 5 826% = _.§ _
1,028 721 307 E
1]
* Hedged value is the final redemption value including any hedging g
o
3
The Group has a Global Medium-Term Note Programme (the Programme ) which provides the Group with a standardised documentation s
platform for semor debt 1ssuance of up to £5 billion in the major global bond markets All sterling and euro Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued
during the year were 15sued under a £10 billon acquisition refated programme The £300 milhon of 6 300% Guaranteed Notes matunng in May 2027 have
been issued under the Group s historical EMTN Programme
(1) Finance leases
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows
2015 2014
£m £m
Within one year 22 n
Between one and five years 53 L]
After five years 128 136
203 186 0
Future finance charges on finance lease llabilties (105) moy 5
Present value of finance lease habilities a8 76 g
[y
The main obligations under finance leases are inrelation to B
g
{a) finance arrangements in connection with the broadband network infrastructure Dunng the year repayments of £7 miliion (2014 £7 million) were 3
made against the lease A propartion of these payments have been allocated agamnst the capital outstanding Thelease bears interest at arate of %
111% and expires in November 2039 El

(b) finance arrangements in cannection with the contact centre in Dunfermline During the year repayments of £1 million (2014 £1mithon) were made
against the lease A proportion of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of
8 5% and expires in September 2020

(© finance arrangements in connection with datacentre equipment During the year repayments of £3 million (2014 £3 million) were made against the
lease Agproportion of these payments have been allocated aganst the capital amaunt outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of 3 6% and
expiresn June 2016

(d) finance arrangements In connection with set-top boxes During the year repayments of £5 million (2014 nit) were made against the lease A proportion
of these payments have been allocated aganst the capital amount, outstanding The lease bears interest at a rate of 7% and expires in March 2017
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(continued)

22 Borrowings {continued)

(m) Revolving Credit Facility
The Group has a £1 billion RCF with a matunity date of 30 November 2020 syndicated acress 15 counterparty banks each with a mimimum credit rating
of Baa2 or equivalent from Standard & Poor s At 30 June 2015 the RCF was undrawn {2014 undrawn)

The Group 15 subject to two financial covenants under the RCF a maximum leverage ratio and a mimimum interest cover ratio which are tested at the end
of each six-monthly penod The key financial covenants are the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the loan agreements) and EBITDA to Net Interest
Payable (as defined in the loan agreements) Net Debt to EBITDA must be no more than 4 00 1 and EBITDA to Net Interest Payable must be atleast 350 1
The Group was in compliance with these covenants for all penods presented .

{Iv) Guarantees

The foltlowing guarantees are tn place relating to the Group s borrowings (a) Sky UK Limited Sky Subscnbers Services Limuted Sky Group Finance plc
and Sky Telecommurications Services Limited have given joint and several guarantees in relation to the Company s £1 bilhion RCF and the outstanding
Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued by the Company and (b) the Company Sky UK Limited Sky Subscribers Services Limited and Sky

Telecommunications Services Limited have given Joint and several guarantees n relation to the autstanding Guaranteed Notes issued by Sky Group
Finance plc

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee in favour of 21st Century Fax Inc of up to half the annual payment obligations of Sky Deutschland
fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013-2017 Bundesliga agreement It has also provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 215t Century Fox Inc
tn relation to UEFA Champions League and other programming obligations of Sky Itaha Sl

23 Derivatives and other financial instruments

Set out below are the dervative finanaial instruments entered into by the Group to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risks

2015 2014
Asset Lizbthity Asset Liabihgy
Farr Value Notional Fair Value Notonal Farir Value Netional Fair Value Notonal
£Em Em £m £m £m £m £m Em
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 62 1275 - - 77 767 - -
T T TTTTCrossTeurrengyswaps T T T T 18 466 = = = = = =
Cash flowhedges
Cross-currency swaps 137 1435 12) 503 72 661 (36) 503
Forward foreign exchange contracts 148 219 (36) 1065 33 764 (76) 1464
Net investment hedges
Cross-currency swaps 150 1943 3) 400 - - - -
Derwatmves not in a formal hedge relationship
Cross-currency swaps 51 353 {25) 390 21 353 {59) 290
Forward foreign exchange contracts 17 244 (7 460 2 27 @) 262
Interest rate swaps - - - 260 5 260 - -
Total 583 7,907 (83) 3078 210 3022 (175} 2619
The matunty of the derivative financial instruments is as follows
2015 204
Asset Liabity Asset Liability
£m £m £m £m
Inone year orless 130 22) 15 (39)
Between one and two years 45 (M 43 (25)
Between two and five years 254 40) 132 {75)
In more than five years 153 (14) 20 (36)
Total 583 (83) 210 75)

The farr value of the Group's debt-related dervative portfolio at 30 June 2015 was a £378 million net asset (2014 net asset of £80 milhion) with notional
principal amounts totalling £7025 million (2014 £2 934 milllon) This comprised net assets of £125 million designated as cash flow hedges (2014 net
assets of £36 milion) net assets of ES0 mithon designated as farr value hedges (2014 net assets of £77 million) net assets of £147 million designated
as netinvestment hedges (2014 nil) and net assets of £26 million not designated in a formal hedge relationship (2074 net assets of £33 million)

At 30 June 2015 the carrying value of financial assets that were upon Initial recognition designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
was nil (2004 nil}

In the prior year the Group entered into a collar arrangement to manage its exposure to movements in the value of certain available-for-sale investments
over a period of up to 18 months and with a notional value of £22 milion The collar mstrument was not designated for hedge accounting purposes with
movements In the fair value of the collar being taken to the income statement this collar arrangement was closed out in the current year
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Hedge accounting classification and impact

The Group designated certaininterest rate swaps as fair value hedges of mterest rate risk and cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate
risk and foreign exchange nsk thes represents 25% (2014 26%) of the tatal debt related dervative partfolla Movements in the fair value of the hedgec
items are taken to the iIncome staterment and are offset by movements in the fair value of the hedging instruments to the extent that hedge accounting
1s achieved

The Group designated certain fixed rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges this represents 28% (2014 40%) of the total debt related dervative
portfolio As such the effective portion of the gain or loss on these contracts s reported as a separate component of the hedging reserve and 1s then
reclassified to the income statement in the same periods that the forecast transactions affect the income staterment Cash flows on the swaps oceur
semt-annually up to and inclusive of the relevant bond maturity disclosed in note 22 During the current year gans of 137 milhon were removed from
the hedging reserve and ¢charged to finance costs in the iIncome statement to offset the currency translation movements in the underlying hedged debt
(2014 losses of £140 million)

The Group designated certamn crogs-currericy swaps as net investment hedges this represents 33% (2014 nil) of the total debt related dervative pertfolio
Exchange differences ansing fram the translation of the net investment in foreign eperations are recogrnised directly In equity Gains and losses on those
hedging nstruments (which include bonds and cross-currency swaps and are separately designated as net investment hedges) designated as hedges
of the net investments i foreign operations are recognised In equity to the extent that the hedging relationship 1s effective these amounts are included
in exchange differences on translation of foreign operations as stated 1n the statement of comprehensive iIncome Gains and losses relating to hedge
ineffectiveness are recogrised immediately i the income statement for the penod Gains and losses accumulated in the foreign currency transtation
reserve are Included in the income statement when the foreign operation 1s disposed of

The Group designates certan forward foreign exchange contracts and the intrinsic element of eptions (collars) as cash flow hedges of farecast foreign
currency sales and purchases Gains or losses are released from the hedging reserve and recycled to the income statement in the same penod as the
hedged 1tem 1s recogmised If forecast transacttons are no longer expected to occur any amounts mcluded in the hedging reserve related to that forecast
transaction would be recognised directly in the income statement During the current year losses of £1 milion were removed fram the hedging reserve
and credited to operating expense in the income statement (2014 gamns of £7 million) Gans of £26 milhion were removed from the hedging reserve

and debited to revenue in the ncome statement (2014 losses of £2 million)

Hedge effectiveness testing 1s performed quarterly using the dollar-offset approach The actual movement in the hedging items i1s compared with
the movement 1n the valuation of the hypothetically perfect hedge of the underlying risk at inception and any ineffectiveness 1s recognised directly
In the Income statement, For fair value hedges ineffectiveness of £1 milhion was recognised in the iIncome statement during the current year (2014
£1 miliom} For cash flow hedges ineffectiveness of less than £1 million was recegrised in the mcome statement dunng the current year (2014 nil)
For net investment hedges ineffectiveness of nil was recognised in the incame statement duning the current year (2014 nif)

A hedge relationship 1s deemed to be effective if the ratio of changes in valuation of the underlying hedged item and the hedging instrument is withm
the range of 80% t0 125% Any relationship which has a ratio outside this range 18 deemed to be ineffective at which point hedge accounting i1s suspended
During the year ended 30 June 2015, there were no instances in which the hedge relationship was not highly effective (2014 no instances)

Financial nstruments
(a) Carrying value and fair value
The accounting classification of each class of the Group s financial assets and financial labihties together with ther fair values s as follows

Held to Cernvatives Dernvatives in Tetal
maturity Available- deemed held hedging Loans and Other carrying Total far
nvestments for-sale fortrading relationships recevables habilities value value
EM Em £m Em Em £m £m £m
At 30 June 2005
Quated bond debt - - - - - (7808) (7808) (8083)
Derwative finanoal instruments - - 35 464 - - 500 504
Trade and other payables - - - - - (2894 (2894) {2854
Provisions - - - - - (129) (129) {129)
Cbhgations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - (104} (104) {104)
Avanable-for-sale nvestments - Ell - - - - N Ell
Trade and other recewvables - - - - 807 - 807 807
Short-term depostts 1100 - - - - - 1100 1100
Cash and cash equivalents 50 - - - 1328 - 1378 1378
At 30 June 2014
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (2592) (2592) (2896}
Dervative financial instruments - - (35) 70 - - 35 35
Trade and other payables - - - - - (1788} (1788) (1788)
Provisions - - - - - (45) (45) 45)
Obhgations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - [&2)] an 7
Avaltable-for-sale investments - 533 - - - - 533 533
Trade and other recewables - - - - 349 - 349 349
Short-term deposits 295 - - - - - 255 2895
Cash and cash equwnalents 300 - - - 782 - 1082 1082
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23 Dervatives and other financial instruments (continued)
The farr values of financiat assets and finanaal habilities are determined as follows

.

The farr value of financial assets and finanoal habilities with standard terms and conditions and which are traded on active liquid markets
1s determined with reference to quoted market prices

.

The fair value of other financial assets and financial habilities {excluding dervative iInstruments) s determined in accordance with generally
accepted pnicing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes
for sirmlar instruments - - —— - _

« Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves denved from quoted interest rates
matching matunties of the contracts

+ Interest rate and cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the
applheable yield curves derved from quoted interestrates and

The fair value of obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 1s estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present value
The fair value of short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents 1s equivalent to carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments

The differences between carrying values and far values reflect unrealhsed gains or losses inherent in the financial instruments based on valuations
as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly differant
from the values reported above

Cash and cash equivalents classified as held to maturity investments comprise mongy market deposns which have maturity dates of less than
three months from inceptiorn Money market deposits enhanced return investments and tn-party repurchase agreements which have maturnty
greater than three months from inception are classified as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents classified as loans and receivables mainty comprise investments in AAAM rated money market funds which can
be withdrawn without notice
(b) Fair value hierarchy

The following table categorises the Group s finanaal instruments which are held at fair value into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
observable inputs are used in determining therr fair values

Fairvalue Levell Level 2 tevel3
£m Em £m Em

AL30June201s T
Financial assets
Availlable-for-sale financial iInstruments
Otherinvestments 3 3 - 28
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 62 - 62 -
Cross-currency swaps 356 - 356 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 165 - 165 -
Total 614 3 583 28
Finanaal habilities
Financial hatilhities at fair value through profit ar ioss
Cross-currency swaps (40) - 40 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts @a3) - 43 -
Total (83 - (83) -
At 30 June 2014
Financial assets
Availlable-for-sale financial instruments
ITV investment 514 514 - -
Other investments ¥ 4 - 15
Financal assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interast rate swaps 82 - 82 -
Cross-currency swaps 93 - 94 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 35 - 34 -
Total 743 518 210 15
Financal habiities
Financial labilities at fair value through profit ortoss
Cross-currency swaps (95) - (95) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (80) - @0) -
Tatal (175) - (175) -
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Level 1
Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or habilities

Level 2

Fair values measured using inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hability either directly
or indirectly Derwative financial instrument fair values are present values
determined from future cash flows discounted at rates denved from
market source data

Level 3

Farr values measured using mputs for the asset or lability that are not
based on observable market data Certain of the Group s available-for-
sale financial assets are held at fair value and are categorised as Level 3
i the fawr value werarchy

24 Financial nsk management

Group Treasury activity

The Groups Treasury function s respansible for raising finance for the Groups
operations together with associated hquidity management and management
of foreign exchange interest rate and credit nsks Treasury operations are
conducted wathin & framework of policies and guidelines authonsed and
reviewed annually by both the Audit Committee and the Board, which recewea
regular updates of Treasury activity Derivative instruments are transacted

for nsk management purposes only 1t1s the Group s policy that all hedging is
to cover known nisks and no speculative trading is undertaken Regular and
frequent, reporting to management is required for all transactions and
expasures, and the internal control environment. 1s subject to periodic review
by the Group s intermal audit team

The Group s principal market nsks are exposures to changes in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates which anise both from the Group s

Finanaal statements

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both dervatives and non-dernvative
financtal instruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate
habilities the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of hatality
outstanding at the batance sheet date I1s outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis paint nse er fall in interest rates
at 30 June 2015 and If all other vanables were held canstant

+ The Group's profit for the year ended 30 June 2015 would increase
or decrease by less than £1million (2014 profit for the year would
necrease or decrease by £8 million) The year-on-year moverment i1s
driven by an increase in the level of floating debt held

» Other equity reserves would decrease or increase by £12 milron
(2014 decrease orincrease by £6 million) ansmg from movements
in cash flow hedges

A one hundred basis point nise or fall n interest rates represents a large
but reahstic movement which can easily be multiplied to give sensitivities
at dfferent interest rates

The sensitmity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used
wath caution as the impacis prowvided are not necessarly indicative of the
actualimpacts that would be expenenced because the Group s actual
exposure to market rates changes as the Group s portfolio of debt, cash and
foreign currency contracts changes Inaddition the effectof a changeina
particular market variable on fair values or cash flows is calculated without
considenng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or
metigating actions that would be taken by the Group The changes in
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market vanables

and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gans or losses

sources of finance and 1its operations Following evaluation of those
market nisks the Group selectively enters into derivative financial
instruments to manage these expasures The principal instruments
currently used are interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate nisks and
cross-currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge
transactional and translational currency exposures

Interest rate nisk

The Group has financtal exposures to UK euro and US interestrates ansing
primarity from the Groups tong-term bonds and other borrowings The Groups
hedging policy requires that between 50% and 85% of borrowings are held at
fixed rates Thisis actueved by issuing fixed rate bonds or floating rate notes
and then using interest rate swaps to adjust the balance between fixed and
floating rate debt. The Groups bank debt is at floating rates and when drawn
means that the mix of fixed and floating rate debt fluctuates and s therefore
managed to ensure compliance with the Group s hedging policy At 30 June
2015 76% of borrowings were held at fixed rates after hedging (2014 80%)

The Group uses dervatives to corvert all of its US dollar-denominated debt and
associated interest rate obligations to pounds stering or euros (see section
on foresgn exchange nsk for further detail) At 30 June 2015 the Group had

no net US dollar denominated interest rate exposure onits barrawings

The Group designates certain interest rate swaps as hedges of Interest
rate risk and certain cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of both
interest rate nsk and currency risk. Movernents in the farr value of the
hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by
mavements in the fair value of the hedging instruments, whech are also
taken to the income statement Any hedge meffectiveness is recogmised
directly in the income statement In the year ended 30 June 2015 this
amounted to £1 million {2014 £1million)

At 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 the Group s annual finance costs would
Increase or decrease by less than £1 million for a one-notch downgrade or
upgrade i rating assuming RCF remains undrawn

nodadidoens
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Foreign exchange risk
A combination of cross-currency and interest rate swap arrangements

15 used to convert the Group s debt and assoctated interest rate
obligations to pounds sterling or euros at fixed exchange rates

At 30 June 2015, the sphit of the Group's aggregate borrowings into
their core currencies was US dollar 42% euros 39% and pounds sterling
19% (2014 US dollar 71% and pounds sterling 29%) At 30 June 2015 30%
of the Group s long-term borrowings after the impact of denvatives

are denominated in pounds sterling and 70% 1 euros

The Group 1s expesed to currency translation on the consolidation of its
foreign operations It uses certain borrowings and derwatve instruments
to hedgeits net investments in these subsicdiaries

The majority of the Group s revenues and operating expenses are
denominated in pounds sterling In the current year approximately
24% of operating expenses {£2 206 million) was dencminated In euros
(2014 approximatety 4% (£272 millon)) and approxmately 8% of
eperating expenses (758 millon) was dencminated in US dollars
(2014 approximately 10% (£629 mullion)) In the current year
approximately 25% of revenues (£2 572 million) was denorminated

N euros (2014 5% (£393 mullron))

Following the acqusitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italta the Group
Treasury function hedges the fareign currency exposure of its foreign
subsidianes into its local reperting currency In all ternitories the US dollar
expense relates mamly te the Group s programming contracts with US
suppliers together wiath US dollar-denaminated set-top box costs inthe
UK the eurc revenues primarily relate to subscribers located in frefand
The UK s exposure to eurc-denominated revenue is offset to a certain
extent by euro-denominated costs related mainty to certain
transponder costs and euro finanang costs on its borrowings the net
position being a euro surplus (2014 surplus)

The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar denominated highly
probable cash flows by using forward foreign exchange contracts
purchased up to five years ahead of the cash flow and currently no longer
hedges transactional euro exposures arising In the UK
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24 Financial risk management (continued)

It 1s the Group s pohcy that all US dollar foreign currency exposures
are substantially hedged in advance of the year inwhich they occur

At 30 June 2015 the Group had purchased forward foreign exchange
contracts representing

+ Approximately 92% of US dollar-denominated costs falling due wathin
one year (2014 95%) and on a decliring basis across five-year planning
horizon are hedged via

- Outstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate US$261
million (2014 US%2 358 million) at an average rate of US$158 to
£100 (2014 Us$160 0 £100)

- Qutstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate US$1891 mullion
(2074 USSNIl) at an average rate of US$118 to €100 (2014 Ni))

in respect of its legacy euro hedging programme and to hedge current
balance sheet exposures

- Qutstanding commitments to sell in aggregate €976 milhon (2014
€1078 million) at an average rate of £122to £100 (20714 €118 to £100)

~ Qutstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate €525 million
(2014 €111 million) at an average rate of €137 to £1 00 (2014 €118
to £100)

No forward fareign exchange contracts fall due beyond five years (2014 Two)

The Group designates the follow:ng as cash flow hedges for hedge
accounting purposes

= Forward foreign exchange contracts

« Cross-currency swaps where interest on both legs 1s at a fixed
nterest rate -

the valuation of denvatives (2014 gains of £27 million) The same weakening
would have a beneficial iImpact on other equity of £598 million (2014
benefical impact of £479 mullion)

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterfing against the euro would have the
effect of Increasing prafit by £69 milllon (2014 iIncreasing profit by £2 milion)
of which gains of £53 million relate to non-cash movements in the valuation
of dervatives (2014 Nil) The same strengthening would have a beneficial
impact onother equity of £102 mdlion (2014 beneficial impact of

£155 million)

A 25% weakening In pounds sterling agatnst the euro would have the effect
of decreasing profit by £ 15 million {2014 decreasing profit by £3 mullion) of
which losses of £88 midlion relate to non-cash movements in the valuation of
dervatives (2014 Nil} The same weakening would have an adverse impact on
other equsty of £170 milhon (2014 adverse impact of £259 million)

A 25% strengthening in euro agamnst the US doilar would have the effect of
ncreastng profit by €35 milion (2014 Nil) None of this amount relates to
non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives The same strengthening
would have a adverse impact on other equity of €312 million (2014 Nib)

A 25% weakening In eurc agasnst the US dollar would have the effect of

decreasing profit by €58 mulion (2014 Nily None of this amount relates to
non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives. The same weakening
would have an beneficat impact on other equity of €520 mullion (2014 NIl

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used
wrth caution as the impacts provided are not necessanly indicative of the
actual impacts that would be expenienced because the Groups actual
exposure to market rates is constantly changing as the Group s portfolo of
debt cash and foreign currency contracts changes In addition, the effect of a
change i1 a particular market varlable on fair values or cash flows 1s calculated
without considenng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or

As such the effective portion of the gan or loss on these contracts s
reported as a component of the hedging reserve outside the income
statement and is then reclassified to the income statement in the same
periods that the forecast transactions affact the income statement.
Ineffectiveness of less than £1 million was recognised in the income
statement durng the year (2014 less than £ milion)

A combination of US dollar denominated interest rate and US doltar/
pound sterling cross-currency swaps 15 used to convert fixed dollar
denominated debt to floating sterling denominated debt The interest
rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges The assocated cross-
currency swaps are not designated as hedging instruments for hedge
accounting purposes and as such movements in therr value are recorded
directly in the ncome statement

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following analysis details the Group s sensitivity to movements

in pounds sterling and euros against those currences inwhichit has
significant transactions The sensitivity analysis inciudes foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and
outstanding foreign currency denominated financial instruments

and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 25% change

n foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have
the effect of reducing profit by £12 rmullion (2014 reducing profit by

E15 mullion) of which losses of £13 miliion relate to non-cash movements
m the valuation of denivatives (2014 losses of £16 million) The same
strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of

£359 milicn (2014 adverse impact of £288 million)

A 25% weakering in pounds sterling against the US dellar would have
the effect of Increasing profit by £19 million (2014 ncreasing profit by
£25 million) of which gams of £21 million relate to nen-cash mavements in

mingating actions that would e taken by the Group THe changes in
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market vanables and
are not a predicton of future events or anticipated gans or losses.

Hedge accounting

The interest rate and foresgn exchange rate risk sections above outline the
Groups policies regarding use of denvative preducts Further detatl on
valuations and the impact of hedge accounting duning the year are provided
Innote 23

Credit sk

The Group 1s expased to counterparty default nskamounting to irvested
cash and cash equwvalents and short-term deposits and the positve fair
value of dervative financial assets held

Thus nsk 1s deemed to be low Counterparty rnsk forms a central part of the
Group s Treasury palicy which1s monitored and reported on regularly The
Group manages credit nsk by diversifying its exposures across a wide number
of counterparties such that the maximum exposure to any indmdual
counterparty was 6% of the total asset value of instruments at the end of
the year Treasury policies ensure that all derivative transactions are only
effected with strong relationship banks and at the date of signing each
camed a miimurn credit rating of Baa? or equivalent from Standard &
Poor's. To mitigate remaining nsks counterparty credit and sovereign ratings
are closely monitored and no more than 10% of cash deposits are heldwith a
single bank counterparty (with the exception of overnight deposits which are
vested in a spread of AAAF rated iquidity funds)

The amount recognised n the income statement in respect of credit nsk for
denvatives deemed held for trading 15 £1 million (2014 nul)

Credit risk inour resigdential customer base Is mitigated by biling and
collecting in advanice for digital telewision subscnptions for the majonty of
our residenual customer base The Group s maximum expasure to credit nsk
on trade recervables 1s the camying amounis as disdesed innote 19
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Liquidity nsk

Qur princapal source of hiquidity 1s cash generated from operations combined with access to a £1 bilhon RCF which expires in November 2020 At 30 June

2015 this facility was undrawn (30 June 2014 undrawn)

To ensure continuity of funding the Group s policy 1s to ensure that available funding matures over a period of years At 20 tune 2015 70% (2014 29%) of

the Group s total availlable funding (including avalable undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to mature in more than five years

Full details of the Groups borrowings and undrawn facilities are shown innote 22 other than trade and other payabies shown innote 20 and provisiens

shown in note 21

The following table analyses the Group s non-dervative financiat iabiities net settled denvative financial instruments and gross settled financial
Instruments Into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunity date The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet for
barrowings derivative financial iInstruments provisions and trade and other payables

Between Between

Less than cone and twoand  Morethan
12months  twoyears five years five years.
£m Em £m Em
At 30 June 2015
Non denvative financial habihties
Bonds - USD B26 137 1615 1920
Bonds - EUR 57 55 595 2948
Bonds - GBP 66 66 552 1309
Obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 25 26 29 128
Trade and other payables 2676 123 15 19
Provisions a1 15 3 16
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets [€1)] (24) (40) (9
Gross settled denvatives
OQutflow 2292 1046 33589 3851
Inflow (2433) (1130) (3665) 4 218)

1iod x8ajeis

SOUBUIBADD

Setween Between

Less than one and twoand Maorethan
i2months  twoyears five years five years
£m £m Em £m
AL 30 June 2014
Non dertvative financial iabilives
Bonds -USD 12 541 1002 847
Bonds - GBP a1 41 560 444
Obligations under finance leases and other borrowings n 12 7 139
Trade and other payables 1686 59 3 -
Provisions 35 8 2
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets (30) (24) (41) -
Gross settled denvatives
Outflow 1356 1129 1867 960
Inflow 1327) (112n {1865) (955)

Capital Risk Management

The Group s chjectives when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Group has the ability to access capital markets when necessary ang
to optimise lquidity and operating flexsbility through the arrangement of new debt while seeking to minimise the cost of capital The Group morutors
its iquidity requirements regularly and is satisfied that it has access to sufficient iquidity and operating flexibility to meet its capital requirements

The Group manages its short and long-term capital structure by seeking to maintain leverage ratios consistent with a long-term investment grade
credit rating (BBB- or better from Standard & Poor's and Baa3 or better from Moody s} The Group s current ratings are BBB (Standard & Poor s)

and Baa2 (Mocdy s) both with stable outlook The leverage ratios assessed by these rating agencies are those of Net Debt EBITDA and Gross Debt
EBITDA Net Debt 1s defined as total borrowings including the cash flows arsing under operating leases and transponder prepayments less cash and
cash equivalents excluding dervatives Gross Deiit does not reduce total borrowings by the inclusion of cash and cash equivalents

The Group is also required tomaintain a Net Debt EBITDA ratio below 4 00 1 and an EBITDA to Net interest Payable ratio at above 3 50 1under the
terms of its RCF The RCF definiuon of Net Debt does not require the inclusion of future operating lease or transponder cash flows

At 30 June 2015 the Net Debt EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCFwas 2 51(2014 § 71) and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio
was 1061(2014 1331
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25 Share capital

2015 2014

£m Em

Allotted called-up and fully paid shares of 50p 1719017 230 (2014 1562 885017) B60 781
2015 2004

Number of Numberof

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

Allotted and fully paid during the year

Beginning of year 1562885017 1593905182
Issue of own equity shares 156132,213 -
Shares repurchased and subsequently cancelled - (31020165)
End of year 1719017230 1562 885017

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry equal voting rights and no contractual nght to recerve payment On 25 July 2014 the Company
announced the placing of 156132 213 new ordmary shares representing approximately 9 99% of existing 1ssued share capital for total gross proceeds
of £1358 million £12 million of transaction costs were accounted for as a deduction from equity

Share optien and contingent share award schemes
The Company operates various equity-settled share option schemes (the Schemes ) for certain employees

The number of newly 1ssued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on any day shall not when aggregated with the number of newly 1ssued
shares which have been allocated in the previcus 10 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Company, exceed
such number as represents 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in 1ssue immediately prior to that day In determining this imit no account
shall ba taken of any newly 1ssued shares where the nght to acquire the newly 1ssued shares was refeased lapsed cancelled or otherwise becama
incapable of exercise Options and awards which will be satisfied by ESOP shares do not fall withun these headroom mits

The share awards outstanding can be summarnised as follows

2015 2004

I Number of Number of

ardinary ordinary

shares shares

Executive Share Option Scheme opticns® - 147020
Sharesave Scheme options®™ 8367072 7976524
Management LTIP awards™ 27108781 16 056 961
LTIP awards™ 8895963 5575000
Management Co-Investment LTIP awards® 2021348 2065719
Co-Investment LTIP awards®™? 1768738 2235172

48161.902 34056796

(1) Executive Share Option Scheme options
All Executive Share Option Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2014 have vested No options have been granted under the scheme singe 2004

Grants under the Executive Share Option Scheme were made on an annual basis to selected employees with the exercise price of aptions being equal

to the Company s share price on the date of grant For those options with performance conditions growth in EPS had te exceed growth in the Retail Prices
Index plus 3% per annum In order for awards to vest Options vested on an accelerated basis over a period of up to four years from the date of grant.

The contractual hfe of all Executive Share Option Scheme cptions was 10 years

(u) Sharesave Scheme options
All Sharesave Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 have no performance ¢riteria attached other than the requirement that

the employee remains in employment with the Group Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme must be exercised within six months of the relevant
award vesting date

The Sharesave Scheme 1 open to all employees in the UK and Ireland Options are normally exerctsable after esther three or five years from the date
of grant. The price at which options are offered 15 not less than 80% of the middle-market price on the deahng day immediately preceding the date

of Invitation It 1s the policy of the Group to make an invitation to employees to participate in the scheme following the announcement of the end
of year results

N8 Skyplc




Annual Report 2015

Finanaal statements

{m) Management LTIP awards
All Management LTIP awards cutstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under
the Management LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the LTIP with the same performance
conditions Awards exercised under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the issue of market-purchased shares

() LTIP awards
All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under the LTIP must be
exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Awards under the scheme are granted in the form of a rsl-pniced aption
The awards vest in full or 1n part dependent on the satisfaction of specified performance targets For awards made in 2008 and 2009 (te awards that
vested in 2011y 30% of the award vested dependent on TSR performance over a three year performance period relative to the constituents of the FTSE
100 at the time of grant and the remaining 70% vested dependent on performance against operational targets The TSR performance targets were not
applicable to awards made between July 2010 and March 2012 but have been re-introduced for awards granted from July 2012 onwards

(v} Management Co-Investment, LTIP awards
All Management Co-Investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted
under the Management Co-Investment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-Investment LTIP Awards under this scheme murror the Co-Investment LTIP
with the same performance conditions

(v1) Co-Investment LTIP awards
All Co-tnvestment LTIP awards ocutstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only If performance conditions are met Awards granted under the
Co-Investment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Employees whao participate in the plan are granted
a conditicnal award of shares based on the amount they have invested in the Company s shares The investment will be matched up to a maxtmum of
15 shares for every share invested subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below the Management LTIP LTIP Management Co-Investment LTIP and Co-Investment LTIP awards ( Senior Management
Schemes’) have been aggregated

The movement In share awards outstanding 1s summarised m the following table

Senior management

Executive Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average average

exercise exercse excrase exercise

pnce price pnece pnce

Number £ Number £ Number 3 Number £

Outstanding at 1 July 2013 931247 579 7159954 534 37253124 000 45344325 096
Granted during the year - - 302221 682 10068805 [aXs]s) 13091016 157
Exerased dunng the year (771806 595 (1217391 496 (20763738) 0G0 (22752935) 047
Forfeited dunng the year (1051&) 503 (961166) 589 (625,339) [afule] (1597021 358
Expired dunng the year (1905) 662 (26 684) 447 - - (28589 461
Qutstanding at 30 June 2014 147020 503 7976 924 590 25932862 000 34056796 140
Granted dunng the year - - 3338681 708 16874287 000 20212968 117
Exercised during the year (144,888) 503 (1796 333) 499 (1887798} 0aQ0 (3829019) 253
Forfeited during the year - - (11318743 637 (1124 511 000 (2256385) 315
Expired durnng the year (2133) 503 {20 326) 536 - - (22 458) 533
Qutstanding at 30 June 2015 - - 8367072 650 39724830 000 48161802 113

The weighted average market price of the Group s shares at the date of exerase for share options exercised during the year was £909 (2014 £8 42)
For those exercised under the Executive Scheme it was £8 90 (2014 £8B 48) for those exercised under the Sharesave Scheme it was £9 37 (2014 £8 82)
and for those exeraised under the Serior Management Schemes it was £8 84 (2014 £8 40)

The middle-market closing price of the Company s shares at 26 June 2015 was E10 66 (27 June 2014 £8 93)
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25 Share capital (continued)

The following table surmarises informat:on about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2015

Semor management

Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total

Weghted Weighted Weighted

average average average

T - remaining remaining remaining

contractual contractual contractual

tife Iife life

Range of exercise pnces Number ‘Years Number Years Number Years

£000-E100 - - 39794830 59 39794830 59

£400-£500 7827 01 - 7827 01

ES00-8600 1586 366 17 - 1586 356 17

E6 00 -E700 3643835 21 - 3643835 21

E700-EBOO 3129044 34 - 31259044 34

8,367,072 25 39794830 59 48161902 53

The following table summanses information abaut share awards outstanding at 30 June 2014
Senior management

Executive Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Tatal

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average average

remaining remaining remaining remaining

contractual contractual contractual contractual

Iifer life hfe Iife

Range of exerose pnces Number Years Number Years Number Years Number Years

ECOQ-£100 - - - - 25932852 60 25932852 60

£300-£400 - - 281383 o - - 28381 o

£400-E500 - - 339644 n - - 339644 11
£500~£600—— - - o —147020 01 3239353 20 3386 373 19—

£600-£700 - - 4369546 31 - - 4369546 31

147020 01 7,976 924 25 25932852 60 34056796 52

The range of exeraise prices of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 was between nil and £708 (2014 il and £6 82) For those outstanding under the
Sharesave Scheme it was between £4 33 and £708 (2014 £3 72 and £6 82) and for all awards outstanding under the Senior Management Schemes the

exercise price was nil (2014 rul}

The following table summarises additional Information abeut the awards exercisable at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2014

Average Average
remamng  Weighted remaining  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Options Ife of exercise Options kfe of exercise
exercisable exercisable prnice  exercsable exercisable pnce
at 30 June options £ at 30 June options £
Executive Scheme - - - 147020 o1 503
Sharesave Scheme 41293 01 494 78 668 o1 495
Sernor Management Schemes 27318 27 000 872229 35 000
3441 23 065 1097917 28 102

Informat:on for awards granted during the year

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year as estimated at the date of grant was £6 03 (2014 £553)

This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option pricing model except for awards which have market-based performance conditions where a
Mente-Carlo simulation model was used and for grants of nil-priced options which were treated as the award of a free share The fair value of mil-priced
options granted during the year was measured on the basis of the market-price of the Company s shares on the date of grant discounted for expected
dividends which would not be received over the vesting peried of the optitons.
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The Monte-Carlo simulation model reflected the historical volatilities of the Company’s share price and those of all other companies te which the
Company s performance would be compared, over a period equal to the vesting period of the awards
Expected volatility was determined Dy calculating the historical votatihty of the Company s share price over a period equal to the expected life of the
options Expected hfe was based on the contractual ife of the awards and adjusted based onmanagement s best estimate for the effects of exercise
restnictions and behawvioural considerations
(1) Sharesave Scheme
The weighted average farr value of equity-settled share awards granted during the year under the Sharesave Scheme as estimated at the date of grant
was £146 (2014 E189) This was calculated using the Black-Schoies share option pricing model
The following weighted average assumptions were used In calculating these fair values o
[=]
2015 2014 %
Share price £882 £870 2
Exerase price £708 £682 ®
Expected volatility 20% 22%
Expected life 4A0years 4 0vyears
Expected dvidends 35% 33%
Risk-free interest rate 15% 12%
() Semoer management Schemes
The weighted average far value of equity-settied share awards granted during the year under the Senior Management Schemes, as estimated at the date of
grant was £6 93 (2014 £662) The far value of awards with market-based performance conditions was calculated using a Monte-Carlo stmulation model
Awards granted as rul-priced options were treated as the award of a free share For all other awards fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes
share option pricing madet
The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these fairvalues
2015 2014
Share price £885 £828 .
Exercise price £000 £000 2
Expected.volatiity. 19% 19%_ 3—
Expected life 30 years 21years &—'
Expected dvidends I5% 33% B
Risk-free interest rate 14% 04% %
a
26 Shareholders’ equity
2015 2014
£Em £m
Share capital 860 781
Share premium 2704 1437
ESOPreserve (125) (145)
Hedging reserve 62 (20)
Avallable-for-sale reserve (O] 455
Other reserves 120 455
Retained earmings (455 (1891
3165 1072 "
B
Purchase of own equity shares for cancellation g'
During the prior year at the Companys AGM on 22 Novemnber 2013 the Company was granted authority to return £500 million of capital to shareholders a
via a share buy-back programme This authority was subject to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 25 July 3
2013 whereby following any market purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox Inc. would seil to the Company sufficient shares to maintan a
its percentage shareholding at the same level as applied prior to those market purchases The price payable to 21st Century Fox, Inc would be the price §
payable by the Company inrespect of the relevant market purchases (the 203 Share Buy-back Agreement ) §

At the Company s AGM on 1 November 2012 the Company was granted the authority to return £500 million of capital to shareholders via a share buy-back
programme This authority was subject to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox In¢ (and athers) dated 28 July 2012 on substantially
the same terms as the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement
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26 Shareholders’ equity (continued)

The follewng table provides information about purchases of equity shares by the company including purchases by the Group’s ESOP
during the fiscal year

Total Average

number of pnce paid

shares per share

- - - - - =—- - -——purchased' - - £

July - -
August - -
September 1325800 B8B6
October - -
November - -
December - -
January - -
February - -
March - -
Apnil - -
May - -
June - -
Total for the year ended 30 June 2015 1,325,800 8 86

1 All share purchases were apen market transactions and are included in the month of settlement

Share premium and special reserve
0On 10 December 2003 the High Court approved a reduction in the Company s share premium account of £1120 milhon as approved by the Company s
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 This amount was equal to the Company-only profit and less account reserve deficit at 30 June 2003
As part of the application the Company s balance sheet at 30 Septamber 2003 was required to be presented At that date the deficit on the Company-
only profit and Joss account reserve had reduced by £14 million since 30 tune 2003 to £1106 millon As a condition of the reduction the reduction in the
share prermum account of £1120 millon was permitted to be offset against the profit and loss account reserve by the amount of the deficit at
30 September 2003 The excess of £14 million was credrted to a special reserve whichis included in other reserves and under the terms of the reduction
e will remain undistributable until all the erecitors of the Comparty and 1ts guarantors {as at 10_December. 2003) are paict

ESOP reserve

The cost of the Company's ordinary shares held by the Group's ESCP is treated as a deduction in arriving at total shareholders equity The movement
1 the ESOP reserve was as follows

Number of Average
ardinary price paid
shares pershare Em
At 1 July 2013 20527423 £715 147
Share options exercised during the year (22752935) E727 (166)
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 19534 51 £8 40 164
At 30 June 2014 17,308,999 £8 40 145
Share options exercised duning the year (3829019) £839 (32)
Shares purchased by the ESOP during the year 1325800 £8 B6 12
At 30 June 2015 14 805 780 £8 44 125

Hedging reserve

Changes in the fair values of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are initially recegmsed in the hedging reserve, and subsequently
recognised in the income statement when the related hedged items are recognised in the income statement In addition deferred taxation relating
to these denvabives is also mitially recognised in the hedging reserve prior to transfer to the income statement

Available-for-sale reserve
Available-for-sale investments are carrted at far value where this can be reliably measured with movementsin the fair value recognised directly
i the avarable-for-sale reserve At 30 June 2015 the Group s avatlable-for-sale reserve was a defiat of £1 milon (2014 reserve of £455 mullion)

Otherreserves
The Group s other reserves include a capital redemption reserve a merger reserve, a foreign currency translation reserve and a special reserve The capital
redemption reserve was £190 milion as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £190 million) The merger reserve was £125 milhon as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £222 million}

The special reserve was £14 million as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £14 milhon) The foreign currency translation reserve was £(209) million as at 30 June 2015
(2014 £29 mulliom)
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Merger reserve
The merger reserve was created in accordance with the merger relief provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and section
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relating te the accounting for business combinations involving the Issue of shares at a premium Merger relef provided
refief from the requirement to create a share premium account in a parent company s balance sheet In preparing consalidated financial statements
the amount by which the fair value of the shares issued exceeded their nominal value was recorded within a merger reserve on consolidation rather than
n & share premium account This merger reserve was retained upon transttion to IFRS as allowed under UK law
The merger reserve which is included in other reserves was created as a result of the purchase by the Group of nterests m two entities StG was
purchased on 12 July 2000 where consideration was paid by the 1ssue of equity shares in the Company BiB was purchased between 28 June 2001 and
N November 2002 where consideration was paid by the 1ssue of equity shares in the Company Following the Groups disposal of a controlling stake n
Sky Bet, the merger reserve inrelatron to the purchase of SIG has been transferred to retamned earmings At 30 June 2015 the Group s merger reserve o
was £125 million (2014 £222 million) %
=
27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement %
Reconcihation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations
2015 2004
£m £m
Continuing operations
Profit before tax 1516 1025
Depreciatton impairment and losses (profits) on disposal of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amortisation imparrment and losses (profits) on disposal of intangible assets 469 228
Share-based payment expense 91 60
Net finance costs 275 N4
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investments 492y -
Profit on disposal of associate (299) -
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28) (35)
1829 1596
Decrease (increase) In trade and gther recevables 1 28)
Decrease in inventories 568 - T
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (367) 172 ]
Increasé (decrease) in provisions 65 (48) ?im
(Decrease) Increase in derivative financeal instruments 16) 4 E,
Cash generated frem operations 2080 1696 o
28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees &
@) Future mmimum expenditure contracted for but not recognised In the financial statements
Between Totalat Total at
Less than1 land5 After5 30 June 30 June
year years years 2015 2014
£m Em Em £m Em
Telewision programme rights 2936 8233 366 1535 4401
Set-top boxes and related equipment 305 - - 305 180
Third-party payments' 164 204 - 368 155
Transponder capacity? 146 683 334 1163 B19
Property plant and equipment 10 12 - 122 36
Intangble assets? 49 93 9 151 14
Smartcards® 55 187 30 272 178 =4
Other 509 546 144 1189 521 3
4,274 9,958 883 1515 6094 g
(1]
Foreign currency commitments are translated to pounds sterling at the rate prevalling on the balance sheet date 5
1 The third-party payment commitments are In respect of distribution agreements for the telewsion channels owned and broadcast by third parties retaled by the Group to retail éﬂ
and commercial subseribers ( Sky Distabuted Channels 3
2 Transponder capacity cammitments are in respect of the satellites that the Group uses for digital transmissions to both retail subscribers and cable operatars g
=]

3 Commitments inrelation to the provision of smartcards Smartcards under development are included within intangible assets The amounts included above are the expected

ongoing smartcard costs based on forecast customer levels
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28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees (continued)

b) Contingencies and guarantees

Certain subsidianes of the Company have agreed to provide additional funding to several of their investments in hmited and unlimited companies
and partnerships 1n accordance with funding agreements Payment of this additional funding would be required if requested by the investees in
accordance with the funding agreements The maximum potentiai amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsidiaries
of the Company to their nvestments in both imited and untimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding
agreements 1s £8 milhon (2014 £17 mitlion)

The Group has guarantees In place relating to the Groups borrowmg-s see note 22 For an overview of the angoing |F1vest|gat|-ons and reviews of
regulatory and competition matters involving the Group refer to the Regulatory matters section in the Strategic report

29 Operating lease commitments

The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable cperating leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 204

£m £m

Within one year 65 47
Between one and five years 155 n?
After five years 150 33
. 410 197

The majonity of operating leases relate to property The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegotiation at the varicus intervals
specafied in the leases

The minimum sub-lease rentals to be received under non-cancellable operating sub-leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

Within one year 2 1
2 1

Sub-lease rentals primarily relate to property leases

30 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with joint contral or sigrificant influence
During the year the Group conducted business transactions with comparues that form part of the 21st Century Fox Inc group a major shareholder in the
Company

Transactions with related parties and amounts cutstanding in relation to those transactions and with related parties at 30 June are as follows

2095 2014

Em £m

Supply of goods or services by the Group 45 82
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (275) 127)
Amounts owed to the Group 26 5
Amounts owed by the Group (180) (134)

At 30 June 2015 the Group had expenditure commitments of £330 mullion in relation to transactions with related parties (2014 £99 milion) which
principally related to minimum television programming rghts commitments

Goods and services supplied
During the year the Group supplied programming artime transmission and marketing services to 21st Century Fox Inc companies \
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Purchases of goods and services and certain other relationships
During the year the Group purchased programming and technicat and marketing services from 21st Century Fox In¢c companies
0On 25 July 2014 the Company announced the placing of 156132 213 new crdinary shares representing approximately 9 99% of exssting issued share capital
(see note 25) 215t Century Fox Inc subscribed for 61106 496 of these shares so as to maintan its existing percentage shareholding in the Company
following the placing
On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of Sky Itala S and 57 4% of Sky Deutschland AG from 21st Century Fox Inc For further details see note
31 In addition the Group repatd the loan that Sky Deutschfand AG had outstanding with 21st Century Fox Inc of £105 million In connection with this
Sky disposed of its 21% stake i the National Geographic channel to 21st Century Fox inc on the same date For further details seenote 8
On 12 June 2015 Sky increased its shareholding in Tour Racing Limited (Team Sky ) as a consequence of the transfer to Sky of a 25% shareholdmng From o
21st Century Fox Inc The shares were purchased for £25 being therr par value g
There i1s an agreement between 2ist Century Fox Inc and the Group pursuant to which it was agreed that for so long as 21st é
Century Fox Inc directly or indirectly halds an interest of 30% or more 1n the Group 2ist Century Fox Inc will not engage in the business 33)
of satellite broadcasting in the UK or Iretand
Share buy-back programme
During the prior year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled, 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fox Inc as part
of its share buy-back programme
b) Joint ventures and associates
Jransactions between the Company and its subsidianies wiich are related parties have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed
n this note Transactions between the Group and 1ts joint ventures and associates are disclosed below
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries joint ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company s separate financial statements
2015 24
£m Em
Supply of services by the Group 26 19
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (55) (66)
Amounts owed by Joint ventures and associates to the Group 89 B T
Amounts owed to joint ventures and assaciates by the Group (16) n B
=]
Services supplied are pnmarily the provision of transpender capaaty marketing, artime sates and support services Purchases represent fees payable %
for channel carnage g.
Amounts owed by jant veniures and associates indudes £70 million (2014 £1 milhon) relating to loan funding This loan bears interest at a rate of 8 20% %
(2014 one month LIBOR plus 1%) The maximum amount of loan funding outstanding m total from joing ventures and associates during the year was &
€70 mithan (2014 £1 rmilhon)
The Group took out & number of forward exchange contracts with counterparty banks during the year on behalf of the joint venture AETN UK
On the same dates as these forward contracts were entered into the Group entered into equal and opposite contracts with AETN UK inrespect
of these forward contracts
Consequently the Group was not exposed to any of the nét gains or losses on these forward contracts The face value of forward exchange contracts
with AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 June 2015 was £12 millien (2014 £4 midl:on)
Dunng the year US$2 mullon (2014 US$4 millior) was paid to the goint venture upon maturity of farward exchange contracts and US$nil (2014 less than
U531 mallion) was recaived from the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts
During theyear £1 milkon (2014 £3 million) was receved from the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and £3 millien
(2014 £5 milhon) was pard to the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts
i
Buring the year €3 million (2014 €5 mullion) was recewved from the jont venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts and €ntl (2014 less than E
€1 milhon) was patd to the jomnt venture pon matunty of forward exchange contracts §.
=X
At 30 June 2015 the Group had mintmum expenditure commitments of £1 million (2014 £3 milior) with its joint ventures and associates 3
=]
¢) Other transactions with related parties g
The Group has engaged in a number of transactions with comparnes of which some of the Company's Directors are also directors These do not meet &
the defirution of related-party transactions g

d) Key management
The Group has a related-party relationship with the Directors of the Company At 30 June 2015 there were 14 (2014 15) members of key
management all of whom were Directors of the Company Key management compensation 1s disctosed in note 86
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31 Acquisition of subsidianes

a) Sky Deutschland

©On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 89 05% of the 1ssued share capizal of Sky Deutschland AG obtaining control of Sky Deutschiand with
87 45% acquired through the offer process and the balance acquired subsequent to the close of the offer acceptance penod on 3 November 2014
Sky Deutschland operates a pay TV business in Germany and Austria Sky Deutschland was acquired to take advantage of growth opporturities,
benefits of scale and synergy potential

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and habilities assumed are set out 1n the table below

Recogrused
fair values
Em
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and habilities assumed
Intangible assets 1874
Property plant and eguipment 170
Deferred tax assets 609
Derwative financial assets 12
Inventones 344
Trade and other recevables 73
Cash and cash equivatents m
Trade and other payables (627)
Deferred tax liabilities (494)
Dervative financial iabilities (5
Provisions 3
Borrowings {(312)
1743
Non-controlling iInterest (sn
Goodwill 2848
4,400
Satisfied by
Cash 4323
Fair value of previously held interest: 77
Total consideration transferred 4 400
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase
Cash consideration 4323
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired any
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase 4212

The fair value of the financial assets acquired includes trade recevables with a fair value of £45 million and a gross contractual value of £108 million
The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not likely to be collected was £63 million

Goodwill of £2 848 million ansing from the acquisition reflects growth opportunities and buyer-specific synergies None of the goodwill recognised s
expected to be deductible for ncome tax purposes

The value of the non-controfling Interest in Sky Deutschland was estimated by calculating the non-conirofling interest s share of net Wdenufiable assets
at the acquisiion date At 30 June 2015 the Group held 9613% of the 1ssued share capitat of Sky Deutschland AG

From the close of the offer acceptance penod on 3 November 2014 and prier to obtaining control of Sky Deutschland the Group acquired a1 6% equity
nvestment with & carrying value of £72 millon The Group recogrised a gan of £5 milhon within profit en disposal of avallable-for-sale investments as a
result of measuring this investment to far value as at the date of the acquisition

Deferred tax assets and habilities which are shown separately above have been offset where appropriate on the balance sheet

Acquisiton-related costs for the purchase of both Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia (see below) comprised adwsory and transaction fees including inter
ala financial adwisory costs corporate legat advice due diligence reporting, assurance services and tax adwice of £50 milien within aperating expense,
and finance casts of £57 million incurred in connection with £6 6 billion of firm underwntten debt facilities and other associated transaction Costs

For the period between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015 the acquisition contnbuted £866 million to the Group s revenue and a £22 million loss
to the Group s operating profit If the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year 1t 15 estimated that the acquisition would
have contributed 1377 million to Group revenue and an £11 million loss to the Group s operating profit for the year
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b} Sky itaha
On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Sky Itaha Srl obtaining control of Sky Itaba Sky Itala operates a pay TV
business inltaly Skyltaha was acquired to take advantage of growth opportunities benefits of scale and synergy potentiat
The amounts recogrused in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and habilities assumed are set out in the table below
Recognised
fair values
Em
Recogrisad armounts of identifiable assets acquired and habilities assumed
Intangible assets 1780
Property plant and equipment 360 g
Deferred tax assets 71 o
Dervative financial assets 1 g
Inventories 600 o
Trade and other receivables 431
Current tax assets 13
Cash and cash equivalents 5
Trade and cther payables (1092)
Deferred taxliabilties 403
Current tax habilities (2)
Provisions (&)
1,714
Goodwll 752
2 466
Satisfied by
Cash 2056
Disposal of investmentin associate 40
Total consideration transferred 2466
Net cash outflow arising on purchase -
Cash consideration 2056 B
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (5)— 5.————
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase 205t Ty
1]
The fair value of the financral assets acquired includes trade receivables with a fair value of £305 million and a gross contractual value of £394 million 3
The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not likely to be collected was £89 milhon %
Goodwill of £752 million arising from the acquisition reflects growth opportunities and buyer-specific synergies None of the goodwill recognised s
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes
Deferred tax assets and habilities which are shown separately above have been offset where appropriate on the balance sheet
For the period between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015, the acquisition contnibuted £1 297 mullion to the Group s revenue and £25 million to the
Group s operating profit IF the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year it is estimated that the acquisition would have
contributed £2 086 milhon to Group revenue and £61 millon to the Group s operating profit for the year
wr
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32 Group investments

The Group and its subsidianes are mvolved in the operation of pay television broadcasting and home communicatsens services including the provision
of broadband and telephone operations Certain subsichary companies provide ancillary functions which support these operations Joint ventures and
associates are involved in the transmission of specialist channels and onfine betting actvities

Unless otherwise indicated all share holdings ewned directly or indirectly by the Group regiresent 100% of 1ssued share capital of the subsidiary
All entities primarily operatein their country of incorporatian

Descriptionand

Dascription and

Name propartion of shares held (%) Name proportion of shares held (%)
Sky Group Limited 1ordinary share of £1

Subsidianes Sky Healthcare Scheme 2 Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1each

Direct holdings of the Company Sky History Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Sky Holdings Limited 600 ordinary shares of £1each

Incorperated in the UK

Sky Home Communications Limited

S 528 124 ordinary shares of E1 each

British Sky Broadcasting Group
Limited

1ordinary share of £1

Sky tn-Home Service Limited

1576 000 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky International Limited

1ordinary share of £1

Picnic Lrmited

2138 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky International Operations Limited 2540 916167 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Finance Europe Limited

1 ordinary share of £1

Sky IP International Limited

300 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky Group Finance plc

50000 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky 1Q Limited

100 ordinary shares of E1each

Sky Guarantee Investments Limited

Membership interest (100%}

Sky LLU Assets Limited

90 crdinary shares of £1each

Sky Operational Finance Limited

31440638 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky Mobile Services Limited

1ordinary share of £1

Sky Television Limited

13 376982 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky New Meda Venture Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky UK Limited

10002 002 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky News Limited

1 ordinary share of £1

Incerporated in the Channel Islands

Sky Publications Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Retail Stores Limited

5001055 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Rainbow Finance (Jersey) Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1
1000000 preference shares
of EQ 01 each

Subsidiaries

Indirect holdings of the Company

Incorporated inthe UK

365 Media Group Limited

172 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Amstrad Limited

160 ordinary shares of £010 each

Sky SNA Limited

100 ordinary shares of £12ach

Sky SN} Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky SNIQperations Limited

200 ordinary shares of E1each

Sky Subscribers Services Limited'

5 erdinary shares of Eleach

Sky Telecommunications Limited

1000 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Tetecommunications Services
Limited

5821764 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky Ventures umited

912 crdinary shares of £1 each

The Cloud Networks Limited

30583988 ardinary shares of
EQ 00025 each

British Sky Broadcasiing Limited

iordnary share of £1

Tour Racing Limited?

85 ordinary shares of £1 each (85%)

Ciel Bleu 6 Limited

51850 ordinary shares of £001 each

Virtuous Systems Limited

125 ordinary shares of £1 each

Cymru International Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1each

Znak Jones Productions Limited

1ardinary share of £1

Dolphin TV Limited

200000 ordinary shares of E0 001 each

International Channel Pack
Distribution Lemited

1ordinary share of £1

Kidsprog Limiteg

2 ordinary shares of £l each

Love Productions Limited

7724 ordinary shares of £1 each {70%)

MEMSTV Limited

10 ordinary shares of £1each

Multicultural & Ethnic Media Sales
Lirmited

144 ordinary shares of E1each

Newserge Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1 each

NOW TV plc

1 ordinary share of £1

Parthenon 1Limited

1 ordinary share of E1

Incorporated in Germany

BSkyB GrmbH

2 ordinary shares of €25000 and €100

Premiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH

2 ordinary shares of €25000 each

SCAS Satellite CA Services GmbH

1ordinary share of €25 000 each

Sky Deutschiand AG

5831114 937 ordinary shares of €1 each
{96 13%)

Sky Deutschland Customer
Center GmbH

25 000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen
GmbH & Co KG

Partnership Interest (100%)

Parthenon 2 Limited

2 ordinary shares of E1each

Parthenon Entertainment Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1each

Parthenon Media Group Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1each

Ruwvals Digital Media Limited

200 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

S ATV Pubhshing Lrimited

100 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky Channel Limited

1ordinary share of £1

Sky Comedy Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky CP Limited

1 ordinary share of £1

Sky Europe Limited

1 ordinary share of £1

Sky Global Media plc

1 ordinary share of £1

Sky Deutschland Service Center
GmbH

1ordinary share of €25000

Sky Deutschland Verwaltungs GmbH

1 ardinary share of €25 000

Sky German Holdings GmbH?

26000 ardinary shares of €1 each

Sky Hotel Entertainment GmbH

S ordinary shares of €17500 €107700
€50 000 €88600 €6B000 €175700
€17500 €105 000 and €70 000

Sky Media Network GmbH

2 ordinary shares of €6 025 and €18 975

Sky Osterreich Fernsehen GmbH

1 ordinary share of €35000

The Cloud Networks Germany
GmbH?

2 ordinary shares of €875 000
and €25000
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Description and
propartion of shares held (%)

Name

Description and
proportion of shares held (%)

Incorporated in ltaly

Joint ventures and assoctates

Sky Italia 5r

Quota nterest {100%)

Sky Italian Holdings SpA

121000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Incorporated in the UK

Sky Italia Network Services Srl

Quota interest {100%)

AETN UK

50000 ordinary shares of £1 each (50%)

Telepiu Srl

Quota interest (100%)

Incorporated in the USA

Attheraces Holdings Limited?

1584 ordinary shares of £1 each
(48 35%)
20 recoupment shares of £0 01 each

BSkyB US Holdings Inc?

100 ordinary shares of $0 001 each

Bglt Pro Tem Limited

100 ardinary shares of £1 each (33 3%)

Callisto Media West LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Jupiter Entertainment Holdings LLC2 Membership interest (60%)

Jupiter Entertainment LLC?

Membership wierest (100%)

Jupiter Entertainment North LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Love American Journeys LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Love Baking LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Love Productions USA Inc?

1000 ordinary shares of $1each

Love Sewing LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

PhotoOps LLC?

Membership Interest (100%)

Colossus Praductions Limited®

2 000 crdinary shares of £0 01 each
(20%)

DTV Services Linuted?

65000 ordinary sharas af £1each (20%)

Internet Matters Limited?

Membership interest (25%}

Lovesport Productions Limited®

4599 ordinary shares of £1each
(49 99%)

Nickelodeon UK Limited®

104 ordinary B shares of £0 01each
(40%)

Qdeon and Sky Filmworks Limited?

2 450 ordinary B shares of £1each (50%)

Paramount UX Partnership®®

Partnership Interest {25%)

USA Love Development, LLC? Membership mterest (100%)
Wild West Alaska LLC? Membership interest (100%)
2TV LLC Membership interest (51%)

Incorporated in other overseas countries

Acetrax AG (Switzeriand)

12 281,326 ordinary shares of
CHF 001 each

Sky Channel SA (Belgium)

1250 ordinary shares of €49 60 each

Sky International AG (Switzerland)

200000 ordinary shares of CHF 100
each

Sky lreland Lirmited {ireland)

1ordinary share of €1

Sky Manufacturing Services Limited
{Hong Kong)

10 000 ordinary shares of HKD 100 each

Sky Osterrerch Verwaltung GmbH

1 ordinary share of €36 336

(Austria)
The Cloud Networks Denmark APS 125000 ordinary shares of DKK 100
{Denmark)? each

The Cloud Networks Nordics AB
(Sweden)?

640010 ordinary shares of SEK100
each

Venture 2009 Limitéd 50°6rdinary shares of E1each (50%)

incorporated in tne Channel isiands

Cyan Blue Topco Limited

200 556 grdinary A2 shares of £Q 01
each (20 06%)

200 contingent value shares of £0 01
each

Incorporated in the UAE

Sky News Arabia FZ-LLC

47816 666 ordinary shares of $1 each
(50%)

Incorporated in Australia

Australian News Channel Pty Limited 1 ordinary share of AUD$1 (33 3%)

o AW~

This entity has an accounting reference date of 1 January

These entities have an accounting reference date of 31 December

These entibes have an accounting reference date of 31 March

This entity has an accountng reference date of 31 May

These entities have an accounting refarence date of 30 September

Tha registered address of Paramount UK Partnership is 17-19 Hawley Crescent

Camden London NW1BTT The Paramount UK Partnershipis a jaint venture of the
Group and 15 included within the eonsalidated accounts in accordance with Note
KO Conseguently the Paramount UK Partnershwp has taken advantage of the
exemption within the Partnerships (Accounts) Regufations 2008 (regulation 73
from filing apnual finanwial statements

The following companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of
indrvidual accounts for the year/penod ended 30 June 2015 by virtue of section

4794 of the Comparues Act 2006 Kidsprog Limited (02767224} Parthenon Media Group
Limited (06944197} Prenic Limited (05348872) S ATV Publishing Limited (01085575)
Sky IP International Limited (O7245844) Sky Operational Finance Limited (02906994)
and Sky Television Limited (01518707)
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33 Events after the reporting period

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% rminority sharehaldings in Sky
Deutschiand The requisite shareholder resolution was subsequently approved by 99 4% of the votes cast at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Sky
Deutschland an 22 July 2015 and we expect the farmal transfer of the minerity sharehaldings to be effective m the second guarter of the 2015/16 financial

year
34 Sky plc company only financial statements

Company Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m Em
Revenue 229 225
Operating expense [€x] (44)
Operating profit 132 181
Divdend income from subsidiaries Q 510 622
Investment income B 3 64
Finance costs B {201) {81}
Profit before tax C 572 786
Taxation D (24) (38)
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 548 750
The accompanying notes are an ntegral part of this iIncome statement.,
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 2014
£Em £m
— — —Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 548 750
Other comprehensive income
Amounts recogrused directly in equity that may subsequently be recyeled to the income statement
Gan (loss) on cash Flow hedges 76 (79)
Tax on cash flow hedges 15y A )
60 4 (&
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement i A A [N
(Loss) gain on cash flow hedges m3 " 97
Tax on cash flow hedges 23 (vr]
(90} « « 75
Other comprehensive (Joss) income for the year {net of tax) (30) 14
Total comprehensive income for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders 518 764

All results relate to continuing cperations
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2015 2014
Nates £m £m
Nen-current assets
Investments in subsidianes E 9517 8146
Other recervables G &) 2
Dervative financial assets J L) 175
Deferred tax assets F 1 -
9882 8323
Current assets
Other recenvables G 7859 3008
Cash and cash equivalents - 1
Dervative financial assets J 55 -
7914 3009
Total assets 17796 11332
Current habilities
Other payables | 3479 3612
Derwvative financial iabilities J 55 -
3534 3613
Non-current habilities
Borrowings H 6723 1557
Denvative financial habikities J 74 156
Deferred tax habilities F - 4
5797 1717
Total habilities 10331 5,330
Share capital L 860 781
Share premium L 2704 1437
Reserves 3901 3784
_Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholders e I _ 7465 6 002_
Total habilities and shareholders equity 17796 11332

Group CheffFinancial Officer
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m £m
Cash flows frorn operating activities
Cash generated from operatians M T- -
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from financng activities
Proceeds from the exercise of share options 10 1
Loan te subsidiaries {an (10)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities Q) 1
Net (decrease) increase 1n cash and cash equivalents m 1
Cash and cash equwvalents at the beginning of the year 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the vear - 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this cash flow statement
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Capital Total
Share Share Special redemption Captal ESOP  Hedging Retained Sharehaolders
capstal  premium  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  [eserve  eamings equity
£Em £m Em £€m £m £m Em Em Em
At 1July 2014 797 1,437 14 174 844 147y (13) 3019 6125
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 750 750
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 18 - 18
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - (&) - 4)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - 14 750 764
Share-based payment - - - - - 2 - (S5) {93)
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation (16} - - 16 - - - (250} (250)
- Financial hability for close peried
purchases - - - - - - - (59 (59)
Dividends - - - - - - - (485) 485)
At 30 June 2004 781 1,437 14 190 844 (145) 1 2880 6,002
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 548 548
Recogrution and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 37 - 3N
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - 7 - 7
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (30) 548 518
Share-based payment - - - - - 20 - 69 89
Reversal of financial hability for close - - - - - - - 59 59
period purchases
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - - 1346
Dnidends - - - - - - - (549) (549)
At 30 June 2015 860 2,704 14 190 844 (125) (29) 3007 7,465

For a descnption of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve seenotel

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes In equity

A Accounting policies
Sky plc (the Company’) is a public imited company incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales

1) Basis of preparation

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with the accounting policses set out in note 1 of the
Group s consolidated financial statements

u) Revenue

Revenue which excludes value added tax represents the gross inflow of economic benefit from the Company s operating activities

Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received cr recewvable The Company s main source of revenue Is from licensing

the Company s brand name asset to subsidiaries This revenue I1s recognised on an accruals basis under the terms of relevant licensing agreements

11} Investment in subsidiaries

Aninvestment in a subsidiary 15 recognised at cost less any provision for impairment As permitted by section 133 of the Comparwes Act 2006
where the relief afforded under section 131 of the Companies Act 2006 apples cost 1s the aggregate of the nominal value of the relevant number
of the Company’s shares and the fair value of any other consideration given to acguire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

B Investment income and finance costs

2015 2014
£m £m
Investment income
Investment income from subsidianies 130 64
Interest on other ioans and recevables with related parties 1- - -=
131 64
2015 20i4
Em Em
Finance costs
- Interest payabte and similar charges
Facility retated cosfs (33) 2
Guaranteed Notes (see note H) (168) [¢:]9)]
(201) (82)
- Other finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related derwvatwve financial instruments (not quahfying for hedge accounting) 462 -
Foreign exchange loss arising on loan with subsidiaries {462) -
Loss arising on dervatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship (19) (14)
Gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item In a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 18 15
- 1
{201 (81)

Finance costs mclude E50 million incurred 1n connection wath £6 6 billion of firm underwntten debt faciities and other associated transaction costs
relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia These facilities including the previous RCF have been repaid or cancelled during the penod with
the exception of the £1 billion revolving credit facihiity (RCF) which remains undrawn

¢ Profit before taxation

Employee benefits
The Company had ni employees (2014 nil) dunng the year

Key management compensation
Amecunts paid to the Directors of the Company are disclosed in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 51to 69

D Taxation
1} Taxation recognised in the income statement

2015 2014
£m em
Current tax expense
Current year 22 37
Total current tax charge 22 37
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 2 [€)]
Total deferred tax charge (credit) 2 [U)
Taxation 24 36
1) Deferred tax recogmised directly in equity
2035 2014
Em Em
Deferred tax (credit) charge on hedging activities [€))] 4

i) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax expense for the year s lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax in the UK
(20 75%) applied to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax for the year was 20 75% (2014
22 5%) The differences are explained overleaf
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2015 2014
£m £m
Profit before tax 572 786
Profit before tax multiphed by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) ng 177
Effects of
Non-taxable ncome (106) (140)
Non-deductible expenditure . n -
Tax rate change - n
Taxation 24 36
All taxation relates to UK corporation tax
E Investments in subsidianes
£m
Cost
At 1 July 2013 9148
Additions 3
At 30 June 2014 9151
Additions 1371
At 30 June 2015 10522
Provision
At huly 2013 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015 (1005}
Carrying amounts
At 1 July 2013 8143
At 30 June 2014 B146
At 30 June 2015 9517
See note 32 for a list of the Company s investments
F Deferred tax
Recogrised deferred tax assets (hatuhities)
Financial
Instruments
temporary
differences
£m
At 1July 2013 O
Credit to iIncome 1
Charge to equity 4)
At 30 June 2014 4
Charge to Income 2y
Credit to equity 7

At 30 June 2015

1

At 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £244 milllon (2014 £244 million) has not been recognised in respect of capitallosses related tothe Groups
holding 1n KirchPayTV an the basis that utiisation of these temporary differences 15 not probable At 30 June 2015 the Company has also not recognised a
deferred tax asset of £1million (2014 £5 milion) relating to capital losses and prowisions inrespect of football club investments on the basis that it 1s not

probable that they will be utilised

G Other recewvables

2015 2014

£m £m

Amounts recervable from subsidiaries 785% 3008
Current other receivables 7,859 3008
Non-current prepayment 6 2
Total other receivables 7865 3010

On 1 Aprl 2015, the Company made a loan of €600 million to Sky Operaticnal Finance Limited This loan bears interest at 3 month EURIBOR plus G 75% and

Is repayable on demand

On 27 November 2014 the Company made a loan of €400 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited This loan bears interest at 2 750% and 1s repayable

ondemand
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

On 24 November 2014 the Company made loans of E200 millon £450 mellien €850 million and €126 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited These
loans bear interest at a rate of 4 000% LIBOR plus 12296% 1B875% and 2 940% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 16 September 2014 the Company made loans of €369 million and €582 million to Sky Operational Finance Limited These loans bear interest at 21867%
and EURIBOR plus 0 6563% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 15 September 2014 the Company made loans of €1 500 million and €1 000 millonto Sky Operational Finance Lmited Theseloans bear interest at
1500% and 2 500% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 26 November 2012 the Company 1ssued US$800 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3125% and loaned proceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Operatsonal Finance Limited pays the same annual effecuve interest rate te the Company

On 24 Navember 2008 the Company 1ssued US$600 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 500% and loaned the praceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Operational Finance Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 15 February 2008 the Company issued US$750 million Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 6 100% and loaned the proceeds to Sky UK Limited
Sky UK Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

All other amounts recewvable from subsidianes are non-tnterest bearing and are also repayabte on demand
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other recervables approximates their farr vatues

The Company s credrt risk 1s primarily attributable to 1ts other receivables The majority of its other receivables balance s due from Sky Operational
Finance Limited and Sky UK Limited The nsk of these entities defaulting an ameunts owed 15 censidered low due to Sky Operational Finance Limited bemng
a conduit to pass thraugh intercompany finanang and due to Sky UK lumited s successful operation of pay television broadcasting and home
communications services in the UK and Ireland

H Borrowings

2015 2014
£m £m
Neon-current borrowings

US$750 mithon of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayablen February 2018 474 442
US$582 8 miullion of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 372 353
US$750 milion 6f 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayablen September 2019 477 =
€800 million of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 425 -
£450 milion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 445 -
€1500 milhon of 1500% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in September 2021 1058 -
US$800 mithon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 504 466
€850 million of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 602 -
US$1250 mitlion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
£1000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 705 -
£300 millon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 296
E300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 2029 297 -
€400 mihan of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 281 -
6723 15587

At 30 June 2015 the Company had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
£m £m Em Fixed Floating
Us$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 |  682%% 6m LIBOR +1 892%
US$582 8 million of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% om LIBOR +5542%
£450 milhon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1 230%
US$800 milkon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3226% -
£300 milhon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6 000% -
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 200 - 4 000% -
2229 1,553 676
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Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value Fixed Floating
£€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 81 - 581 - 3mEURIBCR +0 656%
€600 million of Floating Rate Notes repayable in Aprii 2020 800 - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1 500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable (n September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% _ -
€850 million of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable n November 2023 850 850 - 1875% T
US$1250 million of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable 1n September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1 000 million of 2500% Guaranteed Notes repayable In September 2026 1000 1000 - 2500% -
£300 mithon of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 126 126 - 2943% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025 400 400 - 2750% -

6026 4845 1181

See note 24 for details of Capital Risk Management and note 22 for details of the Company s Guaranteed Notes in the prior year

| Other payables
2015 204
Em £m

Other payables

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3394 3535
Amounits owed to other refated parties - 23
Qther - 16
Accruals 85 18
3479 3613

Amounts payable to subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand The balance comprises £2164 milhon of non-interest bearing
loans (2014 £2164 million) and £1230 million of ather payatbles (2014 £1372 milhon) The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other payables

approximates their fair values

Jodas y8ae)ig
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J Derivatives and other financial Instruments

Farr values

Set out below 1s @ comparison of the carrying values and the estimated fair values of the Company s financial assets and financial labilities
at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2074

2015 2015 2014 2014
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
£m Em £m £m
Financial assets and llabilities held orissued to finance the Company s cperations
Quoted bond debt 6723 (65903} (1557 (1740)
Dervative financial instruments 284 284 15 19
Other payables and recewables 4380 4380 (605) (605)
The fasr values of financial assets and financizl labih bies are determined as detalled i note 23 and all stems hetd at far value are classified
as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy
Set out below are the derwative financial instruments entered into by the Company to manage its interest rate and foraign exchange sisk
2015 2014
Asset Liability Assat Liability
Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional Fair Value National Fair Value Notional
£m Em £m £m £m Em £m £m
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 48 939 - - 51 452 - -
Cross-currency swaps 19 466 - - - - - -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 88 1065 (12) 503 45 290 (35) 503
Derwvatives not in a format hedge relationstup
Interest rate swaps 14 336 (14) 596 Ell 574 (25) 314
Cross-currency swaps 244 2065 (103 1017 43 725 (94 1018
Total 413 4871 (129) 2116 175 2041 (156) 1835
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)
Note 23 provides further details of the Group s derivative and other financial instruments

The maturity of the derwative financial instruments 1s shown below

2015 2014

Asset Liabihity Asset Liability

- - Em - - - Em - - -Em ~- -Em

in one year or less 55 (55) - -
Between one and two years - - 33 (33
Between two and five years 21 (34) 122 ®7)
In more than five years 147 (40) 20 (563
Total 413 (129) 175 {156}

K Financial nsk management

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Cornpany manages (ts exposura to interest rates and fereign exchange movements which anse from the Cempany s sources of finance by selectively
entering into denvatve financial Instruments to manage its exposure The Company has also entered into derivative contracts on behalf of its
subsidiaries Sky Group Finance plc and Sky UK Limited and has back-to-back intercompany contracts

Foreign exchange risk
The followng analysis details the Company s sensitivity to movements In pounds sterling aganst all currencies in which it has significant transactions

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foresgn currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts therr translation at the period end
for a 25% change in foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening In pounds sterling against the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £13 million (2014 adverse impact of £16 million)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives The same strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of £33 millicn
(2014 adverse impact of £21 millior)

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have a beneficial impact on profit of £2F million (2014 benefical impact of £26 million)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervaties The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £65 miltion (2014
beneficial impact of £36 milior)

A 25% strengthemngﬁ pounds sterling against the euro would have a beneficial impact on profit by £17 million {2014 nil) relating to non-cash movements
n the valuations of derwatives

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the euro would have an adverse impact on profit of £28 million (2014 nil) relating to non-cash movements
n the valuation of derivatives

Interest rate risk
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derwvatives and non-denvative financial

instruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate habiities the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of hability cutstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year

For each ene bundred basss point rise or fall in nterest rates at 30 June 2015 and f all sther variables were held constant, the Company’s prafit for the
year ended 30 June 2015 would decrease or increase by £18 million (2014 decrease or increase by £3 mullion) and other equity reserves would decrease
or increase by £6 militon (2014 decrease orincrease by £1 milion)

A one hundred basis point nise or fall In interest rates represents a large but realistic movement which can easily be multiplied to give sensitimties
at different interest rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothet:cal only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicative of the
actual mpacts that would be experienced because the effect of a change In a particular market vanable on fair values or cash flows 1s calculated without
considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Company In addition the Companys
actual exposure to market rates changes as the Companys portfolio of debt changes

The changes i valuations are estimates of the impact of changes m market vanables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains
orlosses

Liguidity risk
See note 24 for the Company s policy on iquidity management

The following table analyses the Company s non-derivative financial habiities net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled currency swaps
and collars into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining peried at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the centractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the
balance sheet for borrowings dervative finanoial instruments and other payables
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Betwean Between
Less than one and twoand Morethan
12months  twovyears fiveyears fiveyears
£m £m £m £m
At 30 June 2015
Non-derivative financial habiinies
Bonds - UsSD 122 122 1572 1474
Baonds =GBP - . 43 43 129 1309
Bonds - EUR 57 55 595 2948
Other payables 3479 - - -
Net settled dernvatives
Financial assets (22) 20 (37) (€]
Gross settled dervatives
Qutflow 1058 141 1991 3147
Inflow (1083 {166) (2192) (3147
Between Between
Less than one and twoand Morethan
12months  two years fiveyears  five years
£m £m Em £m

At 30 June 2014
Non-dervative financial habilities
Bonds - USD 74 74 962 =yl
Bonds - GBP 18 18 54 444
Other payables 3613 - - -
MNet settled dervatives
Financial assets (15) (s> (38) -
Gross sattled derivatives
Outflow 63 62 930 560
Inflow (56) {56} (920} (521}

AL 30 June 2015 the Company had an undrawn £1000 million RCF with a maturity date of 30 November 2020 See note 22 for further information

L Notes tothe Company statement of changes in equity

For detalls of share capital share premium the special reserve the capital redemption reserve and the hedging reserve see notes 25 and 26

For details of dividends see note 11

Capital reserve

This reserve arose from the surplus on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsidiary undertaking

M Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2015 2014

Em £m

Profit before tax 572 786
Dwdend income (510) (622)

Net finance costs 70 17
Increase in other recevables (132) 81y

Cash generated from operations
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(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

N Contingent habsilities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have undertaken inthe normal course of business to provide support to several of the Group sinvestments
inboth himited and unlimited companies and partnerships to meet ther habilities as they fall due Several of these undertakings contain maximum
financial hmits These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the related entity

A payment under these undertakings would be required in the event of an mvestment being unable to pay its abilities

The Company has provided parent company guarantees In respect of the various contracts entered into with the Premier League by Sky UK Limited -
covering the 2013/14 to 2018/19 football seasons |n each ¢ase the guarantee covers all payment obhgations now or in the future due owing or incurred
by Sy UK Limited under the contracts and all labilities now or in the future ansing or incurred under the indemnity given to the Premier League by Sky
UK Limited under the contracts

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee In respect of the contract entered into with Sky UK Limited and Stanhope plcinrelation to
the construction of a new corporate headquarters at the Osterley Campus The guarantee covers all performance obligations and payment ebligations
imposed on Sky UK Limited under that contract

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee in favour of 21st Century Fox Inc of up to half of the annual payment obligations of Sky Deutschland
Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 201317 Bundesliga agreement It has also provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox Inc in
refation to UEFA Champrons League and other programming obligations of Sky [taha Srl

The Comparty has provided a parent company guarantee to SGH Stream Sub Inc in respect of the obligations of Sky Italian Holdings S p A under the
Sky Itaha Srl Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014 The Company has also prowided a parent campany guarantee to 21st Century Fox Adelade
Holdings BY in respect of the obhigations of Sky German Holdings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014

The Company has guarantees in place relating to the Group s borrowings see note 22 and in relation to audit exemptions see note 32

© Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

2015 2014

Em Em

Supply of services to subsidiaries 229 225

Interest received from funding to subsiciaries 130 64
Interest on other loans and receivables with related parties 1 -
Amounts.owed bysubsidares __ __ _ _ __ 7859 3008
Amounts owed to subsidiaries (3394 (3536)
Amounts owed to other related parties - (23)

The Company has related-party transact:ons with its subsidiares by virtue of Its status as parent company of the Group In particular itis normal
treasury practice for the Company to lend and borrow cash to and from 1ts subsidianes as required Under this pohey Sky UK Limited settled liabiities
of £130 million and €17 milhon (2014 £83 milhon and €nil) on behalf of the Company during the year Interest is earned on certain loans to subsicianes

The Company recagmised £229 million (2014 £225 mithon) for icensing the Sky brand name to subsidiaries The Company recognised dividends during
the year from subsidiaries totallng £510 milion (2014 £622 million)

Share buy-back programme

During the prior year the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fox In¢ as part
of 1ts share buy-back programme

The Group's related-party transactions are disclosed n note 30

P Events after the reporting pernod
For details see note 33 to the consohdated financial statements
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Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated results

Below 1s selected financ@l information for the Group under (FRS as at and for each of the five years ended 30 June

Finanoat statements.

459p———

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
20058 204 2013 2012 201
Consohdated Income Statement £m Em £m Em Em
Cantinuing cperations
Revenue' 99489 7450 7082 6678 6518
Operating expense? (90V7) (6 346) (5 835) (54469) (5467
Operating profit 972 1104 1,247 1209 1051
Share of results of jont ventures and associates 28 35 46 39 34
Investment income 8 26 28 18 9
Finance costs (283} {140) (108) (i1 oy
Profit on disposat of available-for-sale investment 492 - - - 9
Profit on disposal of associate 299 - - - -
Profit before tax 1516 1025 1,213 1155 992
Taxation (184) (205) (267 (274) (250)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 B20 946 881 742
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 620 45 33 25 68
Profit for the year 1,952 B65 979 206 810
Profit for the year attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865 879 506 810
Non-controlling interests (5) - _ _ _
Net (loss) profit recognrsed directly in equity (625) 73 129 64 (8)
Total comprehensive tncome for the year 1,327 938 1108 970 802
Earnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basic n58p 55 4p 607p 526p 465p
Diluced 114 41 54 9pn 597p 522p
Dividends per share (In pence) 328p 320p 300p 25 4p 233p
B 30 June 3CQ June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 201
Consolidated Balance Sheet £Em £m Em Em Em
Non-current assets 10799 3876 1776 3234 3025
Current assets 4559 2573 2569 2275 2329
Total assets 15358 65449 61345 5509 5354
Current labilities (4204) {2519) (2317 (2098) (1912)
Non-current liabilities (7930) (2858) (3016) (2 467) (2407)
Net assets 3224 1072 1012 944 1035
Number of shares in 1ssue (in millions) 1719 1563 1594 1674 1753
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Group financal record

(continued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated results

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 fune 30 June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 201
Statistics (000 (000) (000) {000) £ 000)
Products .
UK & Ireland 38036 34775 31634 28 365 25375
Germany 7133 - - - -
Italy 8614 - - - -
Total paid-for subscription products 53783 34775 31,634 28 365 25375
Customers
UK &lreland 12001 11495 1153 10606 10294
Gearmany 4280 - - - -
Italy 4725 - - - -
Retaill customers 21006 11495 1153 10 606 10294
LK & treland 4028 4041 3677 3672 3522
Germany 146 - - - -
Italy - - - - -
Wholesale customers 3 4174 4041 3677 3672 3522
Tetal customers 25180 15536 14,830 14 278 13,816
Churn
UK & Ireland 9 B% 10 9% W0W7% 10 2% 10 4%
Germany 86% - - - -
ltaly 86% - - - -

1 induded within revenue for the year ended 30 June 201415 a £15 million credit recerved following the termination of an escraw agreement with a cucrent wholesale operator
2__ Induded within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2015 are costs of £50 millionin relation to advisory and transaction fees ncurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland

and Sky ltalia costs of £105 millon relating to corperate restructuning and efficency programmes. costs of E10 milkonrelaung to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltahain
the enlarged Group and ¢costs of £231millon relaung to the amorusation of acquired ntangibles
Inchided withun operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2014 are costs of E43 miflion relating to the integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony
business costs of £40 million relating 1o a carporate restructunng and efficiency programme £2 million as a result af the termination of an escrow agreement with a current
wholesale operator and £23 million relating to the amortisation of acquired intangibles
Included within aperating expense for the year ended 30 June 201315 a credit of £32 milhon in relation & a ¢redit note received following an Ofcom determination a credit of
£33 nullion refating to the final settlement of disputes with a farmer manufacturer of set-top boxes (net of asseciated costs) costs of £31 millon relating to one-off upgrade of
set topboxes costs of £33 millon relating to acorperate efficency programme and costs of £15 midlion relating to the acquisition and integration of the G2 consumer breadband and
fixad-line telephony business Also ncluded are costs of £25 mullion relating to the progiamme Lo offer wireless connecters to selected Sky Movies custamers
In¢luded within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 20125 a eredit of E31mullion in relation to the Naews Corporation (subseqguently renamed 21st Century Fox, Inc } proposal
10 200 consisting of costs Incurred offset by the recespt of the break fee Alsaincluded are restructunng costs of E11 milhon which comprise severance payments in relation te
approximately 35 senior roles as part, of arestructuring InItiative to improve operating effiaency
Indluded within aperating expense for the year ended 30 June 20715 E26 mill:on of restructunng costs ansing on the acquisition of Living TV which compnise princpally redundancy
payments and the early termination of a pra-acquisition contract, £15 millon of costs i relation to the News Corporation fsubsequently renamed 2ist Century Fox, Inc) proposal and a credit
of £41 million in relation to the refund of Import duty on set-top boxes paid cut n prioryears This duty was re¢overed due to the judgment given bythe ECJ on 14 Apnl 201

31 Wholesale customers are customers who take a package from one of Sky s Wholesale Partners in which they recerve at least one paid for Sky channel
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Factors which matenally affect the comparability of the selected financial data

Discontinued eperations

During fiscal 2015 the Group sold a contralling stake in its onhine betting and gamung business Far further details see note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements

During fiscal 201 the Group sold its business-to-business telecommunications operation Easynet, to LOC

Avallable-for-sale investment
During fiscal 2015 the Group disposed of its remamning investment In 1TV For further details see note 5 to the consahdated finanaal statements

During fiscal 2011 the Group dispased of its equity mvestment mn Shine and recognised a prefit of £9 midllion

Business combinations and profit on disposal of assoclate

During fiscal 2015 the Group completed the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia For further details see note 31 to the consolidated financial
staternents As part of the consideration for the purchase of Sky Italia the Group disposed of its shareholding In the National Geographic channel For
further details see note & to the consohdated financial statements

During fiscal 2013 the Group completed the acquisition of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business from Telefonica UK compnising
100% of the share capitai of Be Un Limited The results of this acquisition were consolidated from the date on which control passed to the Group
(30 April 2013)

During fiscal 2011 the Group completed the acquisitions of Living TV and The Cloud The results of these acquisitions were consolidated from the date
on which controf passed to the Group (12 July 2010 and 23 February 2011 respectively)

Exchange rates

A significant portion of the Group s habilities and expenses associated with the cost of programming acquired from US film icensors together with
set-top box costs are denorminated in US dollars A significant portion of the Group s revenues and expenses associated with 1ts operations in Italy and
Germany & Austria are denominated In euros For a discussion of the impact of exchange rate movements on the Group s financial condition and results
of operations see note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
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Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental nformation

Consolidated Income Statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2015
Adjusted
Italy and
Excluding Germany &
Adjusting- —Adiusting --  --Austna — -~ - —-

Statutory Iltems itemns pre-acquisivon  Like for Like
Notes £m £m £m Em Em
Revenue
Subscription 83518 - B518 179 9697
Transactional 153 - 153 20 173
Wholesale and syndication 541 - 541 9 550
Advertising 649 - 649 67 76
Other 128 -~ 128 12 147
2589 - 9889 1254 1283
Operating expense
Programming A 4172) 10 “162) (728) (4886)
Direct network costs (840} - (840) - (840)
Sales general and administration B 4005 386 3619 (538) {4157)
(9017) 396 (8621 (1262) (9883)
[EBITDA 1738 163 1901 129 2030 |
Operatuing profit 972 356 1368 32 1400
Share of results of jJoint ventures and associates 28 - 28
Investment Income 8 - 8
Finance costs C (283) 75 (208)
Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investment D 492 492) -
Profit on disposal of associate_ E 299 (299) -
Profit before tax 1516 (320) 1196
Taxation F {184) 67) (251)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 (387) 945
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests 5 [€)} 2
Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the
parent cempany 1337 (350} 947
@nmgs per share (basic) 791p 231 56 OpJ

Notes explanation of adjusting items for the year ended 30 June 2015

A Costs of Ei0 million relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes

B Adwisory and transaction fees including nter alia financial advisory costs corporate legal advice due dligence reporting assurance services and tax advice of £50 million incurred
on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha costs of E95 million relating to corporate restructunng and efficency programmes {including amortisation af E2millionin
relation to asscoiated intangble assets) costs of £10 million relating to the ntegration of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia inthe enlarged Group and amortisation of acquired

intangible assets of £231 million

C  Finance costs of £57 millien incurred in connection with £6 § billion of firm underwnitten debt facilities and other associated transaction costs relating to the purchase of
Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia and costs of £18 million relating to the remeasurement of all derwvative financia! instruments not qualfying for hedge accounting and hedge

ineffectiveness

D Profit on the sale of shareholding in ITV and gain on equity interest in Sky Deutschland held pror te the acquisition

E  Profit on disposal of a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network International LLC and a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network Latin America LLC

F  Taxaffect of adjustng items
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2014
Adjusted
Ialy and
Exduding Germany &
Adjusting Adjusting Austria
Statutory ltems items fullyear Like fortike
Notes £m £Em £m Em £m
Revenue
Subscription 6278 - 6278 2994 9272
Transactional 86 - 86 56 142
Wholesale and syndicaton A 448 (15} 433 1] 524
Advertising 487 - 487 203 690
Other 151 - 151 3 148
7450 %) 7435 334 10776
Operating expense
Programming B (2657) 1 (2656) {2006} {4662)
Direct network costs C {845} 29 (815) - (816)
Sales general and administration M) (2844) 84 (2760) (1353) “4113)
(6 346) n4 (6 232) (3359) (9591
|EBITDA 1536 70 1606 242 1848 |
Operating profit 1104 99 1203 (18} 1185
Share of results of joint ventures and assocrates 35 - 35
Investment income 26 - 26
Finance costs E 40y 5 (135)
Profit before tax 1025 104 1129
Taxation F (205) (32) (237)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 820 72 892
| Earnings per share {basic) 525p 4 6p 571p |

Notes explanation of adjusting items for the year ended 30 June 2014

A Revenueof £15 milion relating to credit recewved following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator
8 Costsof E' milion relating to a corporate restructuning and efficiency programme

C  Costs of £29 milhon relating to the integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed line telephony business

o]

Cost of £20 million relating to the acquisibon and integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-hine telephany business (inctuding amortisation of E4 millien n relation to
assoclated intangible assets). costs of £33 milion inrelation to a corporate restructunng and efficiency programme (including impasrments of £2 million in relation to assooated
intang ble and tangible assets) costs of £23 million in relation to amortisation of acquired intangible assets and cost of E2 million relating to an expense as a result of the

termnation of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator
E  Remeasurement of all dervative financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness
F  Taxadjusting tems and the tax effect of above items
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Non-GAAP measures

{continued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Reconciliation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2004
Mote £m Em
Cash generated from continuing operations 27 2080 1,696
Interest received and dividends from availlable-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxatonpad ) - -7 o o7 - T T T ey T (229)
Dmdends receved from joint ventures and assoclates " 25 32
Net funding to joint ventures and asseciates ()] {6)
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (238)
Purchase of Intangtble assets (357) (302)
Interest paid (246) (137
Free cash flow 897 843
Cash pand relating to advisory and transaction fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky ltalia 10 -
Cash paid relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programme 34 12
Cash paid relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky itahain the enlarged Group 8 -
Cash paid under provisions recogmised in prior penods 5 27
Cash paid relating to the integration of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-lne telephony business 3 22
Payment (recaspt) following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator 3 as
Adjusted free cash flow 1060 885

Where approprate amounts above are shown net of applicable corporation tax
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Shareholder information

Annual General Meeting

Thevenue and timing of the Company 5 2015 AGM 15 detailed in the notice
convening the AGM which will be available for download from the
Company s corporate website at sky com/corporate

Finanaal calendar
Results for the financial year ending 30 June 2016 will be published in

October 2015
January 2016*
April 2016*
July 2016*

Prowvisional dates

The Sky website

Sharehclders are encouraged to visit the Sky website sky com which has
awealth of nformation about the Company There is a section designed
specifically for investors at sky com/corporate where investor and media
information can be accessed This year s Annual Report and Notice of
AGM together with prior year documents can be viewed there along with
nfarmation on dmidends share price and avording sharehalder fraud

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications
The Company s shareholder register 1s mamntained by its Registrar

Equiniti Information on how to manage your shareholdings can be found
at help shareview co uk

Shareholders can contact Equiniti m relation to all administrative
enquines relating to thew shares such as achange of personal details

Dividend tax vouchers

A consolidated tax voucher service 1s avallable for shareholders who have
chosen to recewe dividends directly into their bank account. A single
consoldated tax voucher will be marled by the end of November each
year to cancide with the final dividend payment

Dividend Reinvestment Plan -- .

The Company cperates a Divdend Reinvestment Plan ( DRIP Y which
enables shareholders to buy the Cormpany's shares on the London stock
market with their cash dwidend Further information about the DRIPis
available from Equiniti

ShareGift

Sharehalders who only have a small number of shares whose value makes
It uneconomic to sell them may wish to consider donating them to charity
through ShareGift the iIndependent charity share donation scheme
(registered charity no 1052686) Further information may be obtamned
from ShareGift on Q20 7930 3737 or at sharegift org

Shareholder fraud

Fraud 1s on the increase and many shareholders are targeted every year
If you have any reason to beheve that you may have been thetarget of a
fraud or attempted fraud in relation to your shareholding, please contact
Equiniti immediately

American Depositary Receipts (ADR’)

The Company s ADR programme trades on the over-the-counter (OTC)
market in the US More information can be obtained from the Company s
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the loss of a share certificate out-of-date dvidend cheques change
of dividend payment methods and how to apply for the Dividend
Reinvestment Plan

Shareholders who have not yet elected to receive shareholder
documentation In electromc form can sign up by registering at
shareview co uk Should Shareholders who have elected for electronic
communications require a paper copy of any of the Company s
shareholder documentation or wish to change therr instructions
they should contact Equinity

Shareholder Contact Centre

Equeruty Limited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex

BNS9 6DA

Telephone 0871384 2091

Telephone number from outside the UK +44 121415 7567

* Lines are open Monday to Friday 8 30am to 5 30pm excluding UK Bank Hohdays
Calls to our 0871 numbers cost Bp per minute plus network extras

corporate website at sky com/corporate
Allenguinies relating to the Company s ADRs should be addressed to

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

PO Box 30170

College Station TX 77842-3170

US residents (888)269 2377

If resident outside the US +1 201 680 6825
email shrrelations@cpushareownerservices com

Company's registered office

Grant Way

Isteworth

Middlesex

TW75Q0

Telephone 0333 100 0333
Overseas +44 333100 0333

Company registration number
2247735

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A3BZ
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Accessibility

If you would ke advice regarding accessibility
of this document please contact the Accessible
Customer Service team on +44 (0) 344 2410333

To find out more about Sky go to sky com/corporate

For more about how were making awider contnbution
go to skycom/biggerpicture
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